#### RAFAŁ FILIPÓW, KRZYSZTOF KOWITZ, AND ADAM KWELA

ABSTRACT. For many years, there have been conducting research (e.g. by Bergelson, Furstenberg, Kojman, Kubiś, Shelah, Szeptycki, Weiss) into sequentially compact spaces that are, in a sense, topological counterparts of some combinatorial theorems, for instance Ramsey's theorem for coloring graphs, Hindman's finite sums theorem and van der Waerden's arithmetical progressions theorem. These spaces are defined with the aid of different kinds of convergences: IP-convergence, R-convergence and ordinary convergence.

The first aim of this paper is to present a unified approach to these various types of convergences and spaces. Then, using this unified approach, we prove some general theorems about existence of the considered spaces and show that all results obtained so far in this subject can be derived from our theorems.

The second aim of this paper is to obtain new results about the specific types of these spaces. For instance, we construct a Hausdorff Hindman space that is not an  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$ -space and a Hausdorff differentially compact space that is not Hindman. Moreover, we compare Ramsey spaces with other types of spaces. For instance, we construct a Ramsey space that is not Hindman and a Hindman space that is not Ramsey.

The last aim of this paper is to provide a characterization that shows when there exists a space of one considered type that is not of the other kind. This characterization is expressed in purely combinatorial manner with the aid of the so-called Katětov order that has been extensively examined for many years so far.

This paper may interest the general audience of mathematicians as the results we obtain are on the intersection of topology, combinatorics, set theory and number theory.

#### CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Preliminaries	3
Part	1. Partition regular operations	4
3.	Partition regular operations and ideals associated with them	4
4.	Restrictions and small accretions	7
5.	Topological complexity of partition regular operations	8
6.	P-like properties	10
7.	Katětov order	14
8.	Tallness and homogeneity	18
Part	2. FinBW spaces	19
9.	A convergence with respect to partition regular functions	19

Date: August 18, 2023.

2020 Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary: 54A20 05D10, 03E75. Secondary: 03E02, 54D30, 54H05, 26A03, 40A35, 40A05, 03E17, 03E15, 03E05, 03E35.

Key words and phrases. Ramsey's theorem, Hindman's theorem, van der Waerden's theorem, sequentially compact space, compact space, Bolzano–Weierstrass theorem, Ramsey space, Hindman space, differentially compact space, ideal, filter, almost disjoint families, Katětov order.

R. FILIPÓW, K. KOWITZ, AND A. KWELA

10.	FinBW spaces	20
11.	Inclusions between FinBW classes	25
Part 3	B. Distinguishing between FinBW classes	27
12.	Mrówka spaces and their compactifications	27
13.	Mrówka for maximal almost disjoint families	29
14.	Distinguishing between FinBW classes via Katětov order on ideals	31
15.	Distinguishing between FinBW classes via Katětov order on partition	
	regular functions	35
Part 4	I. Characterizations	38
16.	Characterizations of distinguishness between FinBW classes via	
	Katětov order	38
17.	Non-Hausdorff world	41
18.	Hindman (Ramsey, differentially compact) spaces that are not in	
	$\operatorname{FinBW}(\mathcal{I})$ and vice versa	44
Refe	erences	45

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

For more than twenty years, many mathematicians have been examining sequentially compact spaces that are, in a sense, topological counterparts of some combinatorial theorems, for instance Ramsey's theorem for coloring graphs, Hindman's finite sums theorem and van der Waerden's arithmetical progressions theorem [5, 6, 18, 19, 20, 22, 24, 25, 26, 29, 33, 34, 50, 55, 56, 57, 58, 59, 60, 61, 71]. These spaces are defined with the aid of different kinds of convergences: IP-convergence, R-convergence and ordinary convergence.

We start our brief overview of these spaces with the ones defined using ordinary convergence. A topological space X is called:

- van der Waerden [56] if for every sequence  $\langle x_n \rangle_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  in X there exists a convergent subsequence  $\langle x_n \rangle_{n \in A}$  with A being an AP-set (i.e. A contains arithmetic progressions of arbitrary finite length);
- an  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$ -space [29] if for every sequence  $\langle x_n \rangle_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  in X there exists a convergent subsequence  $\langle x_n \rangle_{n \in A}$  with A having the property that the series of reciprocals of elements of A diverges.

In fact both mentioned classes of spaces are special cases of a more general notion. A nonempty family  $\mathcal{I} \subseteq \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{N})$  of subsets of  $\mathbb{N}$  is an *ideal on*  $\mathbb{N}$  if it is closed under taking subsets and finite unions of its elements,  $\mathbb{N} \notin \mathcal{I}$  and  $\mathcal{I}$  contains all finite subsets of  $\mathbb{N}$  (it is easy to see that the family  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n} = \{A \subseteq \mathbb{N} : \sum_{n \in A} 1/n < \infty\}$  is an ideal on  $\mathbb{N}$ , and it follows from van der Waerden's theorem [73] that the family  $\mathcal{W} = \{A \subseteq \mathbb{N} : A \text{ is not an } AP\text{-set}\}$  is an ideal on  $\mathbb{N}$ ). If  $\mathcal{I}$  is an ideal on  $\mathbb{N}$  then a topological space X is called an  $\mathcal{I}\text{-space}$  [29] if for every sequence  $\langle x_n \rangle_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  in Xthere exists a converging subsequence  $\langle x_n \rangle_{n \in A}$  with  $A \notin \mathcal{I}$ . In particular, van der Waerden spaces coincide with  $\mathcal{W}\text{-spaces}$ .

Now we want to turn our attention to spaces defined with the aid of different kinds of convergence. We start with Hindman spaces. A set  $A \subseteq \mathbb{N}$  is an *IP-set* [34] if there exists an infinite set  $D \subseteq \mathbb{N}$  such that  $FS(D) \subseteq A$  where FS(D) denotes the set of all finite sums of distinct elements of D. The family  $\mathcal{H} = \{A \subseteq \mathbb{N} :$ A is not an IP-set $\}$  is an ideal on  $\mathbb{N}$  (it follows from Hindman's theorem [42]).

An *IP-sequence* in X is a sequence indexed by FS(D) for some infinite  $D \subseteq \mathbb{N}$ . An *IP-sequence*  $\langle x_n \rangle_{n \in FS(D)}$  in a topological space X is *IP-convergent* [34] to a

 $\mathbf{2}$ 

point  $x \in X$  if for every neighborhood U of x there exists  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  so that  $x_n \in U$  for every  $n \in FS(D \setminus \{0, 1, ..., m\})$  (then x is called the *IP-limit* of the sequence).

Since only finite spaces are  $\mathcal{H}$ -spaces [55], Kojman replaced the ordinary convergence with IP-convergence (introduced by Furstenberg and Weiss [34]) to define a meaningful topological counterpart of Hindman's finite sums theorem. Namely, a topological space X is called *Hindman* [55] if for every sequence  $\langle x_n \rangle_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  in X there exists an infinite set  $D \subseteq \mathbb{N}$  such that the subsequence  $\langle x_n \rangle_{n \in \mathrm{FS}(D)}$  IP-converges to some  $x \in X$ .

We finish our brief overview of classes of sequentially compact spaces with Ramsey spaces. Let  $[A]^2$  denote the set of all pairs of elements of A. A sequence  $\langle x_n \rangle_{n \in [D]^2}$  in X (indexed by pairs of natural numbers from some infinite set  $D \subseteq \mathbb{N}$ ) *R*-converges [6, 5] to a point  $x \in X$  if for every neighborhood U of x there is a finite set F such that  $x_{\{a,b\}} \in U$  for all distinct  $a, b \in D \setminus F$ . A topological space X is called *Ramsey* [59] if for every sequence  $\langle x_n \rangle_{n \in [\mathbb{N}]^2}$  in X there exists an infinite set  $D \subseteq \mathbb{N}$  such that the subsequence  $\langle x_n \rangle_{n \in [D]^2}$  R-converges to some  $x \in X$ .

We say that an ideal  $\mathcal{I}$  (on  $\mathbb{N}$ ) is below an ideal  $\mathcal{J}$  in the *Katětov order* [53] if there is a function  $f: \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{N}$  such that  $f^{-1}[A] \in \mathcal{J}$  for every  $A \in \mathcal{I}$ . Note that Katětov order has been extensively examined (even in its own right) for many years so far [2, 3, 8, 12, 10, 39, 40, 43, 44, 46, 47, 48, 65, 66, 68, 70, 76].

There are three objectives of this paper. The first aim is to present a unified approach to these various types of convergences and spaces. This is achieved in sections in Part 1 with the aid of partition regular functions (Definition 3.1), a convergence with respect to partition regular functions (Definition 9.1) and a subclass of sequentially compact spaces defined using this new kind of convergence (see Definition 10.1). Then using this approach, we prove some general theorems about those classes of spaces (Theorem 10.5) and show that all results obtained so far in this subject can be derived from our theorems (see sections in Parts 2 and 3).

The second aim of this paper is to obtain new results concerning specific types of these spaces: Ramsey spaces, Hindman spaces, van der Waerden spaces and  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$ -spaces. For instance, we construct a Hausdorff Hindman space that is not an  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$ -space (Corollary 14.10(2)) – this gives a positive answer to a question posed by Flašková [27] (so far only non-Hausdorff answer to this question was known [22, Theorem 2.5]). We also construct a Hausdorff so-called differentially compact space that is not Hindman (Corollary 14.9(3)) which yields the negative answer to a question posed by Shi [71, Question 4.2.2] and other authors [20, Problem 1],[58, Question 3]. Moreover, we compare Ramsey spaces with other types of spaces (so far Ramsey spaces were only examined in their own right without comparing them with other kinds of spaces [6, 59, 11]). For instance, we construct a Ramsey space that is not Hindman and a Hindman space that is not Ramsey (Corollary 14.9).

The final aim of this paper is to provide a characterization that shows when there exists a space of one considered type that is not of the other type (Theorem 16.1 and other results in Part 4). This characterization is expressed in purely combinatorial manner with the aid of the Katětov order or its counterpart in the realm of partition regular functions (Definition 7.3).

### 2. Preliminaries

In the paper we are exclusively interested in Hausdorff topological spaces with one exception (Sections 17 and 18) where we were unable to obtain results for Hausdorff spaces but succeeded in constructing a topological space with unique limits of sequences.

Following von Neumann, we identify an ordinal number  $\alpha$  with the set of all ordinal numbers less than  $\alpha$ . In particular, the smallest infinite ordinal number

 $\omega = \{0, 1, ...\}$  is equal to the set  $\mathbb{N}$  of all natural numbers, and each natural number  $n = \{0, ..., n-1\}$  is equal to the set of all natural numbers less than n. Using this identification, we can for instance write  $n \in k$  instead of n < k and  $n < \omega$  instead of  $n \in \omega$  or  $A \cap n$  instead of  $A \cap \{0, 1, ..., n-1\}$ .

If  $A \subseteq \omega$  and  $n \in \omega$ , we write  $A + n = \{a + n : a \in A\}$  and  $A - n = \{a - n : a \in A, a > n\}$ .

We write  $[A]^2$  to denote the set of all unordered pairs of elements of A,  $[A]^{<\omega}$  to denote the family of all finite subsets of A,  $[A]^{\omega}$  to denote the family of all infinite countable subsets of A and  $\mathcal{P}(A)$  to denote the family of all subsets of A.

We say that a family  $\mathcal{A}$  of subsets of a set  $\Lambda$  is an *almost disjoint family on*  $\Lambda$  if

(1)  $|A| = |\Lambda|$  for every  $A \in \mathcal{A}$  and

(2)  $|A \cap B| < |\Lambda|$  for all distinct elements  $A, B \in \mathcal{A}$ .

By  $A \sqcup B$  we denote the *disjoint union* of sets A and B:

 $A \sqcup B = (A \times \{0\}) \cup (B \times \{1\}) = \{(x, 0) : x \in A\} \cup \{(y, 1) : y \in B\}.$ 

For families of sets  $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{P}(\Lambda)$  and  $\mathcal{B} \subseteq \mathcal{P}(\Sigma)$ , we write  $\mathcal{A} \oplus \mathcal{B} = \{A \sqcup B : A \in \mathcal{A}, B \in \mathcal{B}\}.$ 

A nonempty family  $\mathcal{I} \subseteq \mathcal{P}(\Lambda)$  of subsets of  $\Lambda$  is an *ideal on*  $\Lambda$  if it is closed under taking subsets and finite unions of its elements,  $\Lambda \notin \mathcal{I}$  and  $\mathcal{I}$  contains all finite subsets of  $\Lambda$ . By Fin( $\Lambda$ ) we denote the family of all finite subsets of  $\Lambda$ . For  $\Lambda = \omega$ , we write Fin instead of Fin( $\omega$ ). For an ideal  $\mathcal{I}$  on  $\Lambda$ , we write  $\mathcal{I}^+ = \{A \subseteq \Lambda : A \notin \mathcal{I}\}$ and call it the *coideal of*  $\mathcal{I}$ , and we write  $\mathcal{I}^* = \{\Lambda \setminus A : A \in \mathcal{I}\}$  and call it the *filter dual to*  $\mathcal{I}$ . For an ideal  $\mathcal{I}$  on  $\Lambda$  and  $A \in \mathcal{I}^+$ , it is easy to see that  $\mathcal{I} \upharpoonright A = \{A \cap B : B \in \mathcal{I}\}$  is an ideal on A.

In our research the following ideal on  $\omega^2$  plays an important role:

 $\operatorname{Fin}^{2} = \left\{ C \subseteq \omega^{2} : \left\{ n \in \omega : \left\{ k \in \omega : (n,k) \in C \right\} \notin \operatorname{Fin} \right\} \in \operatorname{Fin} \right\}.$ 

We say that a function  $f : \Lambda \to \Sigma$  is  $\mathcal{I}$ -to-one if  $f^{-1}(\sigma) \in \mathcal{I}$  for every  $\sigma \in \Sigma$ .

A set  $A \subseteq X$  is  $F_{\sigma}$  ( $G_{\delta}$ ,  $F_{\sigma\delta}$ , etc., resp.) in a topological space X if A is a union of a countable family of closed sets (A is an intersection of a countable family of open sets, A is an intersection of a countable family of  $F_{\sigma}$  sets, etc., resp.).

For a function  $f : X \to Y$  and a set  $A \subseteq X$ , we write  $f \upharpoonright A$  to denote the restriction of f to the set A.

#### Part 1. Partition regular operations

3. Partition regular operations and ideals associated with them

Below we introduce a notion that proved to be a convenient tool allowing to grasp the common feature of different kinds of convergences related to Hindman, Ramsey and van der Waerden spaces.

**Definition 3.1.** Let  $\Lambda$  and  $\Omega$  be countable infinite sets. Let  $\mathcal{F}$  be a nonempty family of infinite subsets of  $\Omega$  such that  $F \setminus K \in \mathcal{F}$  for every  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  and a finite set  $K \subseteq \Omega$ . We say that a function  $\rho : \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  is partition regular if

(M):  $\forall E, F \in \mathcal{F} \ (E \subseteq F \implies \rho(E) \subseteq \rho(F)),$ 

(**R**):  $\forall F \in \mathcal{F} \forall A, B \subseteq \Lambda \ (\rho(F) = A \cup B \implies \exists E \in \mathcal{F} \ (\rho(E) \subseteq A \lor \rho(E) \subseteq B))$ . (**S**):  $\forall F \in \mathcal{F} \exists E \in \mathcal{F} \ (E \subseteq F \land \forall a \in \rho(E) \exists K \in [\Omega]^{<\omega} (a \notin \rho(E \setminus K)))$ .

In our considerations, we use the following easy observation concerning condition (S) of Definition 3.1.

**Proposition 3.2.** Let  $\rho : \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  (with  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq [\Omega]^{\omega}$ ) be a partition regular function. Then for every  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  there is  $E \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $E \subseteq F$  and for every finite set  $L \subseteq \Lambda$  there exists a finite set  $K \subseteq \Omega$  such that  $\rho(E \setminus K) \subseteq \rho(E) \setminus L$ . *Proof.* For  $F \in \mathcal{F}$ , let  $E \in \mathcal{F}$  be as in condition (S) of Definition 3.1. Let  $L \subseteq \Lambda$  be a finite set. For every  $a \in \rho(E)$ , we take a finite set  $K_a$  such that  $a \notin \rho(E \setminus K_a)$ . Then  $K = \bigcup \{K_a : a \in \rho(E) \cap L\}$  is finite and  $\rho(E \setminus K) \subseteq \rho(E) \setminus L$ .  $\Box$ 

The following easy proposition reveals basic relationships between partition regular functions and ideals.

# Proposition 3.3.

(1) If  $\rho : \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  is partition regular, then

$$\mathcal{I}_{\rho} = \{ A \subseteq \Lambda : \forall F \in \mathcal{F} \left( \rho(F) \not\subseteq A \right) \}.$$

is an ideal on  $\Lambda$ .

(2) If  $\mathcal{I}$  is an ideal on  $\Lambda$ , then the function

$$\rho_{\mathcal{I}}: \mathcal{I}^+ \to [\Lambda]^{\omega} \quad given \ by \quad \rho_{\mathcal{I}}(A) = A$$

is partition regular and  $\mathcal{I} = \mathcal{I}_{\rho\tau}$ .

*Remark.* If  $\rho$  is partition regular and  $\tau = \rho_{\mathcal{I}_{\rho}}$ , then  $\mathcal{I}_{\tau} = \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  but, as we will see, in general,  $\rho \neq \tau$ . More important,  $\tau$  may miss some crucial properties which  $\rho$ possesses (e.g. *P*-like properties – see Proposition 6.5(3)(4)).

Below we present the most important examples of partition regular functions that were our prototypes while we were thinking on a unified approach to Hindman, Ramsey and van der Waerden spaces.

3.1. Hindman's finite sums theorem. Let the function FS :  $[\omega]^{\omega} \to [\omega]^{\omega}$  be given by

$$FS(D) = \left\{ \sum_{n \in \alpha} n : \alpha \in [D]^{<\omega} \setminus \{\emptyset\} \right\}$$

i.e. FS(D) is the set of all finite non-empty sums of distinct elements of D.

A set  $D \subseteq \omega$  is sparse [55, p. 1598] if for each  $n \in FS(D)$  there exists the unique set  $\alpha \subseteq D$  such that  $n = \sum_{i \in \alpha} i$ . This unique set will be denoted by  $\alpha_D(n)$ . For instance, the set  $E = \{2^i : i \in \omega\}$  is sparse, and in the sequel, we write  $\alpha(n)$  instead of  $\alpha_E(n)$ .

A sparse set  $D \subseteq \omega$  is very sparse [22, p. 894] if  $\alpha_D(x) \cap \alpha_D(y) \neq \emptyset$  implies  $x + y \notin FS(D)$  for every  $x, y \in FS(D)$ .

Theorem 3.4 (Hindman). The function FS is partition regular and the family

 $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{I}_{FS} = \{ A \subseteq \omega : \forall D \in [\omega]^{\omega} (FS(D) \not\subseteq A) \}$ 

is an ideal on  $\omega$ . The ideal  $\mathcal{H}$  is called the Hindman ideal [29, p. 109]. It is known that sets from  $\mathcal{H}^+$  (that are called IP-sets) are examples of so-called Poincaré sequences<sup>1</sup> that play an important role in the study of recurrences in topological dynamics [33, p. 74].

*Proof.* It is easy to see that condition (M) of Definition 3.1 is satisfied for FS. Condition (R) of Definition 3.1 holds for FS as in this case it is the well known Hindman's finite sums theorem [42, Theorem 3.1],[4, Theorem 3.5]. To see that condition (S) of Definition 3.1 holds for FS, it is enough to notice [55, p. 1598] that every infinite set  $F \subseteq \omega$  has an infinite sparse subset  $G \subseteq F$  which obviously satisfies condition (S). Finally, Proposition 3.3(1) shows that  $\mathcal{H}$  is an ideal on  $\omega$ .  $\Box$ 

The following lemma will be used in some proofs regarding properties of the function FS.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>A set  $W \subseteq \mathbb{Z}$  is called a *Poincaré sequence* [33, Definition 3.6 at p. 72] if for any measure preserving system  $(X, \mathcal{B}, \mu, T)$  and  $A \in \mathcal{B}$  with  $\mu(A) > 0$  we have  $\mu(T^{-n}[A] \cap A) > 0$  for some  $n \in W, n \neq 0$ .

**Lemma 3.5** ([55, Lemma 7]). If D is an infinite sparse set, then there exists a set  $S = \{s_i : i \in \omega\} \subseteq FS(D)$  such that for every  $i \in \omega$  we have  $s_i < s_{i+1}$  and

 $\max \alpha_D(s_i) < \min \alpha_D(s_{i+1}) \text{ and } \max \alpha(s_i) < \min \alpha(s_{i+1}).$ 

# 3.2. Ramsey's theorem for coloring graphs.

**Theorem 3.6** (Ramsey). Let  $r : [\omega]^{\omega} \to [[\omega]^2]^{\omega}$  be given by

$$r(H) = [H]^2 = \{\{x, y\} \subseteq [\omega]^2 : x, y \in H, x \neq y\}$$

*i.e.* r(H) is the set of all unordered pairs of elements of H. Then r is partition regular and the family

$$\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{I}_r = \{ A \subseteq [\omega]^2 : \forall H \in [\omega]^\omega ([H]^2 \not\subseteq A) \}$$

is an ideal on  $[\omega]^2$ . The ideal  $\mathcal{R}$  is called the Ramsey ideal [65, 48]. (If we identify a set  $A \subseteq [\omega]^2$  with a graph  $G_A = (\omega, A)$ , the ideal  $\mathcal{R}$  can be seen as an ideal consisting of graphs without infinite complete subgraphs).

*Proof.* It is easy to see that condition (M) of Definition 3.1 is satisfied for r. Condition (R) of Definition 3.1 holds for r as in this case it is the well known Ramsey's theorem for coloring graphs [69, Theorem A],[38, Theorem 1.5]. To see that condition (S) of Definition 3.1 holds for r, it is enough to notice that for every  $\{a, b\} \in [F]^2$  we have  $\{a, b\} \notin [F \setminus \{a, b\}]^2$ . Finally, Proposition 3.3(1) shows that  $\mathcal{R}$  is an ideal on  $[\omega]^2$ .

3.3. The positive differences and the associated ideal. Let the function  $\Delta$ :  $[\omega]^{\omega} \to [\omega]^{\omega}$  be given by

$$\Delta(E) = \{a - b : a, b \in E, a > b\}$$

i.e.  $\Delta(E)$  is the set of all positive differences of distinct elements of E.

We say that a set  $E \subseteq \omega$  is  $\mathcal{D}$ -sparse [20, p. 2009] if for every  $a \in \Delta(E)$  there are unique elements  $b, c \in E$  such that a = b - c.

**Proposition 3.7.** The function  $\Delta$  is partition regular and the family

$$\mathcal{D} = \mathcal{I}_{\Delta} = \{ A \subseteq \omega : \forall E \in [\omega]^{\omega} \ (\Delta(E) \not\subseteq A) \}$$

is an ideal on  $\omega$  such that  $\mathcal{D} \subsetneq \mathcal{H}$ . It is known that sets from  $\mathcal{D}^+$  are examples of so-called Poincaré sequences [33, p. 74].

Proof. It is easy to see that condition (M) of Definition 3.1 is satisfied for  $\Delta$ . It is known [20, Proposition 4.1] that condition (R) of Definition 3.1 holds for  $\Delta$ . To see that condition (S) of Definition 3.1 holds for  $\Delta$ , it is enough to notice [20, Proposition 4.3(2)] that every infinite set  $F \subseteq \omega$  has an infinite  $\mathcal{D}$ -sparse subset  $G \subseteq F$  which obviously satisfies condition (S). Finally, Proposition 3.3(1) shows that  $\mathcal{D}$  is an ideal on  $\omega$  and it is known [71, Proposition 4.2.1],[20, Proposition 4.1] that  $\mathcal{D} \subsetneq \mathcal{H}$ .

# 3.4. The summable ideal.

**Proposition 3.8.** The family

$$\mathcal{I}_{1/n} = \left\{ A \subseteq \omega : \sum_{n \in A} \frac{1}{n+1} < \infty \right\}$$

is an ideal on  $\omega$ . The ideal  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$  is called the summable ideal [64, Definition 1.6],[62, Example 3],[75, p. 238],[51, p. 411]. The function  $\rho_{\mathcal{I}_{1/n}} : \mathcal{I}^+_{1/n} \to [\omega]^{\omega}$  given by  $\rho_{\mathcal{I}_{1/n}}(A) = A$  is partition regular and  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n} = \mathcal{I}_{\rho_{\mathcal{I}_{1/n}}}$ .

*Proof.* It is easy to show that  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$  is an ideal on  $\omega$ , whereas Proposition 3.3(2) gives the required properties of  $\rho_{\mathcal{I}_{1/n}}$ .

#### 3.5. van der Waerden's arithmetical progressions theorem.

**Theorem 3.9** (van der Waerden). A set  $A \subseteq \omega$  is called an AP-set if it contains an arithmetic progressions of arbitrary finite length. The family

$$\mathcal{W} = \{ A \subseteq \omega : A \text{ is not an } AP\text{-set} \}$$

is an ideal on  $\omega$ . The ideal  $\mathcal{W}$  is called the van der Waerden ideal [29, p. 107]. The function  $\rho_{\mathcal{W}}: \mathcal{W}^+ \to [\omega]^{\omega}$  given by  $\rho_{\mathcal{W}}(A) = A$  is partition regular and  $\mathcal{W} = \mathcal{I}_{\rho_{\mathcal{W}}}$ .

*Proof.* It is easy to see that all conditions from the definition of an ideal but additivity are satisfied, whereas additivity is the well known van der Waerden's arithmetical progressions theorem [73],[38, Theorem 2.1]. Finally, Proposition 3.3(2) gives the required properties of  $\rho_{\mathcal{W}}$ .

3.6. Ideals on directed sets. Finally, we introduce a class of partition regular functions which are connected with ideals on directed sets [17, 18]. Recall, that  $(\Lambda, <)$  is a *directed set* if the relation < is an upward directed strict partial order on  $\Lambda$ .

Let  $(\Lambda, <)$  be a *directed set* such that  $\Lambda$  is infinite countable. A set  $B \subseteq \Lambda$  is *cofinal* in  $(\Lambda, <)$  if for every  $\lambda \in \Lambda$  there is  $b \in B$  with  $\lambda < b$ . A family  $\mathcal{I}$  of subsets of  $\Lambda$  is an *ideal on*  $(\Lambda, <)$  [18, Definition 2.2] if  $\mathcal{I}$  is an ideal on  $\Lambda$  and  $\mathcal{I}$  contains all sets which are *not* cofinal. A family  $\mathcal{B}$  of subsets of  $\Lambda$  is a *coideal basis on*  $(\Lambda, <)$  [18, Definition 2.2] if  $\mathcal{I}$  is an ideal on  $\Lambda$  and  $\mathcal{I}$  contains all sets which are *not* cofinal. A family  $\mathcal{B}$  of subsets of  $\Lambda$  is a *coideal basis on*  $(\Lambda, <)$  [18, Definition 2.4] if  $\mathcal{B} \neq \emptyset$ , all sets in  $\mathcal{B}$  are cofinal and if  $C \cup D \in \mathcal{B}$ , then there exists  $B \in \mathcal{B}$  such that  $B \subseteq C$  or  $B \subseteq D$ . In particular, for every ideal  $\mathcal{I}$  on  $(\Lambda, <)$  the family  $\mathcal{I}^+$  is a coideal basis on  $(\Lambda, <)$ . It is known [17, Proposition 2.7] that  $\mathcal{I}$  is an ideal on  $(\Lambda, <)$  if and only if there exists a coideal basis  $\mathcal{B}$  on  $(\Lambda, <)$  such that  $\mathcal{I} = \{A \subseteq \Lambda : \forall B \in \mathcal{B} \ (B \not\subseteq A)\}.$ 

The following easy proposition reveals basic relationships between partition regular functions and ideals on directed sets.

**Proposition 3.10.** Let  $(\Lambda, <)$  be a directed set.

(1) If  $\rho : \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  is a partition regular function such that  $\rho(F)$  is cofinal for every  $F \in \mathcal{F}$ , then

$$\mathcal{I}_{\rho} = \{ A \subseteq \Lambda : \forall F \in \mathcal{F} \left( \rho(F) \not\subseteq A \right) \}.$$

is an ideal on  $(\Lambda, <)$ .

(2) For a coideal basis  $\mathcal{B}$  on  $(\Lambda, <)$  (in particular for  $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{I}^+$ , where  $\mathcal{I}$  is an ideal on  $(\Lambda, <)$ ), we define

$$\widehat{\mathcal{B}} = \{ B \setminus K : B \in \mathcal{B}, K \in [\Lambda]^{<\omega} \}.$$

Then the function  $\rho_{\mathcal{B}}: \widehat{\mathcal{B}} \oplus \operatorname{Fin}(\Lambda)^* \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  given by

$$\rho_{\mathcal{B}}((B \setminus K) \sqcup C) = (B \setminus K) \cap \{\lambda \in \Lambda : \forall \lambda' \in (\Lambda \setminus C) \ (\lambda' < \lambda)\}$$

is a partition regular function such that  $\rho_{\mathcal{B}}((B \setminus K) \sqcup C)$  is cofinal for every  $(B \setminus L) \sqcup C \in \widehat{\mathcal{B}} \oplus \operatorname{Fin}(\Lambda)^*$  and  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_{\mathcal{B}}} = \{A \subseteq \Lambda : \forall B \in \mathcal{B}(B \not\subseteq A)\}.$ 

#### 4. Restrictions and small accretions

4.1. Restrictions of partition regular operations. For  $B \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ , we define a family  $\mathcal{F} \upharpoonright B = \{E \in \mathcal{F} : \rho(E) \subseteq B\}$  and a function  $\rho \upharpoonright B : \mathcal{F} \upharpoonright B \to [B]^{\omega}$  by  $(\rho \upharpoonright B)(E) = \rho(E)$  (i.e.  $\rho \upharpoonright B = \rho \upharpoonright (\mathcal{F} \upharpoonright B))$ . The following easy proposition reveals relationships between restriction of a function  $\rho$  and restriction of an ideal  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ .

**Proposition 4.1.** If  $\rho : \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  is partition regular and  $B \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ , then  $\rho \upharpoonright B$  is partition regular and  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho \upharpoonright B} = \mathcal{I}_{\rho} \upharpoonright B$ .

4.2. Small accretions of partition regular operations. We will need the following notion in the last part of the paper for characterization that shows when there exists a space of one considered type that is not of the other type (Theorem 16.1).

**Definition 4.2.** Let  $\rho : \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  (with  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq [\Omega]^{\omega}$ ) be a partition regular function.

- (1) A set  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  has small accretions if  $\rho(F) \setminus \rho(F \setminus K) \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  for every finite set K.
- (2)  $\rho$  has small accretions if for every  $E \in \mathcal{F}$  there is  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $F \subseteq E$  and F has small accretions.

**Proposition 4.3.** If  $\rho \in \{FS, r, \Delta\} \cup \{\rho_{\mathcal{I}} : \mathcal{I} \text{ is an ideal}\}$ , then  $\rho$  has small accretions.

Proof for  $\rho = \rho_{\mathcal{I}}$  where  $\mathcal{I}$  is an ideal. The function  $\rho$  has small accretions, since for every  $A \in \mathcal{I}^+$  and finite  $K \subseteq \Lambda$  we have  $\rho_{\mathcal{I}}(A) \setminus \rho_{\mathcal{I}}(A \setminus K) = A \setminus (A \setminus K) \subseteq K \in \mathcal{I}$ .  $\Box$ 

Proof for  $\rho = \text{FS.}$  It is known [22, Lemma 2.2] that every infinite set  $E \subseteq \omega$  has an infinite very sparse subset  $F \subseteq E$ , so if we show that every very sparse set has small accretions, the proof will be finished.

Let  $F \subseteq \omega$  be an infinite very sparse set and  $K \subseteq \omega$  be a finite set. Assume towards contradiction that  $FS(D) \subseteq FS(F) \setminus FS(F \setminus K) = \{x \in FS(F) : \alpha_F(x) \cap K \neq \emptyset\}$  for some  $D \in [\omega]^{\omega}$ . Since K is finite, we can find  $x, y \in D, x \neq y$ , such that  $\alpha_F(x) \cap \alpha_F(y) \neq \emptyset$ . But then  $x + y \in FS(D) \setminus FS(F)$ , a contradiction.  $\Box$ 

Proof for  $\rho = r$ . The function r has small accretions, since for every  $A \in [\omega]^{\omega}$  and finite  $K \subseteq \omega$  we have  $r(A) \setminus r(A \setminus K) = [A]^2 \setminus [A \setminus K]^2 = \{\{i, j\} : i \in A \cap K, j \in A\} \in \mathcal{R}$ .

Proof for  $\rho = \Delta$ . It is known [20, Proposition 4.3(2)] that every infinite set  $E \subseteq \omega$  has an infinite  $\mathcal{D}$ -sparse subset  $F \subseteq E$ , so if we show that every  $\mathcal{D}$ -sparse set has small accretions, the proof will be finished.

Let  $F \subseteq \omega$  be an infinite  $\mathcal{D}$ -sparse set and  $K \subseteq \omega$  be a finite set. It is known [20, Proposition 4.3(1)] that then  $F - n \in \mathcal{D}$  for every  $n < \min F$ , and consequently,  $\{a - b : a \in F \setminus K, b \in F \cap K\} \cap \omega \in \mathcal{D}$ . Thus,  $\Delta(F) \setminus \Delta(F \setminus K) = \{a - b : a \in F \cap K, b \in F, a > b\} \cup (\{a - b : a \in F \setminus K, b \in F \cap K\} \cap \omega) \in \mathcal{D}$  as a finite union of sets from  $\mathcal{D}$ .

# 5. TOPOLOGICAL COMPLEXITY OF PARTITION REGULAR OPERATIONS

If  $\Lambda$  is a countable infinite set, then we consider  $2^{\Lambda} = \{0, 1\}^{\Lambda}$  as a product (with the product topology) of countably many copies of a discrete topological space  $\{0, 1\}$ . Since  $2^{\Lambda}$  is a Polish space [54, p. 13] and  $[\Lambda]^{\omega}$  is a  $G_{\delta}$  subset of  $2^{\Lambda}$ , we obtain that  $[\Lambda]^{\omega}$  is a Polish space as well [54, Theorem 3.11]. In particular, if  $\Lambda$ and  $\Omega$  are countable infinite and  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq [\Omega]^{\omega}$ , we say that a partition regular function  $\rho: \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  is continuous if  $\rho$  is a continuous function from a topological subspace  $\mathcal{F}$  into a topological space  $[\Lambda]^{\omega}$ .

By identifying subsets of  $\Lambda$  with their characteristic functions, we equip  $\mathcal{P}(\Lambda)$  with the topology of the space  $2^{\Lambda}$  and therefore we can assign topological notions to ideals on  $\Lambda$ . In particular, an ideal  $\mathcal{I}$  is *Borel (analytic, coanalytic,* resp.) if  $\mathcal{I}$  is a Borel (analytic, coanalytic, resp.) subset of  $2^{\Lambda}$ . Recall, a set  $A \subseteq X$  is *analytic* if there is a Polish space Y and a Borel set  $B \subseteq X \times Y$  such that A is a projection of B onto the first coordinate [54, Exercise 14.3], and a set  $C \subseteq X$  is coanalytic if  $X \setminus C$  is an analytic set.

**Proposition 5.1.** If a partition regular function  $\rho : \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  (with  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq [\Omega]^{\omega}$ ) is continuous and  $\mathcal{F}$  is a closed subset of  $[\Omega]^{\omega}$ , then the ideal  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  is coanalytic.

*Proof.* We will show that  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho}^{+} = \mathcal{P}(\Lambda) \setminus \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  is an analytic set. Let  $B = \{(A, F) \in \mathcal{P}(\Lambda) \times \mathcal{F} : \rho(F) \subseteq A\}$ . Since  $B \subseteq \mathcal{P}(\Lambda) \times [\Omega]^{\omega}$  and  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho}^{+}$  is a projection of B onto the first coordinate, we only need to show that B is a Borel set. It suffices to show that  $C = (\mathcal{P}(\Lambda) \times [\Omega]^{\omega}) \setminus B$  is an open set, since

$$B = ((\mathcal{P}(\Lambda) \times [\Omega]^{\omega}) \setminus C) \cap (\mathcal{P}(\Lambda) \times \mathcal{F}).$$

Let  $(A, F) \in C$ . We have two cases: (1)  $F \notin \mathcal{F}$  or (2)  $F \in \mathcal{F}$ .

Case (1). Since  $\mathcal{F}$  is closed, there is an open set  $U \subseteq [\Omega]^{\omega}$  with  $F \in U$  and  $U \cap \mathcal{F} = \emptyset$ . Then  $W = \mathcal{P}(\Lambda) \times U$  is open and  $(A, F) \in W \subseteq C$ .

Case (2). Since  $\rho(F) \not\subseteq A$ , there is  $a \in \rho(F) \setminus A$ . Let  $V = \{D \in \mathcal{P}(\Lambda) : a \in D\}$ . Then V is an open and closed set,  $A \notin V$  and  $\rho(F) \in V$ . Since  $\rho$  is continuous at the point F, there is an open set  $U \subseteq [\Omega]^{\omega}$  such that  $F \in U$  and  $\rho[U] \subseteq V$ . Then  $W = (\mathcal{P}(\Lambda) \setminus V) \times U$  is open and  $(A, F) \in W \subseteq C$ .

# Proposition 5.2.

- (1) The ideals  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$  and  $\mathcal{W}$  are  $F_{\sigma}$ .
- (2) The functions FS and r are continuous.
- (3) The function  $\Delta$  is not continuous. In fact, the function  $\Delta$  is discontinuous at every point A such that  $\Delta(A) \neq \omega$ .
- (4) If  $\mathcal{L} = \{A \in [\omega]^{\omega} : \forall n \in \omega \ (e_A(n+1) e_A(n) > e_A(n))\}$  where  $e_A : \omega \to A$  is the increasing enumeration of a set  $A \subseteq \omega$ , then  $\mathcal{I}_{\Delta} = \mathcal{I}_{\Delta \upharpoonright \mathcal{L}}$ ,  $\mathcal{L}$  is closed and  $\Delta \upharpoonright \mathcal{L}$  is continuous.
- (5) The ideals  $\mathcal{H}$ ,  $\mathcal{R}$  and  $\mathcal{D}$  are coanalytic.

Proof. (1) It is known that  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$  and  $\mathcal{W}$  are  $F_{\sigma}$  [64, Example 1.5], [23, Example 4.12]. (2) Case of FS. Let  $D \in [\omega]^{\omega}$  and let U be an open basic neighborhood of FS(D). Then there exists a finite set  $G \subseteq \omega$  such that  $U = \{B \in [\omega]^{\omega} : B \cap \{0, 1, \dots, \max G\} = G\}$ . Let  $F = D \cap \{0, 1, \dots, \max G\}$ . Then  $V = \{A \in [\omega]^{\omega} : A \cap \{0, 1, \dots, \max G\} = F\}$  is an open neighborhood of D and  $FS[V] \subseteq U$ .

Case of r. Let  $D \in [\omega]^{\omega}$  and let U be an open basic neighborhood of  $[D]^2$ . There exists a finite set  $G \subseteq [\omega]^2$  such that  $U = \{B \in [[\omega]^2]^{\omega} : B \cap [N]^2 = G\}$ , where  $N = \max\{\max\{p,q\} : \{p,q\} \in G\}$ . Then  $V = \{A \in [\omega]^{\omega} : A \cap N = D\}$  is an open neighborhood of D and  $r[V] \subseteq U$ .

(3) Let  $A \subseteq \omega$  be such that  $b \notin \Delta(A)$  for some  $b \in \omega$ . Then  $U = \{B \subseteq \omega : b \notin B\}$  is an open neighborhood of  $\Delta(A)$ . Let V be an open basic neighborhood of A. There is  $N \in \omega$  such that  $V = \{C \subseteq \omega : C \cap N = A \cap N\}$ . Then  $C = (A \cap N) \cup (\omega \setminus N) \in V$  and  $\Delta(C) = \omega \notin U$ . Hence the function  $\Delta$  is discontinuous at the point A.

(4) It is obvious that  $\mathcal{I}_{\Delta} = \mathcal{I}_{\Delta \upharpoonright \mathcal{L}}$ . To show that  $\mathcal{L}$  is closed, notice that  $[\omega]^{\omega} \setminus \mathcal{L}$  is open as for each  $A \in [\omega]^{\omega} \setminus \mathcal{L}$  there is  $n \in \omega$  such that  $e_A(n+1) - e_A(n) \leq e_A(n)$  and  $U = \{C \in [\omega]^{\omega} : C \cap (e_A(n+1)+1) = A \cap (e_A(n+1)+1)\}$  is an open neighborhood of A disjoint with  $\mathcal{L}$ .

Below we show that  $\Delta \upharpoonright \mathcal{L}$  is continuous. Let  $A \in \mathcal{L}$ . We are going to show that the function  $\Delta \upharpoonright \mathcal{L}$  is continuous at the point A. Let U be a neighborhood of  $\Delta(A)$ . Without loss of generality, we can assume that there is  $N \in \omega$  such that  $U = \{B \in [\omega]^{\omega} : B \cap N = \Delta(A) \cap N\}$ . There exists  $M \in \omega$  such that  $e_A(M) > N$ . Then  $V = \{C \in [\omega]^{\omega} : C \cap (e_A(M) + 1) = A \cap (e_A(M) + 1)\}$  is an open neighborhood of A. Once we show that  $\Delta[V \cap \mathcal{L}] \subseteq U$ , the proof will be finished. Let  $C \in V \cap \mathcal{L}$ . Since  $A, C \in \mathcal{L}$ , we obtain  $\Delta(C) \cap (e_A(M) + 1) =$  $\Delta(C \cap (e_A(M) + 1)) = \Delta(A \cap (e_A(M) + 1)) = \Delta(A) \cap (e_A(M) + 1)$ . But  $N < e_A(M)$ , hence  $\Delta(C) \cap N = \Delta(A) \cap N$  and consequently  $\Delta(C) \in U$ .

(5) It is known that  $\mathcal{H}$  and  $\mathcal{R}$  are coanalytic [23, Example 4.11],[65, Lemma 1.6.24] (but it also follows from item (2) and Proposition 5.1). It follows from item (4) and Proposition 5.1 that  $\mathcal{D}$  is coanalytic.

#### 6. P-LIKE PROPERTIES

6.1. **P-like properties of ideals.** For  $A, B \subseteq \Lambda$ , we write  $A \subseteq^* B$  if there is a finite set  $K \subseteq \Lambda$  with  $A \setminus K \subseteq B$ .

Let us recall definitions of P-like properties of ideals that are considered in the literature [43, p. 2030]. An ideal  $\mathcal{I}$  on  $\Lambda$  is

- $P^{-}(\Lambda)$  if for every  $\subseteq$ -decreasing sequence  $A_n \in \mathcal{I}^+$  with  $A_0 = \Lambda$  and  $A_n \setminus A_{n+1} \in \mathcal{I}$  for each  $n \in \omega$  there exists  $B \in \mathcal{I}^+$  such that  $B \subseteq^* A_n$  for each  $n \in \omega$ ;
- $P^-$  if for every  $\subseteq$ -decreasing sequence  $A_n \in \mathcal{I}^+$  with  $A_n \setminus A_{n+1} \in \mathcal{I}$  for each  $n \in \omega$  there exists  $B \in \mathcal{I}^+$  such that  $B \subseteq^* A_n$  for each  $n \in \omega$ ;
- $P^+$  if for every  $\subseteq$ -decreasing sequence  $A_n \in \mathcal{I}^+$  there exists  $B \in \mathcal{I}^+$  such that  $B \subseteq^* A_n$  for each  $n \in \omega$ .

The following proposition reveals some implications between P-like properties and provides equivalent forms of the properties  $P^{-}(\Lambda)$  and  $P^{-}$  that were considered in the literature [61] under the names weak P-ideals and hereditary weak P-ideals. where the author used them for in-depth research on  $\mathcal{I}$ -spaces.

**Proposition 6.1.** Let  $\mathcal{I}$  be an ideal on an infinite countable set  $\Lambda$ .

- (1)  $\mathcal{I}$  is  $P^+ \implies \mathcal{I}$  is  $P^- \implies \mathcal{I}$  is  $P^-(\Lambda)$ .
- (2) The implications from item (1) cannot be reversed.
- (3) The following conditions are equivalent.
  - (a)  $\mathcal{I}$  is  $P^{-}(\Lambda)$  ( $\mathcal{I}$  is  $P^{-}$ , resp.).
    - (b) For every partition  $\mathcal{A}$  of  $\Lambda$  (of any set  $C \in \mathcal{I}^+$ , resp.) into sets from  $\mathcal{I}$  there exists  $B \in \mathcal{I}^+$  such that  $B \subseteq \Lambda$  ( $B \subseteq C$ , resp.) and  $B \cap A$  is finite for each  $A \in \mathcal{A}$ .
    - (c)  $\mathcal{I}$  is a weak P-ideal (hereditary weak P-ideal, resp.) i.e. for every countable family  $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{I}$  of subsets of  $\Lambda$  (subsets of any  $C \in \mathcal{I}^+$ , resp.) there exists  $B \in \mathcal{I}^+$  such that  $B \subseteq \Lambda$  ( $B \subseteq C$ , resp.) and  $B \cap A$  is finite for each  $A \in \mathcal{A}$ .

Proof. (1) Straightforward.

(2) The ideal Fin  $\oplus$  Fin<sup>2</sup> is  $P^{-}(\omega \sqcup \omega^{2})$  (the set  $B = \omega \sqcup \emptyset$  works for every sequence) but not  $P^-$  (as witnessed by the sets  $A_n = \emptyset \sqcup ((\omega \setminus n) \times \omega))$ .

Below we show an example of a  $P^-$  ideal that is not  $P^+$ . For a set  $A \subseteq \omega$ , we define the asymptotic density of A by  $\overline{d}(A) = \limsup_{n \to \infty} |A \cap n|/n$ . Then the ideal  $\mathcal{I}_d = \{A \subseteq \omega : d(A) = 0\}$  is  $P^-$  (see e.g. [9, Corollary 1.1]). Now we show that  $\mathcal{I}_d$ is not  $P^+$ . Take a decreasing sequence  $B_n \subseteq \omega$  such that  $0 < \overline{d}(B_n) < 1/n$  for each  $n \in \omega$ . If  $C \subseteq \omega$  is such that  $C \subseteq^* B_n$  for all  $n \in \omega$ , then  $\overline{d}(C) \leq \overline{d}(B_n) \to 0$  as  $n \to \infty$ . Hence  $C \in \mathcal{I}_d$ . This shows that  $\mathcal{I}_d$  is not  $P^+$ .

(3) Straightforward.

There are known relationships between topological complexity and P-like properties.

**Theorem 6.2** ([61, Proposition 4.9], [51, Lemma 1.2], [43, Theorem 3.7]).

- Each G<sub>δσδ</sub> (in particular, F<sub>σδ</sub>) ideal is P<sup>-</sup> (hence P<sup>-</sup>(Λ)).
   Each F<sub>σ</sub> ideal is P<sup>+</sup> (hence P<sup>-</sup> and P<sup>-</sup>(Λ)).
- (3) If  $\mathcal{I}$  is an analytic ideal, then the following conditions are equivalent.
  - (a) There exists a  $P^+$  ideal  $\mathcal{J}$  with  $\mathcal{I} \subseteq \mathcal{J}$ .
  - (b) There exists an  $F_{\sigma}$  ideal  $\mathcal{K}$  with  $\mathcal{I} \subseteq \mathcal{K}$ .

#### 6.2. P-like properties of partition regular operations.

**Definition 6.3.** Let  $\rho : \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  be partition regular. For sets  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $B \subseteq \Lambda$ , we write  $\rho(F) \subseteq^{\rho} B$  if there is a finite set  $K \subseteq \Omega$  with  $\rho(F \setminus K) \subseteq B$ .

Remark. We want to stress here that the relation " $\rho(F) \subseteq^{\rho} B$ " is in fact a relation between F and B and not between  $\rho(F)$  and B because it can happen that  $\rho(F) = \rho(G)$  and  $\rho(F) \subseteq^{\rho} B$  but  $\rho(G) \not\subseteq^{\rho} B$ . We decided that we write  $\rho(F) \subseteq^{\rho} B$  instead of  $F \subseteq^{\rho} B$  as the former seems more natural for us. The same remark applies to other notions involving " $\rho(F)$ " we defined earlier or we define later (e.g. Definitions 6.4 and 9.1).

The following properties will prove useful in the studies of classes of sequentially compact spaces defined with the aid of partition regular functions.

**Definition 6.4.** Let  $\rho : \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  be partition regular. We say that  $\rho$  is

- (1)  $P^{-}(\Lambda)$  if for every  $\subseteq$ -decreasing sequence  $A_n \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}^+$  with  $A_0 = \Lambda$  and  $A_n \setminus A_{n+1} \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  for each  $n \in \omega$  there exists  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\rho(F) \subseteq^{\rho} A_n$  for each  $n \in \omega$ ;
- (2)  $P^-$  if for every  $\subseteq$ -decreasing sequence  $A_n \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}^+$  with  $A_n \setminus A_{n+1} \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  for each  $n \in \omega$  there exists  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\rho(F) \subseteq^{\rho} A_n$  for each  $n \in \omega$ ;
- (3)  $P^+$  if for every  $\subseteq$ -decreasing sequence  $A_n \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}^+$  there exists  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\rho(F) \subseteq^{\rho} A_n$  for each  $n \in \omega$ ;
- (4) weak  $P^+$  if for every  $E \in \mathcal{F}$  there exists  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\rho(F) \subseteq \rho(E)$  and for every sequence  $\{F_n : n \in \omega\} \subseteq \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\rho(F) \supseteq \rho(F_n) \supseteq \rho(F_{n+1})$ for each  $n \in \omega$  there exists  $G \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\rho(G) \subseteq^{\rho} \rho(F_n)$  for each  $n \in \omega$ .

The following result reveals basic properties of the above defined notions and their connections with P-like properties of ideals.

**Proposition 6.5.** Let  $\rho : \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  be partition regular with  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq [\Omega]^{\omega}$ . Let  $\mathcal{I}$  be an ideal on  $\Lambda$ .

- (1)  $\rho$  is  $P^+ \implies \rho$  is weak  $P^+ \implies \rho$  is  $P^- \implies \rho$  is  $P^-(\Lambda)$ .
- (2)  $\mathcal{I}$  is  $P^+ \iff \rho_{\mathcal{I}}$  is  $P^+$ , for every ideal  $\mathcal{I}$ . Similar equivalences hold for  $P^-$  and  $P^-(\Lambda)$ , resp.
- (3) The implications from item (1) cannot be reversed.
- (4) If  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  is  $P^{-}(\Lambda)$  ( $P^{-}$ ,  $P^{+}$ , resp.), then  $\rho$  is  $P^{-}(\Lambda)$  ( $P^{-}$ ,  $P^{+}$ , resp.).
- (5) The implications from item (4) cannot be reversed in case of  $P^{-}(\Lambda)$  and  $P^{-}$  properties.

*Proof.* (1) Below we only show that if  $\rho$  is weak  $P^+$  then it is  $P^-$  since other implications are straightforward.

Let  $A_n \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}^+$  be a  $\subseteq$ -decreasing sequence with  $A_n \setminus A_{n+1} \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  for each  $n \in \omega$ . Since  $A_0 \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}^+$ , there is  $E \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\rho(E) \subseteq A_0$ . Using the fact that  $\rho$  is weak  $P^+$  we can find  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  with  $\rho(F) \subseteq \rho(E)$  and such as in the definition of weak  $P^+$  property.

We will show that there is a sequence  $\{F_n : n \in \omega\} \subseteq \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\rho(F_0) \subseteq \rho(F)$ and  $\rho(F_{n+1}) \subseteq \rho(F_n) \cap A_{n+1}$  for each  $n \in \omega$ . Indeed, since  $\rho(F) \subseteq A_0$ , it suffices to put  $F_0 = F$ . Suppose now that  $F_i$  have been constructed for  $i \leq n$ . Since  $\rho(F_n) \cap A_{n+1} = \rho(F_n) \setminus (A_n \setminus A_{n+1}) \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}^+$ , there is  $F_{n+1} \in \mathcal{F}$  with  $\rho(F_{n+1}) \subseteq \rho(F_n) \cap A_{n+1}$ .

Since F is as in the definition of weak  $P^+$  property, there exists  $G \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\rho(G) \subseteq^{\rho} \rho(F_n)$  for each  $n \in \omega$ . Thus,  $\rho(G) \subseteq^{\rho} A_n$  for each  $n \in \omega$ .

(2) Straightforward.

(3) The cases of the second and third implications follow from Proposition 6.1(2) and item (2), where the proof of the fact that  $\rho_{\mathcal{I}_d}$  is not weak  $P^+$  is just a slight modification of the proof that  $\mathcal{I}_d$  is not  $P^+$ .

Now we show that the first implication cannot be reversed. Consider the ideal  $\mathcal{I} = \{A \subseteq \omega \times \omega : A \cap (\{n\} \times \omega) \text{ is finite for every } n \in \omega\}$ . Then  $\mathcal{I}$  is not  $P^+$  as witnessed by  $A_n = (\omega \setminus n) \times \omega$ , so  $\rho_{\mathcal{I}}$  is not  $P^+$  (by item (2)). However, we

will show that  $\rho_{\mathcal{I}}$  is weak  $P^+$ . Let  $E \in \mathcal{I}^+$ . Then there is  $n \in \omega$  such that  $F = E \cap (\{n\} \times \omega)$  is infinite. Then  $F \in \mathcal{I}^+$  and it is easy to see that if  $F_n \in \mathcal{I}^+$  are such that  $F \supseteq F_n \supseteq F_{n+1}$  then one can pick  $x_n \in F_n$  for each  $n \in \omega$  and  $G = \{x_n : n \in \omega\} \in \mathcal{I}^+$  is such that  $G \setminus \{x_i : i < n\} \subseteq F_n$  for all  $n \in \omega$ .

(4) Proofs in all cases are very similar, so we only present a proof for the property  $P^-(\Lambda)$ . Let  $A_n \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}^+$  be a  $\subseteq$ -decreasing sequence with  $A_0 = \Lambda$  and  $A_n \setminus A_{n+1} \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  for each  $n \in \omega$ . Since  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  is  $P^-(\Lambda)$ , there is  $B \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  such that for every  $n \in \omega$  one can find a finite set  $K_n \subseteq \Omega$  such that  $B \setminus K_n \subseteq A_n$ . From the fact that  $B \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ , there is  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\rho(F) \subseteq B$ . Using Proposition 3.2, we can find  $E \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $E \subseteq F$  and for every  $K_n$  there exists a finite set  $L_n \subseteq \Omega$  such that  $\rho(E \setminus L_n) \subseteq \rho(E) \setminus K_n$ . Then  $\rho(E \setminus L_n) \subseteq \rho(E) \setminus K_n \subseteq A_n$ , so  $\rho$  is  $P^-(\Lambda)$ .

(5) In Proposition 6.7(3)(4) we will show that  $\rho = FS$  is weak  $P^+$ , but  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho} = \mathcal{H}$  is not  $P^-(\omega)$ .

We will need the following lemma to show that FS, r and  $\Delta$  are not  $P^+$ .

**Lemma 6.6.** Let  $\rho : \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  (with  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq [\Omega]^{\omega}$ ) be a partition regular function such that there exists a function  $\tau : [\Omega]^{<\omega} \to \Lambda$  such that

- (1)  $\forall F \in \mathcal{F} \forall \{a, b\} \in [F]^2 (\tau (\{a, b\}) \in \rho(F)),$
- (2)  $\forall F \in \mathcal{F} \, \forall c \in \rho(F) \, \exists S \in [F]^{<\omega} \, (\tau(S) = c),$
- (3) there exists a pairwise disjoint family  $\{P_n : n \in \omega\} \subseteq \mathcal{F}$  such that the family  $\{\rho(P_n) : n \in \omega\}$  is also pairwise disjoint and the restriction  $\tau \upharpoonright [\bigcup \{P_n : n \in \omega\}]^{<\omega}$  is one-to-one.

Then  $\rho$  is not  $P^+$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\{P_n : n \in \omega\}$  be as in item (3) of the lemma. For each  $n \in \omega$ , we define  $B_n = \bigcup \{\rho(P_i) : i \geq n\}$ . Then  $B_n \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}^+$  and  $B \supseteq B_n \supseteq B_{n+1}$  for each  $n \in \omega$ . If we show that there is no  $G \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\rho(G) \subseteq^{\rho} B_n$  for every  $n \in \omega$ , the proof will be finished. Suppose for sake of contradiction that there exists  $G \in \mathcal{F}$  such that for every  $n \in \omega$  there exists a finite set  $K_n \subseteq \Omega$  with  $\rho(G \setminus K_n) \subseteq B_n$ . We have two cases:

- (1)  $|G \cap P_{n_0}| = \omega$  for some  $n_0 \in \omega$ ,
- (2)  $|G \cap P_n| < \omega$  for all  $n \in \omega$ .

Case (1). We take distinct  $a, b \in (G \cap P_{n_0}) \setminus K_{n_0+1}$ . Since  $a, b \in P_{n_0} \in \mathcal{F}$ , we have  $\tau(\{a,b\}) \in \rho(P_{n_0})$ . On the other hand,  $a, b \in G \setminus K_{n_0+1} \in \mathcal{F}$ , so  $\tau(\{a,b\}) \in \rho(G \setminus K_{n_0+1}) \subseteq B_{n_0+1}$ . Hence, there exists  $i \ge n_0 + 1$  such that  $\tau(\{a,b\}) \in \rho(P_i)$ . A contradiction with  $\rho(P_i) \cap \rho(P_{n_0}) = \emptyset$ .

Case (2). In this case, there exists a strictly increasing sequence  $\{k_n : n \in \omega\}$ such that we can choose an element  $x_{k_n} \in G \cap P_{k_n}$  for each  $n \in \omega$ . Since  $x_{k_n}$ are pairwise distinct, there is  $N \in \omega$  such that  $x_{k_n} \in G \setminus K_0$  for every  $n \geq N$ . In particular,  $\tau (\{x_{k_N}, x_{k_{N+1}}\}) \in \rho(G \setminus K_0) \subseteq B_0$ , and consequently there exists  $i \in \omega$  such that  $\tau (\{x_{k_N}, x_{k_{N+1}}\}) \in \rho(P_i)$ . Therefore there is a finite set  $S \subseteq P_i$ such that  $\tau(S) = \tau (\{x_{k_N}, x_{k_{N+1}}\})$ . Since  $P_n$  are pairwise disjoint and  $x_{k_n} \in P_n$ , we obtain that  $x_{k_N} \notin P_i$  or  $h_{k_{N+1}} \notin P_i$ . Consequently,  $\{x_{k_N}, x_{k_{N+1}}\} \neq S$ , so  $\tau \upharpoonright [\bigcup\{P_n : n \in \omega\}]^{<\omega}$  is not one-to-one, a contradiction.

#### Proposition 6.7.

- (1) The ideals  $\mathcal{W}$  and  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$  are  $P^+$  (hence,  $P^-$  and  $P^-(\omega)$ ) while  $\rho_{\mathcal{W}}$  and  $\rho_{\mathcal{I}_{1/n}}$  are  $P^+$ , weak  $P^+$ ,  $P^-$  and  $P^-(\omega)$ .
- (2) If  $\rho \in \{FS, r, \Delta\}$ , then  $\rho$  is not  $P^+$ ,
- (3) If  $\rho \in \{FS, r, \Delta\}$ , then  $\rho$  is weak  $P^+$  (hence  $P^-$  and  $P^-(\Lambda)$ ).
- (4) If  $\mathcal{I} \in {\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{R}, \mathcal{D}}$ , then  $\mathcal{I}$  is not  $P^{-}(\Lambda)$  (hence not  $P^{+}$  and not  $P^{-}$ ).

*Proof.* (1) It follows from Theorem 6.2(2) and the fact that  $\mathcal{W}$  and  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$  are  $F_{\sigma}$  ideals (see Proposition 5.2(1)). The "hence" part follows from Proposition 6.5.

(2) Below we show that  $\rho$  is not  $P^+$  separately for each  $\rho$ .

Case of  $\rho = FS$ . We define a function  $\tau : [\omega]^{<\omega} \to \omega$  by  $\tau(S) = \sum_{i \in S} i$ . Then we take an infinite sparse set P and a partition  $\{P_n : n \in \omega\}$  of P into infinite sets. Lemma 6.6 shows that FS is not  $P^+$ .

Case of  $\rho = r$ . We define a function  $\tau : [\omega]^{<\omega} \to [\omega]^2$  by  $\tau(\{a, b\}) = \{a, b\}$  for distinct a > b and  $\tau(S) = \{0, 1\}$  otherwise. Then we take a partition  $\{P_n : n \in \omega\}$  of  $\omega$  into infinite sets. Lemma 6.6 shows that r is not  $P^+$ .

Case of  $\rho = \Delta$ . We define a function  $\tau : [\omega]^{<\omega} \to \omega$  by  $\tau(\{a, b\}) = a - b$  for distinct a > b and  $\tau(S) = 0$  otherwise. Then we take an infinite  $\mathcal{D}$ -sparse set P and a partition  $\{P_n : n \in \omega\}$  of P into infinite sets. Lemma 6.6 shows that  $\Delta$  is not  $P^+$ .

(3) The "hence" part follows from Proposition 6.5(1). Below we show that  $\rho$  is weak  $P^+$  separately for each  $\rho$ .

Case of  $\rho = \text{FS}$ . It is proved in [22, Lemma 2.3] (see also [18, Example 2.9(2)]). Case of  $\rho = r$ . For any  $E \in [\omega]^{\omega}$  we take F = E. Let  $F_n \in [\omega]^{\omega}$  be such that  $[F]^2 \supseteq [F_n]^2 \supseteq [F_{n+1}]^2$  for each  $n \in \omega$ . We pick  $x_n \in F_n \setminus \{x_i : i < n\}$  for each  $n \in \omega$ . Then  $G = \{x_n : n \in \omega\} \in [\omega]^{\omega}$  and  $[G]^2 \subseteq^r [F_n]^2$  for each  $n \in \omega$ .

Case of  $\rho = \Delta$ . Fix any  $F \in [\omega]^{\omega}$ . Inductively pick a sequence  $(x_i)_{i \in \omega} \subseteq \omega$  such that  $x_i \in F$ ,  $x_i < x_{i+1}$  and  $x_{i+1} - x_i > x_i - x_0$  for all  $i \in \omega$ . Let  $E = \{x_i : i \in \omega\} \in [F]^{\omega}$ .

Define  $a_i = x_{i+1} - x_i$  for all  $i \in \omega$  and observe that  $a_i = x_{i+1} - x_i > x_i - x_0 = \sum_{j < i} a_j$ . Put  $A = \{a_i : i \in \omega\}$ . By [22, proof of Lemma 2.2] the set A is very sparse, i.e. A is sparse and if  $\alpha_A(x) \cap \alpha_A(y) \neq \emptyset$  then  $x + y \notin FS(A)$ . Note that  $\Delta(E) = \{\sum_{i \in I} a_i : I \text{ is a finite interval in } \omega\} \subseteq FS(A)$ .

Observe that if  $\Delta(\{y_n : n \in \omega\}) \subseteq \Delta(E)$ , where  $y_n < y_{n+1}$  for all  $n \in \omega$ , then there is a partition of  $\omega$  into finite intervals  $(I_n)_{n \in \omega}$  such that  $\max I_n < \min I_{n+1}$ and  $y_{n+1} - y_n = \sum_{i \in I_n} a_i$ . Indeed, as  $y_{n+1} - y_n \in \Delta(\{y_n : n \in \omega\}) \subseteq \Delta(E) \subseteq$ FS(A), for each  $n \in \omega$  there is a finite interval  $I_n$  such that  $y_{n+1} - y_n = \sum_{i \in I_n} a_i$ (because A is sparse, we get  $I_n = \alpha_A(y_{n+1} - y_n)$ ). We need to show that the intervals  $I_n$  are pairwise disjoint and cover  $\omega$ . Suppose first that  $\sup I_n + 1 < \inf I_{n+1}$  for some  $n \in \omega$ . Then  $y_{n+2} - y_n = (y_{n+2} - y_{n+1}) + (y_{n+1} - y_n) = \sum_{i \in I_n \cup I_{n+1}} a_i$ . On the other hand,  $y_{n+2} - y_n \in \Delta(\{y_n : n \in \omega\}) \subseteq \Delta(E)$ , so  $y_{n+2} - y_n = \sum_{i \in I} a_i$  for some interval I. This contradicts uniqueness of  $\alpha_A(y_{n+2} - y_n)$  (because A is sparse). Suppose now that  $I_n \cap I_{n+1} \neq \emptyset$ . Then  $y_{n+2} - y_n = (y_{n+2} - y_{n+1}) + (y_{n+1} - y_n) \notin$ FS(A) (because A is very sparse), which contradicts  $\Delta(\{y_n : n \in \omega\}) \subseteq \Delta(E) \subseteq$ FS(A).

Fix any sequence  $(F_k)_{k \in \omega} \subseteq [\omega]^{\omega}$  such that  $\Delta(F_{k+1}) \subseteq \Delta(F_k) \subseteq \Delta(E)$  for all  $k \in \omega$ . By the previous paragraph, with each  $k \in \omega$  we can associate a partition of  $\omega$  into finite intervals  $I_n^k$ , i.e.,  $\Delta(F_k) = \{\sum_{i \in I} a_i : I = I_j^k \cup I_{j+1}^k \cup \ldots \cup I_{j'}^k$  for some  $j < j'\}$ .

Observe that actually for each  $n, k \in \omega$  we have that  $I_n^{k+1} = \bigcup_{i \in I} I_i^k$  for some interval I. Indeed, otherwise for some  $n, k \in \omega$  we would have  $x = \sum_{i \in I_n^{k+1}} a_i \in \Delta(F_{k+1}) \subseteq \Delta(F_k)$ , so  $x = \sum_{i \in I} a_i$  for some  $I = I_j^k \cup I_{j+1}^k \cup \ldots \cup I_{j'}^k$ , which contradicts that A is sparse.

Inductively pick a sequence  $(n_k)_{k\in\omega} \subseteq \omega$  such that for each  $k\in\omega$  we have  $n_{k+1} > n_k$  (so also  $a_{n_{k+1}} > a_{n_k}$ ) and  $n_k = \min I_j^k$  for some  $j\in\omega$ . Define  $E' = \{x_{n_k}: k\in\omega\}$ . Notice that  $x_{n_{k+1}} - x_{n_k} = \sum_{i\in[n_k,n_{k+1})} a_i$ . Then for each  $k\in\omega$  we have  $\Delta(E'\setminus[0,x_{n_k})) = \Delta(\{x_{n_i}: i\geq k\}) \subseteq \{\sum_{i\in I} a_i: I = I_j^k \cup I_{j+1}^k \cup \ldots \cup I_{j'}^k$  for some  $j < j'\} = \Delta(F_k)$ .

(4) The "hence" part follows from Proposition 6.1. Below we show that  $\mathcal{I}$  is not  $P^{-}(\Lambda)$  separately for each  $\mathcal{I}$ .

Case of  $\mathcal{I} = \mathcal{H}$ . Let  $A_k = \{2^k(2n+1) : n \in \omega\}$  for each  $k \in \omega$ . In [22, item (2)] in the proof of Proposition 1.1], the authors showed that  $A_k \in \mathcal{H}$  for every  $k \in \omega$ , whereas in [22, item (1) in the proof of Proposition 1.1] it is shown that for every  $B \notin \mathcal{H}$  there is  $k \in \omega$  such that  $B \cap A_k$  is infinite. Thus, the family  $\{A_k : k \in \omega\}$ witnesses the fact that  $\mathcal{H}$  is not  $P^{-}(\omega)$ .

Case of  $\mathcal{I} = \mathcal{R}$ . Let  $A_n = \{\{k, i\} : i > k \ge n\}$  for every  $n \in \omega$ . Then  $A_n \notin \mathcal{R}$ ,  $A_0 = [\omega]^2$  and  $A_n \setminus A_{n+1} = \{\{n, i\} : i > n\} \in \mathcal{R}$ . Suppose, for sake of contradiction, that there is  $B \notin \mathcal{R}$  such that  $B \subseteq^* A_n$  for every  $n \in \omega$ . Let  $H = \{h_n : n \in \omega\}$  be an infinite set such that  $[H]^2 \subseteq B$  and  $h_n < h_{n+1}$  for every  $n \in \omega$ . Since  $[H]^2 \subseteq A_{h_1}$ , there is a finite set F such that  $[H]^2 \setminus F \subseteq A_{h_1}$ . Since F is finite, there is k > 0such that  $\{h_0, h_n\} \notin F$  for every  $n \ge k$ . Then  $\{\{h_0, h_n\} : n \ge k\} \subseteq [H]^2 \setminus F$  and  $\{\{h_0, h_n\}: n \ge k\} \cap A_{h_1} = \emptyset$ , a contradiction.

Case of  $\mathcal{I} = \mathcal{D}$ . Let  $A_k = \{2^k(2n+1) : n \in \omega\}$  for each  $k \in \omega$ . In [58, item (2) in the proof of Theorem 2.1], the author showed that  $A_k \in \mathcal{D}$  for every  $k \in \omega$ , whereas in [58, item (1) in the proof of Theorem 2.1] it is shown that for every  $B \notin \mathcal{D}$  there is  $k \in \omega$  such that  $B \cap A_k$  is infinite. Thus, the family  $\{A_k : k \in \omega\}$  witnesses the fact that  $\mathcal{D}$  is not  $P^{-}(\omega)$ . 

The following easy observation will be useful in our considerations.

**Proposition 6.8.** If  $\rho : \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  is partition regular with  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq [\Omega]^{\omega}$ , then the following conditions are equivalent.

- (1)  $\rho$  is  $P^-$  ( $P^-(\Lambda)$ , resp.).
- (2) For every countable family  $\mathcal{B} \subseteq \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  with  $\bigcup \mathcal{B} \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  ( $\bigcup \mathcal{B} = \Lambda$ , resp.) there exists  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\rho(F) \subseteq \bigcup \mathcal{B}$  and for every finite subfamily  $\mathcal{C} \subseteq \mathcal{B}$ there is a finite  $K \subseteq \Omega$  such that  $\rho(F \setminus K) \cap \bigcup \mathcal{C} = \emptyset$ .

*Proof.* We will assume that  $\rho$  is  $P^-$ , as the proof in the case of  $P^-(\Lambda)$  is similar.

(1)  $\implies$  (2). Let  $\mathcal{B} = \{B_n : n \in \omega\}$ , where  $\bigcup \mathcal{B} \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  and  $B_n \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  for every  $n \in \omega$ . For each  $n \in \omega$ , we define  $A_n = \bigcup \mathcal{B} \setminus \bigcup \{B_i : i < n\}$ . Since  $\rho$  is  $P^-$ , there exists  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\rho(F) \subseteq^{\rho} A_n$  for each  $n \in \omega$ . Let  $\mathcal{C} \subseteq \mathcal{B}$  be a finite subfamily. Let  $n \in \omega$  be such that  $\mathcal{C} \subseteq \{B_i : i < n\}$ . Then  $\bigcup \mathcal{C} \subseteq \bigcup \{B_i : i < n\}$ . Let  $K \subseteq \Omega$ be a finite set such that  $\rho(F \setminus K) \subseteq A_n$ . Then  $\rho(F \setminus K) \cap \bigcup \{B_i : i < n\} = \emptyset$ , so  $\rho(F \setminus K) \cap \bigcup \mathcal{C} = \emptyset.$ 

(2)  $\implies$  (1). Let  $A_n \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}^+$  be such that  $A_n \supseteq A_{n+1}$  and  $A_n \setminus A_{n+1} \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  for each  $n \in \omega$ . For each  $n \in \omega$  we define  $B_n = A_n \setminus A_{n+1}$ . Let  $\mathcal{B} = \{B_n : n \in \omega\}$ . Then there exists  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\rho(F) \subseteq \bigcup \mathcal{B}$  and for every finite subfamily  $\mathcal{C} \subseteq \mathcal{B}$  there is a finite  $K \subseteq \Omega$  such that  $\rho(F \setminus K) \cap \bigcup \mathcal{C} = \emptyset$ . Thus for any  $n \in \omega$ , we find a finite set  $K \subseteq \Omega$  such that  $\rho(F \setminus K) \cap \bigcup \{B_i : i < n\} = \emptyset$ . Hence  $\rho(F \setminus K) \subseteq \bigcup \{B_i : i \ge n\} = A_n, \text{ so } \rho(F) \subseteq^{\rho} A_n.$  $\square$ 

#### 7. KATĚTOV ORDER

7.1. Katětov order between ideals. We say that an *ideal*  $\mathcal{I}_1$  on  $\Lambda_1$  is above an ideal  $\mathcal{I}_2$  on  $\Lambda_2$  in the Katětov order (in short:  $\mathcal{I}_2 \leq_K \mathcal{I}_1$ ) [53] if there exists a function  $\phi : \Lambda_1 \to \Lambda_2$  such that  $\phi[A] \notin \mathcal{I}_2$  for each  $A \notin \mathcal{I}_1$ . If  $\Lambda_1 = \Lambda_2$  and  $\mathcal{I}_2 \subseteq \mathcal{I}_1$ , then obviously the identity function on  $\Lambda_1$  witnesses that  $\mathcal{I}_2 \leq_K \mathcal{I}_1$ .

There are known relationships between Katetov order, P-like properties and topological complexity.

**Proposition 7.1** ([43, Theorem 3.8]). Let  $\mathcal{I}$  be an ideal on  $\Lambda$ .

- (1)  $\mathcal{I} \text{ is } P^{-}(\Lambda) \iff \operatorname{Fin}^{2} \not\leq_{K} \mathcal{I}.$ (2)  $\mathcal{I} \text{ is } P^{-} \iff \operatorname{Fin}^{2} \not\leq_{K} \mathcal{I} \upharpoonright A \text{ for every } A \in \mathcal{I}^{+}.$

14

# Proposition 7.2.

- (1)  $\operatorname{Fin}^2 \leq_K \mathcal{I}$  for  $\mathcal{I} \in \{\mathcal{D}, \mathcal{H}, \mathcal{R}\}.$
- (2) If  $\mathcal{I}$  is an  $G_{\delta\sigma\delta}$  ideal, then  $\operatorname{Fin}^2 \not\leq_K \mathcal{I} \upharpoonright A$  for every  $A \in \mathcal{I}^+$  In particular,  $\operatorname{Fin}^2 \not\leq_K \mathcal{W}$  and  $\operatorname{Fin}^2 \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}_{1/n}$ .

*Proof.* (1) Using Proposition 7.1(1), we need to show that  $\mathcal{D}$ ,  $\mathcal{H}$  and  $\mathcal{R}$  are not  $P^{-}(\Lambda)$  ideals, but this follows from Proposition 6.7(4). (For  $\mathcal{I} = \mathcal{R}$ , this item was earlier proved by Meza-Alcántara [65, Lemma 1.6.25].)

(2) It follows from Theorem 6.2(1) and Propositions 7.1(2) and 6.7(1).  $\Box$ 

7.2. Katětov order between partition regular operations. The following notion will be crucial for showing when a class of sequentially compact spaces defined by  $\rho_1$  is contained in a class of sequentially compact spaces defined by  $\rho_2$ .

**Definition 7.3.** Let  $\rho_i : \mathcal{F}_i \to [\Lambda_i]^{\omega}$  be partition regular (with  $\mathcal{F}_i \subseteq [\Omega_i]^{\omega}$ ) for each i = 1, 2. We say that  $\rho_1$  is above  $\rho_2$  in the Katětov order (in short:  $\rho_2 \leq_K \rho_1$ ) if there is a function  $\phi : \Lambda_1 \to \Lambda_2$  such that

 $\forall F_1 \in \mathcal{F}_1 \exists F_2 \in \mathcal{F}_2 \forall K_1 \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega} \exists K_2 \in [\Omega_2]^{<\omega} \left(\rho_2(F_2 \setminus K_2) \subseteq \phi[\rho_1(F_1 \setminus K_1)]\right)$ 

or equivalently:

$$\forall F_1 \in \mathcal{F}_1 \exists F_2 \in \mathcal{F}_2 \,\forall K_1 \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega} \,(\rho_2(F_2) \subseteq^{\rho_2} \phi[\rho_1(F_1 \setminus K_1)]).$$

The following proposition reveals some basic properties of this new order on partition regular functions.

#### Proposition 7.4.

- (1) The relation  $\leq_K$  is a preorder (a.k.a. quasi order) i.e. it is reflexive and transitive.
- (2) The preorder  $\leq_K$  is upward and downward directed.
- (3) Let  $\rho : \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  (with  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq [\Omega]^{\omega}$ ) be partition regular. (a)  $\rho \leq_K \rho \upharpoonright \rho(F)$  for every  $F \in \mathcal{F}$ . (b)  $\rho_{\operatorname{Fin}(\Lambda)} \leq_K \rho$ .

Proof. (1) Reflexivity of  $\leq_K$  is obvious. To show transitivity, fix  $\mathcal{F}_i \subseteq [\Omega_i]^{\omega}$  and  $\rho_i : \mathcal{F}_i \to [\Lambda_i]^{\omega}$ , i = 1, 2, 3, and suppose that  $\rho_1 \leq_K \rho_2$  is witnessed by f and  $\rho_2 \leq_K \rho_3$  is witnessed by g. We claim that  $\rho_1 \leq_K \rho_3$  is witnessed by  $h : \Lambda_3 \to \Lambda_1$  given by h(x) = f(g(x)) for all  $x \in \Lambda_3$ . Let  $F_3 \in \mathcal{F}_3$ . Then we can find  $F_2 \in \mathcal{F}_2$  such that for every  $K \in [\Omega_3]^{<\omega}$  there exists  $L_K \in [\Omega_2]^{<\omega}$  such that  $\rho_2(F_2 \setminus L_K) \subseteq g[\rho_3(F_3 \setminus K)]$ . Then for  $F_2$  we can find  $F_1 \in \mathcal{F}_1$  such that for every  $L \in [\Omega_2]^{<\omega}$  there exists  $M_L \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega}$  such that  $\rho_1(F_1 \setminus M_L) \subseteq f[\rho_2(F_2 \setminus L)]$ . Now for a given  $K \in [\Omega_3]^{<\omega}$  we have  $\rho_1(F_1 \setminus M_{L_K}) \subseteq f[\rho_2(F_2 \setminus L_K)] \subseteq f[g[\rho_3(F_3 \setminus K)]] = h[\rho_3(F_3 \setminus K)]$ , so the proof is finished.

(2) Let  $\rho_i : \mathcal{F}_i \to [\Lambda_i]^{\omega}$  with  $\mathcal{F}_i \subseteq [\Omega_i]^{\omega}$  be partition regular for i = 0, 1. We define the following partition regular functions  $\pi : \{F_0 \times F_1 : F_0 \in \mathcal{F}_0, F_1 \in \mathcal{F}_1\} \to [\Lambda_0 \times \Lambda_1]^{\omega}$  by  $\pi(F_0 \times F_1) = \rho_0(F_0) \times \rho_1(F_1)$  and  $\sigma : \mathcal{F}_0 \oplus \mathcal{F}_1 \to [\Lambda_0 \oplus \Lambda_1]^{\omega}$  by  $\sigma((F_0 \times \{0\}) \cup (F_1 \times \{1\})) = (\rho_0(F_0) \times \{0\}) \cup (\rho_1(F_1) \times \{1\}).$ 

Then  $\sigma \leq_K \rho_i$  (i = 0, 1) is witnessed by a function  $\phi_i : \Lambda_i \to \Lambda_0 \oplus \Lambda_1$  given by  $\phi_i(x) = (x, i)$ , whereas  $\rho_i \leq_K \pi$  (i = 0, 1) is witness by a function  $\psi_i : \Lambda_0 \times \Lambda_1 \to \Lambda_i$  given by  $\psi_i(x_0, x_1) = x_i$ .

(3a) Let  $F \in \mathcal{F}$ . We claim that  $\phi : \rho(F) \to \Lambda$  given by  $\phi(\lambda) = \lambda$  is a witness for  $\rho \leq_K \rho \upharpoonright \rho(F)$ . Let  $F_1 \in \mathcal{F} \upharpoonright \rho(F)$ . Then  $F_2 = F_1$  is such that for every finite set  $K_1 \subseteq \Omega$  we take  $K_2 = K_1$  and see that  $\rho(F_2 \setminus K_2) \subseteq \phi(\rho(F_1 \setminus K_1))$ .

(3b) We claim that  $\phi : \Lambda \to \Lambda$  given by  $\phi(\lambda) = \lambda$  is a witness for  $\rho_{\operatorname{Fin}(\Lambda)} \leq_K \rho$ . Let  $F \in \mathcal{F}$ . Let  $\Omega = \{o_n : n \in \omega\}$ . Since  $\rho(F \setminus \{o_i : i < n\})$  is infinite for every  $n \in \omega$ , we can pick a one-to-one sequence  $(a_n : n \in \omega)$  such that  $a_n \in \rho(F \setminus \{o_i : i < n\})$  i < n) for every  $n \in \omega$ . Then  $A = \{a_n : n \in \omega\} \in Fin(\Lambda)^+$  is an infinite set. For a finite set  $K \subseteq \Omega$  there is  $n \in \omega$  such that  $K \subseteq \{o_i : i < n\}$ . Then  $L = \{a_i : i < n\}$ is finite subset of  $\Lambda$  and  $A \setminus L \subseteq \rho(F \setminus \{o_i : i < n\}) \subseteq \rho(F \setminus K)$ . 

Now we compare the relation  $\leq_K$  between partition regular operations with the relation  $\leq_K$  between ideals.

Let  $\rho_i : \mathcal{F}_i \to [\Lambda_i]^{\omega}$  for each i = 1, 2 and  $\rho : \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  be Proposition 7.5. partition regular. Let  $\mathcal{I}$  be ideal.

- (1)  $\rho_2 \leq_K \rho_1 \implies \mathcal{I}_{\rho_2} \leq_K \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$  with the same witnessing function. (2) (a) If  $\rho_2$  is  $P^+$  (in particular, if  $\rho_2 = \rho_{\mathcal{I}}$  and  $\mathcal{I}$  is  $P^+$ ), then  $\rho_2 \leq_K \mathcal{I}_{\rho_2}$  $\begin{array}{ccc}
  \rho_1 \iff \mathcal{I}_{\rho_2} \leq_K \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}; \\
  (b) \ \rho \leq_K \rho_\mathcal{I} \iff \mathcal{I}_{\rho} \leq_K \mathcal{I};
  \end{array}$

*Proof.* (1) Let  $\mathcal{F}_i \subseteq [\Omega_i]^{\omega}$  for i = 1, 2. Let  $\phi$  be a witness for  $\rho_2 \leq_K \rho_1$ . We claim that  $\phi$  is also a witness for  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_2} \leq_K \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$ . Let  $A \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$ . Then there is  $F_1 \in \mathcal{F}_1$  with  $\rho_1(F_1) \subseteq A$ . Since  $\rho_2 \leq_K \rho_1$ , there is  $F_2 \in \mathcal{F}_2$  and a finite set  $K_2 \subseteq \Omega_2$  such that  $\rho_2(F_2 \setminus K_2) \subseteq \phi[\rho_1(F_1 \setminus \emptyset)] = \phi[\rho_1(F_1)].$  Since  $F_2 \setminus K_2 \in \mathcal{F}_2$  and  $\rho_2(F_2 \setminus K_2) \subseteq \phi[A],$ we obtain that  $\phi[A] \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho_2}$ . Thus the proof of this item is finished.

(2a) The "in particular" part follows from Propositions 3.3(2) and 6.5(2).

We only have to show the implication " $\Leftarrow$ ", because the reversed implication is true by item (1). Let  $\phi : \Lambda_1 \to \Lambda_2$  be a witness for  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_2} \leq_K \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$ . We claim that  $\phi$  is also a witness for  $\rho_2 \leq_K \rho_1$ . Let  $F_1 \in \mathcal{F}_1, \Omega_1 = \{o_n : n \in \omega\}$  and  $B_n = \phi[\rho_1(F_1 \setminus \{o_i : i < n\})]$  for each  $n \in \omega$ . Then  $B_n \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho_2}, B_n \supseteq B_{n+1}$  for each  $n \in \omega$ , and since  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_2}$  is  $P^+$ , there is  $F_2 \in \mathcal{F}_2$  such that for each  $n \in \omega$  there is a finite set  $L_n \subseteq \Omega_2$  with  $\rho_2(F_2 \setminus L_n) \subseteq B_n$ . Now, for any finite set  $K_1 \subseteq \Omega_1$  there is  $n \in \omega$ such that  $K_1 \subseteq \{o_i : i < n\}$ . Let  $K_2 = L_n$ . Then  $\rho_2(F_2 \setminus K_2) \subseteq B_n \subseteq \phi[\rho_1(F_1 \setminus K_1)]$ . Thus the proof of this item is finished.

(2b) The implication " $\implies$ " follows from item (1) and Proposition 3.3(2), so below we show the reverse implication.

Suppose that  $\mathcal{I}$  is an ideal on  $\Lambda$  and  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq [\Omega]^{\omega}$ . Let  $\phi : \Lambda \to \Lambda$  be a witness of  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho} \leq_{K} \mathcal{I}$ . We claim that the same  $\phi$  is also a witness for  $\rho \leq_{K} \rho_{\mathcal{I}}$ . Indeed, for  $A \notin \mathcal{I}$ we find  $E \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\rho(E) \subseteq \phi[A]$ . Using Proposition 3.2, we can find a set  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $F \subseteq E$  and for any finite set  $K \subseteq \Lambda_1$  there exists a finite set  $L \subseteq \Omega$ with  $\rho(F \setminus L) \subseteq \rho(F) \setminus \phi[K]$ . Consequently,  $\rho(F \setminus L) \subseteq \phi[A] \setminus \phi[K] \subseteq \phi[A \setminus K]$ .  $\Box$ 

The following example shows that in general  $\rho_2 \leq_K \rho_1$  and  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_2} \leq_K \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$  are not equivalent.

# **Example 7.6.** Fin<sup>2</sup> $\leq_K \mathcal{H}$ , but $\rho_{\text{Fin}^2} \not\leq_K \text{FS}$ .

*Proof.* By Proposition 7.2(1) we know that  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_{\mathrm{Fin}^2}} = \mathrm{Fin}^2 \leq_K \mathcal{H} = \mathcal{I}_{\mathrm{FS}}$ . Thus, we only need to show that  $\rho_{\text{Fin}^2} \not\leq_K \text{FS}$ .

Suppose that  $\rho_{\operatorname{Fin}^2} \leq_K \operatorname{FS}$  and let  $\phi : \omega \to \omega^2$  be a witness for this. For each  $n \in \omega$ , we define  $A_n = \phi^{-1}[(\omega \setminus n) \times \omega]$ . Then  $A_0 = \omega$ ,  $A_n \supseteq A_{n+1}$  and  $A_n \setminus A_{n+1} \subseteq \phi^{-1}[\{n\} \times \omega] \in \mathcal{H}$  for each  $n \in \omega$  by Proposition 7.5(1). Since FS is  $P^{-}(\omega)$  by Proposition 6.7(3), there is  $F \in [\omega]^{\omega}$  such that for every  $n \in \omega$  there is a finite set  $K_n \subseteq \omega$  with  $FS(F \setminus K_n) \subseteq A_n$ . Now, using the fact that  $\rho_{Fin^2} \leq_K FS$ , we find  $B \notin \operatorname{Fin}^2$  such that for every  $n \in \omega$  there is a finite set  $L_n \subseteq \omega^2$  with  $B \setminus L_n \subseteq \phi[\operatorname{FS}(F \setminus K_n)] \subseteq \phi[A_n] \subseteq (\omega \setminus n) \times \omega$ . In particular, sets  $B \cap (\{n\} \times \omega)$  are finite for every n, so  $B \in \operatorname{Fin}^2$ , a contradiction.

*Remark.* The partition regular function  $\rho_{\text{Fin}^2}$  from Example 7.6 is not  $P^-$ . In Example 15.5 we will show that there are partition regular functions  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  which are  $P^-$  and have small accretions such that  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_2} \subseteq \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$  (in particular,  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_2} \leq_K \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$ ), but  $\rho_2 \not\leq_K \rho_1$ .

7.3. Katětov order between FS,  $r, \Delta, W$  and  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$ .

# Theorem 7.7.

- (1)  $\mathcal{H} \not\leq_K \mathcal{R}$ . In particular, FS  $\not\leq_K r$ .
- (2)  $\mathcal{R} \not\leq_K \mathcal{H}$ . In particular,  $r \not\leq_K FS$ .
- (3)  $\Delta \leq_K \text{FS}$  and  $\mathcal{D} \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ . In particular,  $\mathcal{D} \leq_K \mathcal{H}$ .
- (4)  $\Delta \leq_K r$ . In particular,  $\mathcal{D} \leq_K \mathcal{R}$ .
- (5)  $\mathcal{R} \not\leq_K \mathcal{D}$ . In particular,  $r \not\leq_K \Delta$ .
- (6)  $\mathcal{H} \not\leq_K \mathcal{D}$ . In particular, FS  $\not\leq_K \Delta$ .
- (7)  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n} \not\leq_K \mathcal{R}$ . In particular,  $\rho_{\mathcal{I}_{1/n}} \not\leq_K r$ .
- (8)  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n} \not\leq_K \mathcal{H}$ . In particular,  $\rho_{\mathcal{I}_{1/n}} \not\leq_K FS$ .
- (9)  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n} \not\leq_K \mathcal{D}$ . In particular,  $\rho_{\mathcal{I}_{1/n}} \not\leq_K \Delta$ .
- (10)  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n} \not\leq_K \mathcal{W}$ . In particular,  $\rho_{\mathcal{I}_{1/n}} \not\leq_K \rho_{\mathcal{W}}$ .
- (11)  $\mathcal{D} \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}_{1/n}$ . In particular,  $\Delta \not\leq_K \rho_{\mathcal{I}_{1/n}}$ .
- (12)  $\mathcal{H} \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}_{1/n}$ . In particular, FS  $\not\leq_K \rho_{\mathcal{I}_{1/n}}$ .
- (13)  $\mathcal{R} \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}_{1/n}$ . In particular,  $r \not\leq_K \rho_{\mathcal{I}_{1/n}}$ .
- (14)  $\mathcal{D} \not\leq_K \mathcal{W}$ . In particular,  $\Delta \not\leq_K \rho_{\mathcal{W}}$ .
- (15)  $\mathcal{H} \not\leq_K \mathcal{W}$ . In particular, FS  $\not\leq_K \rho_{\mathcal{W}}$ .
- (16)  $\mathcal{R} \not\leq_K \mathcal{W}$ . In particular,  $r \not\leq_K \rho_{\mathcal{W}}$ .

*Proof.* The "in particular" parts follow from Proposition 7.5(1).

The proofs of items (1), (2), (7), (8) and (10) can be found in [21].

(3) The inclusion is proved in [71, Proposition 4.2.1] (see also [20, Propositions 4.2]). Below, we show that  $\Delta \leq_K FS$ .

We claim that the identity function  $\phi : \omega \to \omega$ ,  $\phi(n) = n$  for every  $n \in \omega$  is a witness for  $\Delta \leq_K FS$ .

For any infinite set  $A \subseteq \omega$ , we define an infinite set  $B = \{\sum_{i \leq n} a_i : n \in \omega\}$ , where  $\{a_n : n \in \omega\}$  is the increasing enumeration of A. Next, for any finite set K, we define a finite set  $L = \{0, 1, \ldots, \sum_{i \leq k} a_i\}$ , where  $k = \max\{i \in \omega : a_i \in K\}$  (for  $K = \emptyset$  we take k = 0). Finally, we observe that  $\Delta(B \setminus L) \subseteq FS(A \setminus K) = \phi[FS(A \setminus K)]$ , so the proof is finished.

(4) We claim that  $\phi : [\omega]^2 \to \omega$  given by the formula  $\phi(\{n,k\}) = n - k$ , where n > k, is a witness for  $\Delta \leq_K r$ . For any infinite set  $A \subseteq \omega$ , we take B = A. Then for any finite set  $K \subseteq \omega$ , we take L = K. Next, we notice that  $\Delta(B \setminus L) = \Delta(A \setminus K) = \phi[[A \setminus K]^2] = \phi[r(A \setminus K)]$ , so the proof is finished.

(5) It follows from items (3) and (2).

(6) It follows from items (4) and (1).

(9) It follows from items (8) and (3).

(11) Suppose otherwise:  $\mathcal{D} \leq_K \mathcal{I}_{1/n}$ . By Proposition 7.2(1) Fin<sup>2</sup>  $\leq_K \mathcal{D}$ , so Fin<sup>2</sup>  $\leq_K \mathcal{I}_{1/n}$ . By Proposition 7.1(1), we obtain that  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$  is not a  $P^-(\omega)$  ideal, a contradiction with Proposition 6.7(1).

(12) It follows from items (3) and (11).

(13) It follows from items (4) and (11).

(14) Suppose otherwise:  $\mathcal{D} \leq_K \mathcal{W}$ . Using Proposition 7.2(1) we get that Fin<sup>2</sup>  $\leq_K \mathcal{D}$ , so Fin<sup>2</sup>  $\leq_K \mathcal{W}$ . However, since  $\mathcal{W}$  is  $F_{\sigma}$  (see [23, Example 4.12]), Fin<sup>2</sup>  $\leq_K \mathcal{W}$  by [13, Theorems 7.5 and 9.1]. A contradiction.

(15) It follows from items (3) and (14).

(16) It follows from items (3) and (14).

Question 7.8. Is  $W \leq_K \mathcal{I}$  for  $\mathcal{I} \in {\mathcal{I}_{1/n}, \mathcal{H}, \mathcal{R}, \mathcal{D}}$ ?

*Remark.* The positive answer to Question 7.8 for  $\mathcal{I} = \mathcal{I}_{1/n}$  is implied by the inclusion  $\mathcal{W} \subseteq \mathcal{I}_{1/n}$  that is known as the Erdős conjecture on arithmetic progressions

(a.k.a. the Erdős–Turán conjecture) which can be rephrased in the following manner: if the sum of the reciprocals of the elements of a set  $A \subseteq \omega$  diverges, then A contains arbitrarily long finite arithmetic progressions.

# 8. TALLNESS AND HOMOGENEITY

8.1. Tallness of partition regular functions. An ideal  $\mathcal{I}$  on  $\Lambda$  is *tall* if for every infinite set  $A \subseteq \Lambda$  there exists an infinite set  $B \subseteq A$  such that  $B \in \mathcal{I}$  ([62, p. 210], see also [63, Definition 0.6]). It is not difficult to see that  $\mathcal{I}$  is not tall  $\iff \mathcal{I} \leq_K \mathcal{J}$  for every ideal  $\mathcal{J} \iff \mathcal{I} \leq_K \operatorname{Fin} \iff \mathcal{I} \upharpoonright A = \operatorname{Fin}(A)$  for some  $A \in \mathcal{I}^+$ .

The following proposition characterizes tallness of the ideal  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  in terms of  $\rho$  and serves as a definition of tallness of partition regular functions.

**Proposition 8.1.** Let  $\rho : \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  be partition regular (with  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq [\Omega]^{\omega}$ ). The following conditions are equivalent.

(1)  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  is tall.

(2) There exists a partition regular function  $\tau$  such that  $\rho \not\leq_K \tau$ .

(3)  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho} \upharpoonright \rho(F) \neq \operatorname{Fin}(\rho(F))$  for every  $F \in \mathcal{F}$ .

(4)  $\rho \not\leq_K \rho_{\operatorname{Fin}(\Lambda)}$ .

*Proof.* (1)  $\Longrightarrow$  (2) If  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  is tall, there is an ideal  $\mathcal{J}$  such that  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho} \not\leq_{K} \mathcal{J}$ . Then  $\rho \not\leq_{K} \rho_{\mathcal{J}}$  by Proposition 7.5(1).

(2)  $\Longrightarrow$  (3) Suppose that there is  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho} \upharpoonright \rho(F) = \operatorname{Fin}(\rho(F))$ . We will show that  $\rho \leq_{K} \tau$  for every partition regular function  $\tau$ .

Take any partition regular function  $\tau : \mathcal{G} \to [\Sigma]^{\omega}$  with  $\mathcal{G} \subseteq [\Gamma]^{\omega}$ .

Let  $\phi : \Sigma \to \Lambda$  be a one-to-one function such that  $\phi[\Sigma] = \rho(F)$ . We claim that  $\phi$  is a witness for  $\rho \leq_K \tau$ .

Let  $G \in \mathcal{G}$  and  $\Gamma = \{\gamma_n : n \in \omega\}$ . Since  $\phi[\tau(G \setminus \{\gamma_i : i < n\})]$  is infinite for every  $n \in \omega$ , we can pick a one-to-one sequence  $(b_n : n \in \omega)$  such that  $b_n \in \phi[\tau(G \setminus \{\gamma_i : i < n\})]$  for each  $n \in \omega$ . Define  $B = \{b_n : n \in \omega\}$ . Since B is infinite,  $B \subseteq \rho(F)$  and  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho} \upharpoonright \rho(F) = \operatorname{Fin}(\rho(F))$ , there is  $H \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\rho(H) \subseteq B$ . Using Proposition 3.2, there is  $E \in \mathcal{F}$  with  $E \subseteq H$  such that for any  $n \in \omega$  there is a finite set  $L \subseteq \Omega$  such that  $\rho(E \setminus L) \subseteq \rho(E) \setminus \{b_i : i < n\}$ . Consequently, for any finite set  $K \subseteq \Gamma$  there is  $n \in \omega$  such that  $K \subseteq \{\gamma_i : i < n\}$ , so we can find a finite set  $L \subseteq \Omega$  such that  $\rho(E \setminus L) \subseteq \rho(E) \setminus \{b_i : i < n\}$ .

(3)  $\Longrightarrow$  (4) Let  $\phi : \Lambda \to \Lambda$  be a witness for  $\rho \leq_K \rho_{\operatorname{Fin}(\Lambda)}$ . Since  $\phi^{-1}[\{\lambda\}] \in \operatorname{Fin}(\Lambda)$ for every  $\lambda \in \Lambda$  and  $\phi[\Lambda]$  is infinite, there is an infinite set  $A \subseteq \Lambda$ , such that  $\phi \upharpoonright A$ is one-to-one. Then we can find  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\rho(F) \subseteq \phi[A]$ . We claim that  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho} \upharpoonright \rho(F) = \operatorname{Fin}(\rho(F))$ . Indeed, let  $B \subseteq \rho(F)$  be infinite and observe that  $\phi^{-1}[B]$ is infinite, so  $B = \phi[\phi^{-1}[B]] \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ .

(4)  $\Longrightarrow$  (1) If  $\rho \not\leq_K \rho_{\operatorname{Fin}(\Lambda)}$  then by Proposition 7.5(2b),  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho} \not\leq_K \operatorname{Fin}(\Lambda)$ , and consequently  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  is tall.

**Definition 8.2.** We say that a partition regular function  $\rho$  is *tall* if any item of Proposition 8.1 holds.

**Proposition 8.3.** The ideals  $\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{R}, \mathcal{D}, \mathcal{W}$  and  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$  are tall (hence, FS, r,  $\Delta, \rho_{\mathcal{W}}$  and  $\rho_{\mathcal{I}_{1/n}}$  are tall).

*Proof.* For the case of  $\mathcal{W}$  and  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$  see [7, p. 3-4]. For other cases, see [65, under Lemma 1.6.24] and [20, Proposition 4.3 and text above Lemma 3.2]). Tallness of the listed partition regular functions follows then from Proposition 8.1.

8.2. Homogeneity of partition regular functions. Let  $\mathcal{I}_i$  be an ideal on  $\Lambda_i$  for each i = 1, 2. Ideals  $\mathcal{I}_1$  and  $\mathcal{I}_2$  are *isomorphic* (in short:  $\mathcal{I}_1 \approx \mathcal{I}_2$ ) if there exists a bijection  $\phi : \Lambda_1 \to \Lambda_2$  such that  $A \in \mathcal{I}_1 \iff \phi[A] \in \mathcal{I}_2$  for each  $A \subseteq \Lambda_1$ . An ideal  $\mathcal{I}$  on  $\Lambda$  is *homogeneous* if the ideals  $\mathcal{I}$  and  $\mathcal{I} \upharpoonright A$  are isomorphic for every  $A \in \mathcal{I}^+$ ([60, Definition 1.3], see also [32]). We say that  $\mathcal{I}$  is *K*-homogeneous if  $\mathcal{I} \upharpoonright A \leq_K \mathcal{I}$ for every  $A \in \mathcal{I}^+$  (in [44, p. 37], the author uses the name *K*-uniform in this case). Note that we always have  $\mathcal{I} \leq_K \mathcal{I} \upharpoonright A$  for every  $A \in \mathcal{I}^+$  (see e.g. [44, p. 46]).

**Definition 8.4.** Let  $\rho : \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  be partition regular. We say that  $\rho$  is *K*-homogeneous if  $\rho \upharpoonright A \leq_K \rho$  for every  $A \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}^+$  (note that we always have  $\rho \leq_K \rho \upharpoonright A$  for every  $A \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}^+$  by Proposition 7.4(3a)).

#### Proposition 8.5.

- (1) If a partition regular function  $\rho$  is K-homogeneous then  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  is K-homogeneous.
- (2) An ideal  $\mathcal{I}$  is K-homogeneous  $\iff \rho_{\mathcal{I}}$  is K-homogeneous.

*Proof.* (1) It follows from Propositions 7.5(1) and 4.1.

(2) Observe that if  $A \in \mathcal{I}^+$  then  $\rho_{\mathcal{I} \upharpoonright A} = \rho_{\mathcal{I}} \upharpoonright A$ . Thus, it follows from Propositions 7.5(2b) and 4.1.

We need the following lemma to show that FS and r are K-homogeneous.

**Lemma 8.6.** Let  $\rho : \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  be partition regular (with  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq [\Omega]^{\omega}$ ). If  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  is homogeneous and  $\rho$  is  $P^-$  and has small accretions then  $\rho$  is K-homogeneous.

*Proof.* Let  $A \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}^+$ . Since  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  is homogeneous,  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho} \upharpoonright A$  and  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  are isomorphic. Let  $f : \Lambda \to A$  be a bijection witnessing it. We claim that f witnesses  $\rho \upharpoonright A \leq_K \rho$ .

Let  $F \in \mathcal{F}$ . Since  $\rho$  has small accretions, there is  $G \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $G \subseteq F$  and G has small accretions. Enumerate  $\Omega = \{o_n : n \in \omega\}$  and define  $K_n = \{o_i : i \leq n\}$  and  $A_n = f[\rho(G \setminus K_n)]$  for all  $n \in \omega$ . Then  $A_n \supseteq A_{n+1}$ . Since G has small accretions and f is a bijection and witnesses that  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho} \upharpoonright A$  and  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  are isomorphic,  $A_n \in (\mathcal{I}_{\rho} \upharpoonright A)^+$  and  $A_n \setminus A_{n+1} \subseteq f[\rho(G \setminus K_n) \setminus \rho(G \setminus K_{n+1})] \subseteq f[\rho(G) \setminus \rho(G \setminus K_{n+1})] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho} \upharpoonright A$ . Using the fact that  $\rho$  is  $P^-$ , we can find  $H \in \mathcal{F} \upharpoonright A$  such that  $\rho(H) \subseteq \rho A_n = f[\rho(G \setminus K_n)]$  for all  $n \in \omega$ . Hence, given any finite set  $K \subseteq \Omega$  there are  $n \in \omega$  and finite  $L \subseteq \Omega$  such that  $K \subseteq K_n$  and  $\rho(H \setminus L) \subseteq A_n = f[\rho(G \setminus K_n)] \subseteq f[\rho(G \setminus K)]$ .

# Proposition 8.7.

- (1) The ideals  $\mathcal{H}$ ,  $\mathcal{R}$  and  $\mathcal{W}$  are homogeneous (hence, K-homogeneous).
- (2) The functions FS and r are K-homogeneous.

*Proof.* (1) See [60, Examples 2.5 and 2.6].

(2) It follows from item (1), Lemma 8.6 and Propositions 6.7(3) and 4.3.

# Question 8.8.

- (1) Is the function  $\Delta$  K-homogeneous?
- (2) Is the ideal  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$  K-homogeneous?

#### Part 2. FinBW spaces

In this part we define the main object of our studies – classes of sequentially compact spaces defined with the aid of partition regular functions (Definition 10.1). Next, we prove some general results about those classes of spaces (Theorem 10.5).

9. A CONVERGENCE WITH RESPECT TO PARTITION REGULAR FUNCTIONS

**Definition 9.1.** Let X be a topological space. Let  $\rho : \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  be partition regular with  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq [\Omega]^{\omega}$ .

- (1) For  $F \in \mathcal{F}$ , a function  $f : \rho(F) \to X$  is called a  $\rho$ -sequence in X.
- (2) A  $\rho$ -sequence  $f : \rho(F) \to X$  is  $\rho$ -convergent to a point  $x \in X$  if for every neighbourhood U of x there is a finite set  $K \subseteq \Omega$  such that

$$f[\rho(F \setminus K)] \subseteq U$$

*Remark.* Various kinds of convergences considered in the literature can be described in terms of  $\rho$ -convergence.

- (1) If  $\rho = FS$ , then  $\rho$ -convergence coincides with *IP*-convergence (see [33], [34] or [55]).
- (2) If  $\rho = r$ , then  $\rho$ -convergence coincides with the  $\mathcal{R}$ -convergence (see [5], [6], [59, Definition 2.1]).
- (3) If  $\rho = \Delta$ , then  $\rho$ -convergence coincides with the differential convergence (see [71, Definition 4.2.4] or [20, p. 2010]).
- (4) If  $\mathcal{I}$  is an ideal on  $\Lambda$  and  $\rho_{\mathcal{I}}$  is defined as in Proposition 3.3(2), then  $\rho_{\mathcal{I}}$ convergence coincides with the ordinary convergence.

The following proposition reveals relationships between  $\rho$ -convergence and convergence.

# Proposition 9.2.

- (1) Let  $\rho : \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  be partition regular with  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq [\Omega]^{\omega}$ . Let  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $f : \rho(F) \to X$ .
  - (a) If f is convergent to L, then  $f \upharpoonright \rho(E)$  is  $\rho$ -convergent to L for some  $E \in \mathcal{F} \upharpoonright \rho(F)$ .
  - (b) If f is  $\rho$ -convergent to L, then  $f \upharpoonright A$  is convergent to L for some infinite set  $A \subseteq \rho(F)$ .
- (2) Let  $\mathcal{I}$  be an ideal on  $\Lambda$  and  $f : A \to X$  for some  $A \in \mathcal{I}^+$ . Then f is convergent to  $L \iff f$  is  $\rho_{\mathcal{I}}$ -convergent to L.

*Proof.* (1a) Let  $E \in \mathcal{F}$  with  $E \subseteq F$  be as in Proposition 3.2 and let U be a neighborhood of L. Then there exists a finite set K such that  $f(n) \in U$  for every  $n \in \rho(F) \setminus K$ . There is a finite set L such that  $\rho(E \setminus L) \subseteq \rho(E) \setminus K \subseteq \rho(F) \setminus K$ . Consequently,  $f(n) \in U$  for every  $n \in \rho(E \setminus L)$ .

(1b) Let  $\Omega = \{o_n : n \in \omega\}$ . For each  $n \in \omega$ , we pick  $\lambda_n \in \rho(F \setminus \{o_i : i < n\}) \setminus \{\lambda_i : i < n\}$ . Let  $A = \{\lambda_n : n \in \omega\}$ . We claim that  $f \upharpoonright A$  is convergent to L. Indeed, if U is a neighborhood of L, then there is a finite set  $K \subseteq \Omega$  such that  $f[\rho(F \setminus K)] \subseteq U$ . Let  $n \in \omega$  be such that  $K \subseteq \{o_i : i < n\}$ . Then  $f[A \setminus \{\lambda_i : i < n\}] \subseteq f[\rho(F \setminus \{o_i : i < n\})] \subseteq f[\rho(F \setminus K)] \subseteq U$ .

(2) It is straightforward.

$$\square$$

#### 10. FinBW spaces

Let  $\mathcal{I}$  be an ideal on a countable infinite set  $\Lambda$ . The following classes of topological spaces were extensively examined in the literature (see e.g. [24, 29, 61]):

- (1) FinBW( $\mathcal{I}$ ) is the class of all topological spaces X such that for every sequence  $f : \Lambda \to X$  there exists  $A \in \mathcal{I}^+$  such that  $f \upharpoonright A$  converges (in [29], spaces from FinBW( $\mathcal{I}$ ) are called  $\mathcal{I}$ -spaces);
- (2) hFinBW( $\mathcal{I}$ ) is the class of all topological spaces X such that for every  $B \in \mathcal{I}^+$  and every sequence  $f : B \to X$  there exists  $A \in \mathcal{I}^+$  such that  $A \subseteq B$  and  $f \upharpoonright A$  converges.

*Remark.* The classes FinBW( $\mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ ) for  $\rho \in \{\mathcal{W}, \mathcal{I}_{1/n}\}$  were examined in the literature under other names:

- in [56, Definition 3], spaces from FinBW(W) are called van der Waerden spaces;
- (2) in [29, Definition 2.1], spaces from FinBW( $\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$ ) are called  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$ -spaces.

**Definition 10.1.** Let  $\rho : \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  be a partition regular function.

(1) FinBW( $\rho$ ) is the class of all topological spaces X such that for every sequence  $f : \Lambda \to X$  there exists  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $f \upharpoonright \rho(F) \rho$ -converges.

(2) hFinBW( $\rho$ ) is the class of all topological spaces X such that for every  $\rho$ sequence  $f : \rho(E) \to X$  there exists  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\rho(F) \subseteq \rho(E)$  and  $f \upharpoonright \rho(F) \rho$ -converges.

*Remark.* The classes  $FinBW(\rho)$  for  $\rho \in \{FS, r, \Delta\}$  were examined in the literature under other names:

- (1) in [55, Definition 4], spaces from FinBW(FS) are called *Hindman spaces*;
- (2) in [6] (see also [59, Definition 2.1]), spaces from FinBW(r) are called *spaces* with the Ramsey property, and we will call them Ramsey spaces in short;
- (3) in [71, Definition 4.2.4] (see also [20, p. 2010]), spaces in FinBW( $\Delta$ ) are called *differentially compact spaces*.

Remark. Recall that if  $(\Lambda, <)$  is a directed set, then any function  $f : \Lambda \to X$  is called a *net* in X. A net  $f : \Lambda \to X$  in a topological space X converges to  $x \in X$  if for every neighborhood U of x there is  $\lambda_0 \in \Lambda$  such that  $f(\lambda) \in U$  for every  $\lambda > \lambda_0$ (see e.g. [15, p. 49]). In [18, Remark 2.6], the authors notice that if  $\mathcal{B}$  is a coideal basis on  $(\Lambda, <)$ , then  $(B, < \cap (B \times B))$  is a directed set and  $f \upharpoonright B$  is a subnet of f for every  $B \in \mathcal{B}$ . Furthermore, they examine topological spaces X having the property that every net  $f : \Lambda \to X$  has a convergent subnet  $f \upharpoonright B$  with some  $B \in \mathcal{B}$  ([18, p. 418]). It is not difficult to see that the class of spaces they examine coincides with the class FinBW( $\rho_B$ ) with  $\rho_B$  defined as in Proposition 3.10(2).

The following proposition reveals relationships between FinBW-like spaces defined with the aid of partition regular functions and ideals.

**Proposition 10.2.** Let  $\rho : \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  be partition regular with  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq [\Omega]^{\omega}$ . Let  $\mathcal{I}$  be an ideal on  $\Lambda$ .

- (1) (a) hFinBW( $\rho$ ) =  $\bigcap$  {FinBW( $\rho \upharpoonright \rho(F)$ ) :  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  }.
  - (b) hFinBW( $\mathcal{I}$ ) =  $\bigcap$  {FinBW( $\mathcal{I} \upharpoonright A$ ) :  $A \in \mathcal{I}^+$  }.
- (2) (a) hFinBW( $\rho$ )  $\subseteq$  FinBW( $\rho$ ).
  - (b)  $hFinBW(\mathcal{I}) \subseteq FinBW(\mathcal{I}).$
- (3)  $\operatorname{FinBW}(\mathcal{I}_{\rho}) \subseteq \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho)$  and  $\operatorname{hFinBW}(\mathcal{I}_{\rho}) \subseteq \operatorname{hFinBW}(\rho)$ .
- (4) FinBW( $\mathcal{I}$ ) = FinBW( $\rho_{\mathcal{I}}$ ) and hFinBW( $\mathcal{I}$ ) = hFinBW( $\rho_{\mathcal{I}}$ ).
- (5) (a) If  $\rho$  is K-homogeneous, then hFinBW( $\rho$ ) = FinBW( $\rho$ ).
  - (b) If  $\mathcal{I}$  is K-homogeneous, then hFinBW( $\mathcal{I}$ ) = FinBW( $\mathcal{I}$ ).

*Proof.* (1) and (2) Straightforward.

(3) It follows from Proposition 9.2(1a) (the other inclusion does not follow from Proposition 9.2(1b) as it gives us only an infinite set A, not necessarily  $A \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}^+$ ).

(4) It follows from Proposition 9.2(2).

(5a) We only need to show FinBW( $\rho$ )  $\subseteq$  hFinBW( $\rho$ ). Let  $X \in$  FinBW( $\rho$ ) and  $f : \rho(E) \to X$  be a  $\rho$ -sequence in X for some  $E \in \mathcal{F}$ . Let  $\phi : \Lambda \to \rho(E)$  be a witness for  $\rho \upharpoonright (\mathcal{F} \upharpoonright \rho(E)) \leq_K \rho$ . Since  $f \circ \phi : \Lambda \to X$ , there is  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $f \circ \phi \upharpoonright \rho(F)$  is  $\rho$ -convergent to some  $x \in X$ . Since  $\rho \upharpoonright (\mathcal{F} \upharpoonright \rho(E)) \leq_K \rho$ , there is  $G \in \mathcal{F} \upharpoonright \rho(E)$  such that for every finite set  $K \subseteq \Omega$  there is a finite set  $L \subseteq \Omega$  with  $\rho(G \setminus L) \subseteq \phi[\rho(F \setminus K)]$ . We claim that  $f \upharpoonright \rho(G)$  is  $\rho$ -convergent to x. Let U be a neighborhood of x. Then there is a finite set  $K \subseteq \Omega$  such that  $(f \circ \phi)[\rho(F \setminus K)] \subseteq U$ . We pick a finite set  $L \subseteq \Omega$  such that  $\rho(G \setminus L) \subseteq \phi[\rho(F \setminus K)]$ . Then  $f[\rho(G \setminus L)] \subseteq f[\phi[\rho(F \setminus K)]] \subseteq U$ , so the proof is finished.

(5b) It follows from items (5a) and (4) and Proposition 8.5(2).  $\Box$ 

*Remark.* In Theorem 10.2(3), we cannot replace inclusion with equality in general because in [55, Theorems 3 and 10] the author proved that  $FinBW(\mathcal{H})$  contains only finite Hausdorff spaces, whereas FinBW(FS) contains infinite (even uncountable) ones.

# Corollary 10.3.

- (1) [56, Proposition 4] hFinBW(W) = FinBW(W), and consequently the product of two van der Waerden spaces is van der Waerden.
- (2) [55, Lemma 8] hFinBW(FS) = FinBW(FS), and consequently the product of two Hindman spaces is Hindman.
- (3) [59, Theorem 3.4] hFinBW(r) = FinBW(r), and consequently the product of two Ramsey spaces is Ramsey.

*Proof.* It follows from Theorem 10.2(5) and Proposition 8.7.

Question 10.4 ([28, 30] and [71, Question 4.2.3]).

- (1) (a) Does FinBW( $\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$ ) = hFinBW( $\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$ )?
  - (b) Is the product of two  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$ -spaces an  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$ -space?
  - (2) (a) Does FinBW( $\Delta$ ) = hFinBW( $\Delta$ )?
    - (b) Is the product of two differentially compact spaces a differentially compact space?

Note that the positive answer to the question in item (1a) gives the positive answer to the question in item (1b), and similarly for the questions in the second item. Moreover, the positive answer to the Question 8.8(1) (Question 8.8(2), resp.) gives the positive answer to Question 10.4(2a) (Question 10.4(1a), resp.).

Let us now turn to one of the main result of this paper.

**Theorem 10.5.** Let  $\rho : \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  be partition regular with  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq [\Omega]^{\omega}$ .

- (1) FinBW( $\rho$ ) contains all finite spaces and is a subclass of the class of all sequentially compact spaces.
- (2)  $\rho$  is not tall  $\iff$  FinBW( $\rho$ ) coincides with the class of all sequentially compact spaces.
- (3) The following conditions are equivalent.
  - (a)  $\rho$  is  $P^{-}(\Lambda)$ .
  - (b) There are Hausdorff compact spaces of arbitrary cardinality that belong to FinBW( $\rho$ ).
  - (c) There exists an infinite Hausdorff topological space  $X \in FinBW(\rho)$ .
- (4) The following conditions are equivalent.
  - (a)  $\rho$  is  $P^-$ .
  - (b) There are Hausdorff compact spaces of arbitrary cardinality that belong to hFinBW( $\rho$ ).
  - (c) There exists an infinite Hausdorff topological space  $X \in hFinBW(\rho)$ .
- (5) If  $\rho$  is  $P^-$ , then
  - (a) the uncountable non-compact Hausdorff space  $X = \omega_1$  with the order topology belongs to FinBW( $\rho$ ),
  - (b) assuming Continuum Hypothesis (CH) there are Hausdorff compact and separable spaces of cardinality c that belong to FinBW( $\rho$ ).
- (6) If  $\rho$  is weak  $P^+$ , then every compact metric space is in hFinBW( $\rho$ ).
- (7) If  $\rho$  is  $P^+$ , then every Hausdorff topological space with the property (\*) belongs to hFinBW( $\rho$ ).

(A topological space X has the property (\*) if for every countable set  $D \subseteq X$  the closure  $cl_X(D)$  is compact and first-countable – see [56].)

*Proof.* (1) It follows from Proposition 9.2(1b).

(2) The implication " $\Leftarrow$ " will follow from Theorem 13.2(1). To prove the implication " $\Longrightarrow$ " we only need to show that every sequentially compact space belongs to FinBW( $\rho$ ). Fix a sequentially compact space X and  $f : \Lambda \to X$ . Let  $\phi : \Lambda \to \Lambda$  be a witness for  $\rho \leq_K \rho_{\text{Fin}(\Lambda)}$ . Since  $f \circ \phi : \Lambda \to X$ , there is an infinite set  $A \subseteq \Lambda$  such that  $(f \circ \phi) \upharpoonright A$  is convergent to some  $x \in X$ . Then

22

there is  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  with  $\rho(F) \subseteq \phi[A]$ . We claim that  $f \upharpoonright \rho(F)$  is  $\rho$ -convergent to x. Let U be any neighbourhood of x. Then there is a finite set  $L \subseteq \Lambda$  such that  $f[\phi[A \setminus L]] \subseteq U$ . Now, we can find a finite set  $K \subseteq \Omega$  such that  $\rho(F \setminus K) \subseteq \phi[A \setminus L]$ . Thus,  $f[\rho(F \setminus K)] \subseteq U$ .

(3) (a)  $\implies$  (b) Let  $\kappa$  be an infinite cardinal number. Let  $X = \kappa \cup \{\infty\}$  be the Alexandroff one-point compactification of the discrete space  $\kappa$ . Then X is Hausdorff, compact and has cardinality  $\kappa$ . Moreover, open neighborhoods of  $\infty$  are of the form  $X \setminus S$  where S is a compact (hence finite) subset of  $\kappa$ . We show that X is in FinBW( $\rho$ ). Let  $f : \Lambda \to X$ . If there is  $x \in X$  with  $f^{-1}[\{x\}] \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ , then we take  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\rho(F) \subseteq f^{-1}[\{x\}]$  and see that  $f \upharpoonright \rho(F)$  is  $\rho$ -convergent to x. Now, we assume that  $f^{-1}[\{x\}] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  for every  $x \in X$ . By Proposition 6.8, there is  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  such that for every finite set  $S \subseteq X$  there is a finite set  $K_S$  such that  $\rho(F \setminus K_S) \cap f^{-1}[S] = \emptyset$ . We claim that  $f \upharpoonright \rho(F)$  is  $\rho$ -convergent to  $\infty$ . Let Ube an open neighborhood of  $\infty$ . Let  $S \subseteq \kappa$  be a finite set with  $U = X \setminus S$ . Then  $f[\rho(F \setminus K_S)] \subseteq X \setminus S = U$ .

 $(b) \Longrightarrow (c)$  Obvious.

(c)  $\Longrightarrow$  (a) Suppose that  $\rho$  is not  $P^{-}(\Lambda)$  and let  $A_n \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}^+$  be the witnessing sequence, i.e.,  $A_0 = \Lambda$ ,  $A_{n+1} \subseteq A_n$ ,  $A_n \setminus A_{n+1} \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  and for each  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  there is  $n \in \omega$  such that  $\rho(F) \not\subseteq^{\rho} A_n$ . Note that  $\bigcap_{n \in \omega} A_n \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ .

Let X be an infinite Hausdorff topological space. We will show that  $X \notin \text{FinBW}(\rho)$ . If X is not sequentially compact, then  $X \notin \text{FinBW}(\rho)$  by item (1). If X is sequentially compact, then find any one-to-one sequence  $\{x_n : n \in \omega\}$  in X converging to some  $x \in X$ . Without loss of generality we may assume that  $x \neq x_n$  for all  $n \in \omega$ . Define  $f : \Lambda \to X$  by  $f \upharpoonright \bigcap_{n \in \omega} A_n = x_0$  and  $f(\lambda) = x_{n+1}$ , where n is such that  $\lambda \in A_n \setminus A_{n+1}$ . Suppose for the sake of contradiction that there are  $L \in X$  and  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $f \upharpoonright \rho(F) \rho$ -converges to L. By Proposition 9.2(1b) we get that either  $L = x_n$  for some  $n \in \omega$  or L = x.

If  $L = x_n$  for some  $n \in \omega$ , find open U and V such that  $x_n \in U, x \in V$  and  $U \cap V = \emptyset$ . Since  $x_m \in V$  (so  $x_m \notin U$ ) for almost all  $m \in \omega$  and  $f^{-1}[\{x_m\}] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  for all  $m \in \omega, f^{-1}[U] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ . Hence,  $f \upharpoonright \rho(F)$  cannot  $\rho$ -converge to  $x_n$ .

If L = x, we can find  $n \in \omega$  such that  $\rho(F) \not\subseteq^{\rho} A_n$ . Since X is Hausdorff, there is an open neighbourhood U of L such that  $x_{i+1} \notin U$  for all i < n. Since  $f \upharpoonright \rho(F)$  $\rho$ -converges to L, there should be a finite  $K \subseteq \Omega$  such that  $f[\rho(F \setminus K)] \subseteq U$ , however  $\rho(F \setminus K) \setminus A_n \neq \emptyset$  (by  $\rho(F) \not\subseteq^{\rho} A_n$ ), so  $f[\rho(F \setminus K)] \cap \{x_{i+1} : i < n\} \neq \emptyset$ , which contradicts  $x_{i+1} \notin U$  for all i < n.

(4) (a)  $\Longrightarrow$  (b) Notice that if X is the space defined in the proof of the implication (3a)  $\Longrightarrow$  (3b) then  $X \in \text{FinBW}(\rho)$  for every  $\rho$  that is  $P^{-}(\Lambda)$  (the definition of X did not depend on  $\rho$ ). Thus, if  $\rho$  is  $P^{-}$  then  $\rho \upharpoonright \rho(F)$  is  $P^{-}(\rho(F))$  for every  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  and consequently  $X \in \bigcap_{F \in \mathcal{F}} \text{FinBW}(\rho \upharpoonright \rho(F)) = \text{hFinBW}(\rho)$  (by Proposition 10.2(1a)).

 $(b) \Longrightarrow (c)$  Obvious.

(c)  $\implies$  (a) If  $\rho$  is not  $P^-$  then  $\rho \upharpoonright \rho(F)$  is not  $P^-(\rho(F))$  for some  $F \in \mathcal{F}$ . Hence, by item (3), FinBW( $\rho \upharpoonright \rho(F)$ ) contains only finite Hausdorff spaces. Since hFinBW( $\rho) \subseteq$  FinBW( $\rho \upharpoonright \rho(F)$ ) by Proposition 10.2(1a), hFinBW( $\rho$ ) also contains only finite Hausdorff spaces.

(5a) Let  $f : \Lambda \to \omega_1$ . If there is  $\alpha < \omega_1$  with  $f^{-1}[\{\alpha\}] \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ , then we take  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\rho(F) \subseteq f^{-1}[\{\alpha\}]$  and see that  $f \upharpoonright \rho(F)$  is  $\rho$ -convergent to  $\alpha$ . Now, we assume that  $f^{-1}[\{\alpha\}] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  for every  $\alpha < \omega_1$ . Since  $\Lambda$  is countable and the cofinality of  $\omega_1$  is uncountable, there is  $\alpha < \omega_1$  with  $f^{-1}[\alpha] \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ . Let  $\alpha_0$  be the smallest  $\alpha$  such that  $f^{-1}[\alpha] \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ . Note that  $\alpha_0$  is a limit ordinal. Indeed, if  $\alpha_0 = \alpha + 1$ , then  $\alpha < \alpha_0$  and  $f^{-1}[\alpha] = f^{-1}[\alpha_0] \setminus f^{-1}[\{\alpha\}] \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ , a contradiction. Since  $\alpha_0$  is a countable limit ordinal, there is an increasing sequence  $\{\beta_n : n \in \omega\}$  such that

 $\sup\{\beta_n : n \in \omega\} = \alpha_0$ . By Proposition 6.8, there is  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\rho(F) \subseteq f^{-1}[\alpha_0]$ and for each  $n \in \omega$  there is a finite set  $K_n$  such that  $\rho(F \setminus K_n) \cap f^{-1}[\beta_n] = \emptyset$ . We claim that  $f \upharpoonright \rho(F)$  is  $\rho$ -convergent to  $\alpha_0$ . Indeed, let U be a neighborhood of  $\alpha_0$ . Without loss of generality, we can assume that  $U = (\alpha_0 + 1) \setminus \beta_n$  for some  $n \in \omega$ . Then  $f[\rho(F \setminus K_n)] \subseteq \alpha_0 \setminus \beta_n \subseteq U$ .

(5b) Spaces with these properties are constructed in Theorem 14.5.

(6) Let  $f: \rho(E) \to X$  be a  $\rho$ -sequence in a metric compact space X.

Since  $\rho$  is weak  $P^+$ , there exists  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\rho(F) \subseteq \rho(E)$  and for every sequence  $\{F_n : n \in \omega\} \subseteq \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\rho(F) \supseteq \rho(F_n) \supseteq \rho(F_{n+1})$  for each  $n \in \omega$ there exists  $G \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\rho(G) \subseteq \rho(F)$  and  $\rho(G) \subseteq^{\rho} \rho(F_n)$  for each  $n \in \omega$ .

For  $x \in X$  and r > 0 we write B(x, r) and B(x, r) to denote an open and closed ball of radius r centered at a point x, respectively.

Since X is compact metric, there are finitely many  $x_i^0 \in X$ ,  $i < n_0$  such that  $X = \bigcup \{B(x_i^0, 1) : i < n_0\}$ . Then there exists  $i_0 < n_0$  such that  $\rho(F) \cap f^{-1}[B(x_{i_0}^0, 1)] \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ , and consequently there is  $F_0 \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\rho(F_0) \subseteq \rho(F) \cap f^{-1}[B(x_{i_0}^0, 1)]$ .

Since  $\overline{B}(x_{i_0}^0, 1)$  is compact metric, there are finitely many  $x_i^1 \in X$ ,  $i < n_1$ such that  $\overline{B}(x_{i_0}^0, 1) \subseteq \bigcup \{B(x_i^1, \frac{1}{2}) : i < n_1\}$ . Then there exists  $i_1 < n_1$  such that  $\rho(F_0) \cap f^{-1}[B(x_{i_1}^1, \frac{1}{2})] \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ , and consequently there is  $F_1 \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\rho(F_1) \subseteq \rho(F_0) \cap f^{-1}[B(x_{i_1}^1, \frac{1}{2})]$ .

If we continue the above procedure, we obtain  $F_n \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $x_{i_n}^n \in X$  such that  $\rho(F_n) \subseteq \rho(F_{n-1}) \cap f^{-1}[B(x_{i_n}^n, \frac{1}{n+1})]$  for each  $n \in \omega$  (assuming that  $F_{-1} = F$ ). Let  $x \in \bigcap\{\overline{B}(x_{i_n}^n, \frac{1}{n+1}) : n \in \omega\}$ .

Since  $\rho$  is weak  $P^+$ , we have  $G \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\rho(G) \subseteq \rho(F)$  and  $\rho(G) \subseteq \rho(F_n)$  for each  $n \in \omega$ .

We claim that  $f \upharpoonright \rho(G)$  is  $\rho$ -convergent to x. Let U be a neighborhood of x. Since the sequence  $(x_{i_n}^n)_{n \in \omega}$  is convergent to x, there is  $n_0 \in \omega$  such that  $B(x_{i_n}^n, \frac{1}{n+1}) \subseteq U$ for every  $n \ge n_0$ . Consequently, there is  $n \in \omega$  with  $B(x_{i_n}^n, \frac{1}{n+1}) \subseteq U$ . Let  $K \subseteq \Omega$ be a finite set such that  $\rho(G \setminus K) \subseteq \rho(F_n)$ . Then  $f[\rho(G \setminus K)] \subseteq f[\rho(F_n)] \subseteq$  $B(x_{i_n}^n, \frac{1}{n+1}) \subseteq U$ , so the proof is finished.

(7) Let  $E \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $f: \rho(E) \to X$  be a sequence in a Hausdorff topological space X having the property (\*). Since the set  $D = \{f(\lambda) : \lambda \in \rho(E)\}$  is countable, the closure  $\operatorname{cl}_X(D)$  is compact and first-countable. We claim that there exists  $L \in \operatorname{cl}_X(D)$  such that  $f^{-1}[U] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}^+$  for every neighborhood U of L.

Suppose, for sake of contradiction, that for every  $x \in cl_X(D)$  there is a neighborhood  $U_x$  of x such that  $f^{-1}[U_x] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ . Since  $cl_X(D)$  is compact, there are finitely many  $x_i \in cl_X(D)$  for i < n with  $cl_X(D) \subseteq \bigcup \{U_{x_i} : i < n\}$ . Then  $\rho(E) = \bigcup \{f^{-1}[U_{x_i}] : i < n\} \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ , a contradiction, so the claim is proved.

Let  $\{U_n : n \in \omega\}$  be a base at L. Without loss of generality, we can assume that  $U_n \supseteq U_{n+1}$  for each  $n \in \omega$ . For each  $n \in \omega$ , we define  $A_n = \{\lambda \in \rho(E) : f(\lambda) \in U_n\}$ . Since  $A_n \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}^+$  and  $A_n \supseteq A_{n+1}$  for each  $n \in \omega$ , using the fact that  $\rho$  is  $P^+$ , there exists  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\rho(F) \subseteq \rho(E)$  and  $\rho(F) \subseteq^{\rho} A_n$  for each  $n \in \omega$ . We claim that  $f \upharpoonright \rho(F)$  is  $\rho$ -convergent to L.

Take any neighborhood U of L. Then there exists  $n_0 \in \omega$  with  $U_{n_0} \subseteq U$ . Since  $\rho(F) \subseteq \rho A_{n_0}$ , there exists a finite set  $K \subseteq \Omega$  such that  $\rho(F \setminus K) \subseteq A_{n_0}$ . Thus  $f[\rho(F \setminus K)] \subseteq U_{n_0} \subseteq U$ , so the proof is finished.  $\Box$ 

The following series of corollaries shows that many known earlier results can be easily derived from Theorem 10.5.

**Corollary 10.6** ([26, Proposition 2.4]). If an ideal  $\mathcal{I}$  is not tall, then FinBW( $\mathcal{I}$ ) coincides with the class of all sequentially compact spaces.

*Proof.* It follows from Theorem 10.5(2) and Propositions 10.2(4) and 8.1.  $\Box$ 

**Corollary 10.7** ([61, Theorem 6.5]). Fin<sup>2</sup>  $\leq_K \mathcal{I} \iff$  FinBW( $\mathcal{I}$ ) coincides with the class of all finite spaces in the realm of Hausdorff spaces.

*Proof.* It follows from Theorem 10.5(3) and Propositions 7.1(1), 6.5(2), 10.2(4).

**Corollary 10.8.** Every metric compact space belongs to hFinBW( $\rho$ ) in case when

- (1)  $\rho = \rho_{\mathcal{I}} \text{ and } \mathcal{I} \text{ is } P^+ \text{ ideal,}$
- (2) [29, Theorem 2.3]  $\rho = \rho_{\mathcal{I}}$  and  $\mathcal{I}$  is an  $F_{\sigma}$  ideal,
- (3) [56, Theorem 10]  $\rho = \rho_{\mathcal{I}} \text{ and } \mathcal{I} = \mathcal{W},$
- (4) [29, Theorem 2.3]  $\rho = \rho_{\mathcal{I}}$  and  $\mathcal{I} = \mathcal{I}_{1/n}$ ,
- (5) [34, Theorem 2.5]  $\rho = FS$ ,
- (6) [6, Theorem 1] (see also [5, Theorem 1.16])  $\rho = r$ ,
- (7) [20, Corollary 4.8]  $\rho = \Delta$ .

*Proof.* It follows from Theorem 10.5(6), Propositions 6.7 and 6.5.

**Corollary 10.9.** Every Hausdorff space with the property (\*) belongs to  $hFinBW(\rho)$  in case when

- (1)  $\rho = \rho_{\mathcal{I}}$  and  $\mathcal{I}$  is  $P^+$  ideal,
- (2) [29, Theorem 2.3]  $\rho = \rho_{\mathcal{I}}$  and  $\mathcal{I}$  is an  $F_{\sigma}$  ideal,
- (3) [56, Theorem 10]  $\rho = \rho_{\mathcal{I}} \text{ and } \mathcal{I} = \mathcal{W},$
- (4) [29, Theorem 2.3]  $\rho = \rho_{\mathcal{I}}$  and  $\mathcal{I} = \mathcal{I}_{1/n}$ .

*Proof.* It follows from Theorem 10.5(7), Propositions 6.7 and 6.5.

In [55, Theorem 11] ([59, Corollary 3.2], resp.), the authors proved that every Hausdorff space with the property (\*) belongs to hFinBW(FS) (hFinBW(r), resp.). However, their proofs use properties very specific to FS and r. For instance, the proof for FS uses idempotent ultrafilters whereas the proof for r uses the bounding number  $\mathfrak{b}$ .

**Problem 10.10.** Find a property W of partition regular functions such that both FS and r have the property W and if  $\rho$  has the property W then every Hausdorff space with the property (\*) belongs to hFinBW( $\rho$ ).

In [20, Corollary 4.8], the author proved that every Hausdorff space with the property (\*) belongs to FinBW( $\Delta$ ).

**Question 10.11.** Does every Hausdorff space with the property (\*) belong to  $hFinBW(\Delta)$ ?

Note that the positive answer to Question 10.4(2a) gives the positive answer to Question 10.11.

# 11. INCLUSIONS BETWEEN FinBW CLASSES

**Theorem 11.1.** Let  $\rho_i : \mathcal{F}_i \to [\Lambda_i]^{\omega}$  be partition regular with  $\mathcal{F}_i \subseteq [\Omega_i]^{\omega}$  for each i = 1, 2. Let  $\mathcal{I}$  be an ideal on  $\Lambda$ .

(1)  $\rho_2 \leq_K \rho_1 \implies \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho_1) \subseteq \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho_2).$ 

(2) (a) If  $\rho_2$  is  $P^+$ , then

$$\mathcal{I}_{\rho_2} \leq_K \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1} \implies \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho_1) \subseteq \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho_2).$$

(b)  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_2} \leq_K \mathcal{I} \implies \operatorname{FinBW}(\mathcal{I}) \subseteq \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho_2).$ 

*Proof.* (1) Let  $\phi : \Lambda_1 \to \Lambda_2$  be a witness for  $\rho_2 \leq_K \rho_1$ . Let  $X \in \text{FinBW}(\rho_1)$ . If  $f : \Lambda_2 \to X$ , then  $f \circ \phi : \Lambda_1 \to X$ , so there is  $F_1 \in \mathcal{F}_1$  such that  $\rho_1(F_1) \subseteq \Lambda_1$  and  $(f \circ \phi) \upharpoonright \rho_1(F_1)$  is  $\rho_1$ -convergent to some  $x \in X$ .

Let  $F_2 \in \mathcal{F}_2$  be such that for every finite  $K_1 \subseteq \Omega_1$  there is a finite  $K_2 \subseteq \Omega_2$  with  $\rho_2(F_2 \setminus K_2) \subseteq \phi[\rho_1(F_1 \setminus K_1)].$ 

We claim that  $f \upharpoonright \rho(F_2)$  is  $\rho_2$ -convergent to x. Let U be a neighborhood of x. Since  $(f \circ \phi) \upharpoonright \rho_1(F_1)$  is  $\rho_1$ -convergent to x, then there is a finite set  $K_1 \subseteq \Omega_1$ such that  $(f \circ \phi)[\rho_1(F_1 \setminus K_1)] \subseteq U$ . Hence, we can find a finite  $K_2 \subseteq \Omega_2$  with  $\rho_2(F_2 \setminus K_2) \subseteq \phi[\rho_1(F_1 \setminus K_1)]$ . Then  $f[\rho_2(F_2 \setminus K_2)] \subseteq f[\phi[\rho_1(F_1 \setminus K_1)]] \subseteq U$ . That finishes the proof.

- (2a) It follows from Proposition 7.5(2a) and item (1).
- (2b) It follows from item (1) and Propositions 7.5(2b) and 10.2(4).  $\Box$

The following series of corollaries shows that many known earlier results as well as some new one can be easily derived from Theorem 11.1.

#### Corollary 11.2.

- (1) [71, p. 39] Every Hindman space is differentially compact.
- (2) Every Ramsey space is differentially compact.
- (3) Let  $\mathcal{I}$  be a  $P^+$  ideal.
  - (a) [22, Proposition 2.6] If  $\mathcal{I} \leq_K \mathcal{H}$  then every Hindman space is in FinBW( $\mathcal{I}$ ).
  - (b) If  $\mathcal{I} \leq_K \mathcal{R}$  then every Ramsey space is in FinBW( $\mathcal{I}$ ).
  - (c) If  $\mathcal{I} \leq_K \mathcal{D}$  then every differentially compact space is in FinBW( $\mathcal{I}$ ).
- (4) [61, Corollary 10.2(a)] If  $\mathcal{I}_i$  are ideals for i = 1, 2 and  $\mathcal{I}_2 \leq_K \mathcal{I}_1$ , then  $\operatorname{FinBW}(\mathcal{I}_1) \subseteq \operatorname{FinBW}(\mathcal{I}_2)$ .

*Proof.* (1) It follows from Theorems 11.1(1) and 7.7(3).

- (2) It follows from Theorems 11.1(1) and 7.7(4).
- (3) It follows from Theorem 11.1(2a) and Propositions 6.5(2) and 10.2(4).
- (4) It follows from Theorem 11.1(2b) and Proposition 10.2(4).

# Corollary 11.3.

- (1) Let  $\rho : \mathcal{F}_i \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  be a partition regular function.
  - (a) If  $\rho \leq_K \rho'$  for some weak  $P^+$  partition regular function  $\rho'$ , then every compact metric space belongs to FinBW( $\rho$ ).
  - (b) If  $\rho \leq_K \rho'$  for some  $P^+$  partition regular function  $\rho'$ , then every Hausdorff topological space with the property (\*) belongs to FinBW( $\rho_2$ ).
- (2) Let  $\mathcal{I}$  be an ideal. If an ideal  $\mathcal{I}$  can be extended to a  $P^+$  ideal, then:
  - (a) every compact metric space belongs to  $FinBW(\mathcal{I})$ ;
  - (b) [25, Corollary 5.6] every Hausdorff topological space with the property
    (\*) belongs to FinBW(I).

# *Proof.* (1) It follows from Theorems 11.1(1), 10.5(6)(7) and Proposition 10.2(2). (2) It follows from item (1), Propositions 6.5(2), 7.5(2b), 10.2(4).

The following proposition shows that when comparing classes  $\text{FinBW}(\rho_1)$  and  $\text{FinBW}(\rho_2)$  for distinct functions  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  we can in fact assume that both  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  "live" on the same sets  $\Omega$  and  $\Lambda$ .

**Proposition 11.4.** Let  $\rho : \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  be partition regular with  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq [\Omega]^{\omega}$ . Suppose that  $\Gamma$  and  $\Sigma$  are countable infinite sets and  $\phi : \Omega \to \Gamma$  and  $\psi : \Lambda \to \Sigma$  are bijections. Let  $\mathcal{G} = \{\phi[F] : F \in \mathcal{F}\}$  and  $\tau : \mathcal{G} \to [\Sigma]^{\omega}$  be given by  $\tau(G) = \psi[\rho(\phi^{-1}[G])]$ . Then

(1)  $\tau$  is partition regular,

- (2)  $\rho$  and  $\tau$  are Katětov equivalent:  $\rho \leq_K \tau$  and  $\tau \leq_K \rho$ ,
- (3)  $\rho$  and  $\tau$  are hereditary Katětov equivalent:
  - (a)  $\forall F \in \mathcal{F} \exists G \in \mathcal{G} (\rho \restriction \rho(F) \leq_K \tau \restriction \tau(G)),$
  - (b)  $\forall G \in \mathcal{G} \exists F \in \mathcal{F} (\tau \upharpoonright \tau(G) \leq_K \rho \upharpoonright \rho(F)),$
- (4)  $\operatorname{FinBW}(\tau) = \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho)$  and  $\operatorname{hFinBW}(\tau) = \operatorname{hFinBW}(\rho)$ .

*Proof.* Items (1)–(3) are straightforward, whereas item (4) follows from previous items and Proposition 11.1.  $\Box$ 

#### Part 3. Distinguishing between FinBW classes

In this part we are interested in finding spaces that are in FinBW( $\rho_1$ ), but are not in FinBW( $\rho_2$ ). Similar investigations concerning the classes FinBW( $\mathcal{I}$ ) were conducted in [61]. In that paper all the examples (showing that under some settheoretic assumption FinBW( $\mathcal{I}$ )  $\setminus$  FinBW( $\mathcal{J}$ )  $\neq \emptyset$  for some ideals  $\mathcal{I}$  and  $\mathcal{J}$ ) were inspired by [57] and are of one specific type – they are defined using *maximal* almost disjoint families. It turns out (see Theorem 13.2) that, in general, we cannot use *maximal* almost disjoint families to distinguish between FinBW( $\rho$ ) classes with the aid of spaces defined as in [61]. Fortunately, we managed to use *not necessary maximal* almost disjoint families to prove two main results of this part (Theorems 14.3 and 15.2), which give us FinBW( $\rho_1$ )  $\setminus$  FinBW( $\rho_2$ )  $\neq \emptyset$  for certain  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$ . Our methods were inspired by [59].

#### 12. MRÓWKA SPACES AND THEIR COMPACTIFICATIONS

For an *infinite* almost disjoint family  $\mathcal{A}$  on a countable set  $\Lambda$ , we define a set

$$\Psi(\mathcal{A}) = \Lambda \cup \mathcal{A}$$

and introduce a topology on  $\Psi(\mathcal{A})$  as follows: the points of  $\Lambda$  are isolated and a basic neighborhood of  $A \in \mathcal{A}$  has the form  $\{A\} \cup (A \setminus F)$  with F finite.

Topological spaces of the form  $\Psi(\mathcal{A})$  were introduced by Alexandroff and Urysohn in [1, chapter V, paragraph 1.3] (as noted in [15, p. 182], [14, p. 1380] and [45, p. 605]) and its topology is known as the *rational sequence topology* (see [72, Example 65]; the same topology was later described by Katětov in [52, p. 74]). Spaces  $\Psi(\mathcal{A})$  with *maximal* (with respect to the inclusion) almost disjoint families  $\mathcal{A}$  were first examined by Mrówka (see [67]) and Isbell (as noted in [37, p. 269]). It seems that the notation  $\Psi$  for these kind of spaces was used for the first time in [37, Problem 5I, p. 79].

Spaces of the form  $\Psi(\mathcal{A})$  are known under many names, including  $\Psi$ -spaces, *Isbell-Mrówka spaces* and *Mrówka spaces*. Recent surveys on these spaces and their numerous applications can be found in [45, 41].

It is known that  $\Psi(\mathcal{A})$  is Hausdorff, regular, locally compact, first countable and separable, but it is not compact nor sequentially compact (see [67] or [74, Section 11]). It is not difficult to see that  $A \cup \{A\}$  is compact in  $\Psi(\mathcal{A})$  for every  $A \in \mathcal{A}$  and for every compact set  $K \subseteq \Psi(\mathcal{A})$  both sets  $K \cap \mathcal{A}$  and  $(K \cap \Lambda) \setminus \bigcup \{A : A \in K \cap \mathcal{A}\}$  are finite. In particular, for every compact set  $K \subseteq \Psi(\mathcal{A})$  there are finitely many sets  $A_i \in \mathcal{A}$  and a finite set F such that  $K \subseteq \{A_i : i < n\} \cup \bigcup \{A_i \cup F : i < n\}$ . Let

$$\Phi(\mathcal{A}) = \Psi(\mathcal{A}) \cup \{\infty\} = \Lambda \cup \mathcal{A} \cup \{\infty\}$$

be the Alexandroff one-point compactification of  $\Psi(\mathcal{A})$  (recall that open neighborhoods of  $\infty$  are of the form  $\Phi(\mathcal{A}) \setminus K$  for compact sets  $K \subseteq \Psi(\mathcal{A})$ ). It is not difficult to see that  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  is Hausdorff, compact, sequentially compact, separable and first countable at every point of  $\Phi(\mathcal{A}) \setminus \{\infty\}$ .

Topological spaces of the form  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  with maximal almost disjoint families  $\mathcal{A}$ were first used by Franklin [31, Example 7.1] where the author used the notation  $\Psi^*$ instead of  $\Phi$ . Later, these spaces were considered in [36] where the authors use the notation  $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{A})$  and call them the Franklin compact spaces associated to  $\mathcal{A}$ , whereas in [35] the authors use the notation  $Fr(\mathcal{A})$  and call them the Franklin spaces of  $\mathcal{A}$ . The notation  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  for these spaces is used in the following papers [20, 22, 58, 61] Recently, spaces of the form  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  were also considered for non maximal almost disjoint families [59, 11].

It also makes sense to define  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  for infinite families  $\mathcal{A}$  that are *not* almost disjoint, but then  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  is no longer Hausdorff (almost disjointness of  $\mathcal{A}$  is a necessary and sufficient condition for a space  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  to be Hausdorff).

The following lemma (which will be used repeatedly in the sequel) shows that a sequence in a space  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  may fail to have a  $\rho$ -convergent  $\rho$ -subsequence only in one specific case. Hence, checking whether  $\Phi(\mathcal{A}) \in \text{FinBW}(\rho)$  will be reduced to considering only sequences of this one specific kind.

**Lemma 12.1.** Let  $\rho : \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  be partition regular with  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq [\Omega]^{\omega}$ . Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be an infinite almost disjoint family on  $\Lambda$ . For every sequence  $f : \Lambda \to \Phi(\mathcal{A})$ , the following five cases can only occur:

(1)  $f^{-1}(\infty) \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho},$ (2)  $f^{-1}[\mathcal{A}] \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho},$ (3)  $f^{-1}(\infty) \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}, f^{-1}[\mathcal{A}] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}, f^{-1}[\Lambda] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}^{*}$  and

- (a)  $f^{-1}(\lambda) \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  for some  $\lambda \in \Lambda$ , (b)  $f^{-1}(\lambda) \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  for every  $\lambda \in \Lambda$  and  $f^{-1}[A] \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  for some  $A \in \mathcal{A}$ ,
- (c)  $f^{-1}(\lambda) \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  for every  $\lambda \in \Lambda$  and  $f^{-1}[A] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  for every  $A \in \mathcal{A}$ .

If  $\rho$  is  $P^-$ , then in cases (1), (2), (3a) and (3b) there is  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $f \upharpoonright \rho(F)$ is  $\rho$ -convergent.

*Proof. Case (1).* There is  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $f \upharpoonright \rho(F)$  is constant (with the value  $\infty$ ), hence it is  $\rho$ -convergent.

Case (2). We find  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  with  $\rho(F) \subseteq f^{-1}[\mathcal{A}]$ . Then we enumerate  $f[\rho(F)] =$  $\{A_n : n \in \omega\}$  and define  $E_n = f^{-1}[\{A_n\}]$  for each  $n \in \omega$ .

If there is  $n_0 \in \omega$  such that  $E_{n_0} \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ , then we find  $F' \in \mathcal{F}$  with  $\rho(F') \subseteq E_{n_0}$ , and we see that  $f \upharpoonright \rho(F')$  is constant, so it is  $\rho$ -convergent.

Now assume that  $E_n \in \mathcal{I}_\rho$  for each  $n \in \omega$ . Since  $\rho(F) \subseteq \bigcup \{E_n : n \in \omega\}$ , we can use Proposition 6.8 to find  $E \in \mathcal{F}$  such that for each  $n \in \omega$  there is a finite set  $K \subseteq \Omega$ with  $\rho(E \setminus K) \subseteq \rho(F) \cap \bigcup \{E_i : i \geq n\}$ . We claim that  $f \upharpoonright \rho(E)$  is  $\rho$ -convergent to  $\infty$ . Let U be a neighborhood of  $\infty$ . Without loss of generality, we can assume that  $U = \Phi(\mathcal{A}) \setminus (\{A_i : i < n\} \cup \bigcup_{i \le n} A_i)$  for some  $n \in \omega$ . Let  $K \subseteq \Omega$  be a finite set such that  $\rho(E \setminus K) \subseteq \rho(F) \cap \bigcup \{E_i : i \ge n\}$ . Then  $f[\rho(E \setminus K)] \cap \{A_i : i < n\} = \emptyset$ , and consequently  $f[\rho(E \setminus K)] \subseteq U$ .

Case (3a). There is  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $f \upharpoonright \rho_1(F)$  is constant, hence it is  $\rho$ convergent.

Case (3b). Let  $A \in \mathcal{A}$  be such that  $f^{-1}[A] \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ . Using Proposition 6.8, we find  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\rho(F) \subseteq f^{-1}[A]$  and for every finite  $S \subseteq A$  there is a finite set  $K \subseteq \Omega$  with  $\rho(F \setminus K) \subseteq f^{-1}[A] \setminus f^{-1}[S] = f^{-1}[A \setminus S]$ . We claim that  $f \upharpoonright \rho(F)$  is  $\rho$ convergent to A. Indeed, let U be a neighborhood of A. Without loss of generality, we can assume that  $U = \{A\} \cup (A \setminus S)$  where S is a finite subset of A. Then we take a finite  $K \subseteq \Omega$  such that  $\rho(F \setminus K) \subseteq f^{-1}[A \setminus S]$ , so  $f[\rho(F \setminus K)] \subseteq A \setminus S \subseteq U$ .  $\Box$ 

**Proposition 12.2.** Let  $\rho : \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  be partition regular with  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq [\Omega]^{\omega}$ . Let  $\mathcal{A}$ be an infinite almost disjoint family of infinite subsets of  $\Lambda$ . If  $\rho$  is  $P^-$  and  $\mathcal{A}$  is countable, then  $\Phi(\mathcal{A}) \in \text{FinBW}(\rho)$ .

*Proof.* Let  $f : \Lambda \to \Phi(\mathcal{A})$ . By Lemma 12.1, we can assume that  $f^{-1}(\infty) \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ ,  $f^{-1}[\mathcal{A}] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ ,  $f^{-1}[\Lambda] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}^{*}$ ,  $f^{-1}(\lambda) \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  for every  $\lambda \in \Lambda$  and  $f^{-1}[\mathcal{A}] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  for every  $A \in \mathcal{A}$ .

Since  $f^{-1}[A] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  for every  $A \in \mathcal{A}$ , we can use Proposition 6.8 to find  $F \in \mathcal{F}$ such that  $\rho(F) \subseteq f^{-1}[\Lambda]$  and for any finite set  $\mathcal{A}' \subseteq \mathcal{A}$  there is a finite set  $K \subseteq \Omega$ with

$$\rho(F \setminus K) \cap f^{-1}\left[\bigcup \mathcal{A}'\right] = \rho(F \setminus K) \cap \left(\bigcup_{A \in \mathcal{A}'} f^{-1}[A]\right) = \emptyset$$

28

We claim that  $f \upharpoonright \rho(F)$  is  $\rho$ -convergent to  $\infty$ . Indeed, let U be a neighborhood of  $\infty$ . Without loss of generality, we can assume that there is a finite set  $\mathcal{A}' \subseteq \mathcal{A}$ such that  $U = \Phi(\mathcal{A}) \setminus (\mathcal{A}' \cup \bigcup \mathcal{A}')$ . Then we have a finite set  $K \subseteq \Omega$  such that  $\rho(F \setminus K) \cap f^{-1}[\bigcup \mathcal{A}'] = \emptyset$ , and consequently  $f[\rho(F \setminus K)] \subseteq U$ , so the proof is finished.  $\Box$ 

#### 13. Mrówka for maximal almost disjoint families

In [61] the author extensively studied FinBW( $\mathcal{I}$ ) spaces. In particular, for a large class of ideals, assuming the continuum hypothesis, he characterized in terms of Katětov order when there is a space in FinBW( $\mathcal{I}$ ) that is not in FinBW( $\mathcal{J}$ ). In his proofs the right space is always of the form  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  for some maximal almost disjoint family. In our paper we want to generalize results of [61] so that they will apply also for Hindman spaces, Ramsey spaces and differentially compact spaces. As we will see at the end of this section, our generalization requires going beyond maximal almost disjoint families (as always  $\Phi(\mathcal{A}) \notin \text{FinBW}(\rho)$  for maximal  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\rho \in \{FS, r, \Delta\}$  – see Corollary 13.3) and working with almost disjoint families that are not necessarily maximal.

**Lemma 13.1.** Let  $\rho : \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  be partition regular with  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq [\Omega]^{\omega}$ . Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be an almost disjoint family on  $\Lambda$ .

(1) If  $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  and

$$\forall F \in \mathcal{F} \, \exists A \in \mathcal{A} \, \forall K \in [\Omega]^{<\omega} \, (A \cap \rho(F \setminus K) \neq \emptyset),$$

then  $\Phi(\mathcal{A}) \notin \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho)$ .

(2) If  $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  and  $\mathcal{A}$  is a maximal almost disjoint family, then  $\Phi(\mathcal{A}) \notin \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho)$ .

*Proof.* (1) Let  $f : \Lambda \to \Phi(\mathcal{A})$  be given by  $f(\lambda) = \lambda$ . We claim that there is no  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $f \upharpoonright \rho(F)$  is  $\rho$ -convergent. Assume, for sake of contradiction, that there is  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $f \upharpoonright \rho(F)$  is  $\rho$ -convergent to some  $L \in \Phi(\mathcal{A})$ . We have three cases: (1)  $L \in \Lambda$ , (2)  $L \in \mathcal{A}$ , (3)  $L = \infty$ .

Case (1). The set  $U = \{L\}$  is a neighborhood of L. But for any finite set  $K \subseteq \Omega$  we have  $f[\rho(F \setminus K)] = \rho(F \setminus K) \not\subseteq \{L\} = U$ . Thus,  $f \upharpoonright \rho(F)$  is not  $\rho$ -convergent to L, a contradiction.

Case (2). The set  $U = L \cup \{L\}$  is a neighborhood of L. Since  $f \upharpoonright \rho(F)$  is  $\rho$ convergent to L, there is a finite set  $K \subseteq \Omega$  such that  $\rho(F \setminus K) = f[\rho(F \setminus K)] \subseteq U$ .
Thus,  $\rho(F \setminus K) \subseteq L$ , so  $L \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ , but  $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ , a contradiction.

Case (3). Let  $A \in \mathcal{A}$  be such that  $A \cap \rho(F \setminus K) \neq \emptyset$  for every finite set  $K \subseteq \Omega$ . The set  $U = \Phi(\mathcal{A}) \setminus (A \cup \{A\})$  is a neighborhood of  $\infty$ . Since  $f \models \rho(F)$  is  $\rho$ -convergent to L, there is a finite set  $K \subseteq \Omega$  such that  $\rho(F \setminus K) = f[\rho(F \setminus K)] \subseteq U$ . Hence,  $A \cap \rho(F \setminus K) = \emptyset$ , a contradiction.

(2) Let  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  and enumerate  $\Omega = \{o_n : n \in \omega\}$ . We pick inductively a point  $b_n \in \rho(F \setminus \{o_j : j < n\}) \setminus \{b_j : j < n\}$  for each  $n \in \omega$ . Then using maximality of  $\mathcal{A}$  we can find  $A \in \mathcal{A}$  such that  $A \cap \{b_n : n \in \omega\}$  is infinite. Thus, the condition form item (1) is satisfied, so the proof is finished.

**Theorem 13.2.** Let  $\rho : \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  be partition regular with  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq [\Omega]^{\omega}$ .

- (1) If  $\rho$  is tall (equivalently,  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  is a tall ideal), then there exists an infinite (even of cardinality c) maximal almost disjoint family  $\mathcal{A}$  on  $\Lambda$  such that  $\Phi(\mathcal{A}) \notin \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho)$ .
- (2) If  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  is not  $P^{-}(\Lambda)$  (equivalently,  $\operatorname{Fin}^{2} \leq_{K} \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ ), then  $\Phi(\mathcal{A}) \notin \operatorname{Fin}BW(\rho)$  for every infinite maximal almost disjoint family  $\mathcal{A}$  on  $\Lambda$ .

*Proof.* (1) It follows from Lemma 13.1(2), because in [26, Proposition 2.2], the authors proved that if an ideal  $\mathcal{I}$  is tall, then there exists an infinite maximal almost disjoint family  $\mathcal{A}$  of infinite subsets of  $\Lambda$  such that  $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{I}$ . If necessary, we can make  $\mathcal{A}$  to be of cardinality  $\mathfrak{c}$  (just take one set  $A \in \mathcal{A}$ , construct your favourite almost disjoint family  $\mathcal{B}$  of cardinality  $\mathfrak{c}$  on A, then any maximal almost disjoint family  $\mathcal{A} \cup \mathcal{B}$  is the required family). The equivalence of  $\rho$  being tall and  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  being a tall ideal follows from Proposition 8.1.

(2) The equivalence of  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  not being  $P^{-}(\Lambda)$  and  $\operatorname{Fin}^{2} \leq_{K} \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  follows from Proposition 7.1(1).

Let  $\phi: \Lambda \to \omega^2$  be a witness for  $\operatorname{Fin}^2 \leq_K \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ . In [2], the authors proved that we can assume that  $\phi$  is a bijection. For each  $n \in \omega$ , we define  $P_n = \phi^{-1}[\{n\} \times \omega]$ . Then  $\{P_n : n \in \omega\}$  is a partition of  $\Lambda$  and  $P_n \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho} \cap [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  for each  $n \in \omega$ . Let  $\mathcal{A} = \{A_{\alpha} : \alpha < |\mathcal{A}|\}$ . Since  $\mathcal{A}$  is infinite,  $|\mathcal{A}| \geq \omega$ . Let  $f : \Lambda \to \Phi(\mathcal{A})$  be a bijection such that  $f[P_n] = A_n \setminus \bigcup \{A_i : i < n\}$  for each  $n \in \omega$ . We claim that f does not have a  $\rho$ -convergent subsequence. Assume, for the sake of contradiction, that  $f \upharpoonright \rho(F)$  is  $\rho$ -convergent to some  $L \in \Phi(\mathcal{A})$  for some  $F \in \mathcal{F}$ . We have three cases: (1)  $L \in \Lambda$ , (2)  $L \in \mathcal{A}$ , (3)  $L = \infty$ .

Case (1). The set  $U = \{L\}$  is a neighborhood of L. But for any finite set  $K \subseteq \Omega$  we have  $f[\rho(F \setminus K)] \not\subseteq \{L\} = U$ . Thus,  $f \upharpoonright \rho(F)$  is not  $\rho$ -convergent to L, a contradiction.

Case (2). We have two subcases: (2a)  $\exists n \in \omega \ (L = A_n)$ , (2b)  $\exists \alpha \in |\mathcal{A}| \setminus \omega \ (L = A_\alpha)$ .

Case (2a). The set  $U = \{A_n\} \cup A_n$  is a neighborhood of L, so there is a finite set  $K \subseteq \Omega$  such that  $f[\rho(F \setminus K)] \subseteq U$ . Then  $f[\rho(F \setminus K)] \subseteq A_n$ , so  $\rho(F \setminus K) \subseteq f^{-1}[A_n] \subseteq \bigcup_{i \leq n} P_i \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ , a contradiction.

Case (2b). The set  $U = A_{\alpha} \cup \{A_{\alpha}\}$  is a neighborhood of L, so there is a finite set  $K \subseteq \Omega$  such that  $f[\rho(F \setminus K)] \subseteq U$ . Then  $f[\rho(F \setminus K)] \subseteq A_{\alpha}$ , so  $\rho(F \setminus K) \subseteq f^{-1}[A_{\alpha}]$ . Thus  $f^{-1}[A_{\alpha}] \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ , and consequently  $\phi[f^{-1}[A_{\alpha}]] \notin \operatorname{Fin}^2$ . On the other hand,  $A_{\alpha} \cap A_n$  is finite for each  $n \in \omega$ , so  $f^{-1}[A_{\alpha} \cap A_n]$  is finite, and consequently  $f^{-1}[A_{\alpha}] \cap P_n$  is finite for every  $n \in \omega$ . Thus,  $\phi[f^{-1}[A_{\alpha}]] \in \operatorname{Fin}^2$ , a contradiction.

Case (3). Using Proposition 9.2(1b) we find an infinite set  $B \subseteq \Lambda$  such that  $f \upharpoonright B$  is convergent to  $\infty$ . Since f is a bijection, f[B] is infinite. Thus, using maximality of  $\mathcal{A}$ , we find  $\alpha$  such that  $A_{\alpha} \cap f[B]$  is infinite. Since  $U = \Phi(\mathcal{A}) \setminus (\{A_{\alpha}\} \cup A_{\alpha})$  is a neighborhood of  $\infty$ , there is a finite set  $K \subseteq \Lambda$  such that  $f[B \setminus K] \subseteq U$ . Then  $A_{\alpha} \cap f[B \setminus K] = \emptyset$ , a contradiction.

Corollary 13.3. Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be an infinite maximal almost disjoint family.

- (1) Hindman spaces.
  - (a) [55, Theorem 10] If  $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{H}$ , then  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  is not a Hindman space.
  - (b) [22, Proposition 1.1]  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  is not a Hindman space.
- (2) Ramsey spaces.
  - (a) [59, Example 4.1] If  $\{\{n,k\} : k \in \omega \setminus \{n\}\} \in \mathcal{A}$  for every  $n \in \omega$ , then  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  is not a Ramsey space.
  - (b)  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  is not a Ramsey space.
- (3) Differentially compact spaces.
  - (a) [71, 4.2.2] or [20, Theorem 4.9] If  $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{D}$ , then  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  is not a differentially compact space.
  - (b) [58, Theorem 2.1]  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  is not a differentially compact space.
- (4) van der Waerden spaces.
- (a) [56, Theorem 6] If  $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{W}$ , then  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  is not a van der Waerden space. (5)  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$ -spaces.
  - (a) [29, Proposition 2.2] If  $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{I}_{1/n}$ , then  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  is not a  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$ -space.

- (6)  $\operatorname{FinBW}(\mathcal{I})$ .
  - (a) [29, Proposition 2.2] If  $\mathcal{I}$  is a tall  $F_{\sigma}$ -ideal on  $\Lambda$  and  $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{I}$ , then  $\Phi(\mathcal{A}) \notin \operatorname{FinBW}(\mathcal{I})$ .
  - (b) [26, Proposition 2.3] If  $\mathcal{I}$  is a tall ideal and  $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{I}$ , then  $\Phi(\mathcal{A}) \notin \operatorname{FinBW}(\mathcal{I})$ .

*Proof.* (1)–(6) In cases when we assume that  $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{I}$ , it follows from Lemma 13.1(2) along with Proposition 10.2(4) in some cases. In other cases, it follows from Theorem 13.2(2) and Proposition 7.2.

# 14. Distinguishing between FinBW classes via Katětov order on ideals

In this section we prove first of the two main results of this part and show its various particular cases and consequences. We will need the following two lemmas.

**Lemma 14.1.** Let  $\rho : \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  be partition regular with  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq [\Omega]^{\omega}$ . Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be an infinite almost disjoint family on  $\Lambda$  such that for every  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ -to-one function  $f : \Lambda \to \Lambda$  there is  $E \in \mathcal{F}$  such that the family

$$\{A \in \mathcal{A} : \forall K \in [\Omega]^{<\omega} (|A \cap f[\rho(E \setminus K)]| = \omega)\}$$

is at most countable. If  $\rho$  is  $P^-$ , then  $\Phi(\mathcal{A}) \in \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho)$ .

Proof. Let  $f : \Lambda \to \Phi(\mathcal{A})$ . By Lemma 12.1, we can assume that  $f^{-1}(\infty) \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ ,  $f^{-1}[\mathcal{A}] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ ,  $f^{-1}[\Lambda] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}^{*}$ ,  $f^{-1}(\lambda) \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  for every  $\lambda \in \Lambda$  and  $f^{-1}[\mathcal{A}] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  for every  $A \in \mathcal{A}$ . Then  $B = f^{-1}[\Lambda] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho}^{*}$  and  $f \upharpoonright B : B \to \Lambda$  is  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ -to-one.

We fix an element  $\lambda_0 \in \Lambda$  and define  $g : \Lambda \to \Lambda$  by  $g(\lambda) = f(\lambda)$  for  $\lambda \in B$  and  $g(\lambda) = \lambda_0$  otherwise. Then g is  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ -to-one, so there is  $E \in \mathcal{F}$  such that the family

$$\mathcal{C} = \{ A \in \mathcal{A} : \forall K \in [\Omega]^{<\omega} (|A \cap g[\rho(E \setminus K)]| = \omega) \}$$

is at most countable.

Since  $\rho(E) \cap B \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$  and  $\rho$  is  $P^-$ , we can use Proposition 6.8 to find  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\rho(F) \subseteq \rho(E) \cap B$  and for any finite sets  $S \subseteq \Lambda$  and  $\mathcal{T} \subseteq \mathcal{C}$  there is a finite set  $L \subseteq \Omega$  with

$$\rho(F \setminus L) \cap \left( f^{-1}[S] \cup \bigcup \left\{ f^{-1}[A] : A \in \mathcal{T} \right\} \right) = \emptyset.$$

We claim that  $f \upharpoonright \rho(F)$  is  $\rho$ -convergent to  $\infty$ . Indeed, let U be a neighborhood of  $\infty$ . Without loss of generality, we can assume that there is a finite set  $\Gamma \subseteq \mathcal{A}$  such that  $U = \Phi(\mathcal{A}) \setminus (\{A : A \in \Gamma\} \cup \bigcup \{A : A \in \Gamma\})$ .

For each  $A \in \Gamma \setminus C$ , there is a finite set  $K_A \subseteq \Omega$  such that  $A \cap f[\rho(F \setminus K_A)] = A \cap g[\rho(F \setminus K_A)]$  is finite. Then  $K = \bigcup \{K_A : A \in \Gamma \setminus C\} \subseteq \Omega$  is a finite set such that  $A \cap f[\rho(F \setminus K)]$  is finite for every  $A \in \Gamma \setminus C$ .

Then both  $S = f[\rho(F \setminus K)] \cap \bigcup \{A : A \in \Gamma \setminus C\}$  and  $\mathcal{T} = \Gamma \cap C$  are finite, so we can find a finite set  $L \subseteq \Omega$  such that

$$\rho(F \setminus L) \cap \left( f^{-1}[S] \cup \bigcup \left\{ f^{-1}[A] : A \in \mathcal{T} \right\} \right) = \emptyset,$$

and consequently we obtain a finite set  $K \cup L$  such that

 $f[\rho(F \setminus (K \cup L))] \subseteq \Lambda \setminus \bigcup \{A : A \in \Gamma\} \subseteq U.$ 

That finishes the proof.

Recall that  $\mathfrak{p}$  is the smallest cardinality of a family  $\mathcal{F}$  of infinite subsets of  $\omega$  with the strong finite intersection property (i.e. intersection of finitely many sets from  $\mathcal{F}$  is infinite) that does not have a pseudointersection (i.e. there is no infinite set  $A \subseteq \omega$  such that  $A \setminus F$  is finite for each  $F \in \mathcal{F}$ ; see e.g. [74]).

**Lemma 14.2** (Assume  $\mathfrak{p} = \mathfrak{c}$ ). Let  $\rho_i : \mathcal{F}_i \to [\Lambda_i]^{\omega}$  be partition regular with  $\mathcal{F}_i \subseteq [\Omega_i]^{\omega}$  for each i = 1, 2. Let  $\{f_{\alpha} : \alpha < \mathfrak{c}\}$  be an enumeration of all functions  $f : \Lambda_1 \to \Lambda_2$  and  $\mathcal{F}_2 = \{F_{\alpha} : \alpha < \mathfrak{c}\}$ .

If  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_2} \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$ , then there exist families  $\mathcal{A} = \{A_\alpha : \alpha < \mathfrak{c}\}$  and  $\mathcal{C} = \{C_\alpha : \alpha < \mathfrak{c}\}$ such that for every  $\alpha < \mathfrak{c}$ :

(1)  $C_{\alpha} \in \mathcal{F}_{1}$ , (2)  $f_{\alpha}[\rho_{1}(C_{\alpha})] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho_{2}}$ , (3)  $A_{\alpha} \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho_{2}} \cap [\Lambda_{2}]^{\omega}$ , (4)  $\forall \beta < \alpha (|A_{\alpha} \cap A_{\beta}| < \omega)$ , (5)  $\forall \gamma > \alpha (|A_{\gamma} \cap f_{\alpha}[\rho_{1}(C_{\alpha})]| < \omega)$ , (6)  $\forall L \in [\Omega_{2}]^{<\omega} (A_{\alpha} \subseteq^{*} \rho_{2}(F_{\alpha} \setminus L))$ .

*Proof.* Suppose that  $A_{\beta}$  and  $C_{\beta}$  have been constructed for  $\beta < \alpha$  and satisfy items (1)-(6).

First, we construct the set  $C_{\alpha}$ . Since  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_2} \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$ , there is a set  $C_{\alpha} \in \mathcal{F}_1$  such that  $f_{\alpha}[\rho_1(C_{\alpha})] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho_2}$ .

Now, we turn to the construction of the set  $A_{\alpha}$ . Let

$$\mathcal{D} = \{\Lambda_2 \setminus f_\beta[\rho_1(C_\beta)] : \beta < \alpha\} \cup \{\Lambda_2 \setminus A_\beta : \beta < \alpha\} \cup \{\rho_2(F_\alpha \setminus L) : L \in [\Omega_2]^{<\omega}\}.$$

Since  $\bigcap \{ \rho_2(F_\alpha \setminus L_i) : i < n \} \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho_2}^+$  for every  $n \in \omega$  and finite sets  $L_i \subseteq \Omega$ , and  $\Lambda_2 \setminus f_\beta[\rho_1(C_\beta)] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho_2}^*$  and  $\Lambda_2 \setminus A_\beta \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho_2}^*$  for every  $\beta < \alpha$ , we obtain that the intersection of finitely many sets from  $\mathcal{D}$  is in  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_2}^+$ . In particular, this intersection is infinite, so  $\mathcal{D}$  has the strong finite intersection property. Since  $|\mathcal{D}| < \mathfrak{c} = \mathfrak{p}$ , there exists an infinite set  $A \subseteq \Lambda_2$  such that  $A \subseteq^* D$  for every  $D \in \mathcal{D}$ . Since  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_2} \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$ , we obtain that the ideal  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_2}$  is tall, and consequently there is an infinite set  $A_\alpha \subseteq A$  such that  $A_\alpha \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho_2}$ .

It is not difficult to see, that the sets  $A_{\alpha}$  and  $C_{\alpha}$  satisfy all the required conditions, so the proof of the lemma is finished.

We are ready for the main result of this section.

**Theorem 14.3** (Assume CH). Let  $\rho_i : \mathcal{F}_i \to [\Lambda_i]^{\omega}$  be partition regular for each i = 1, 2. If  $\rho_1$  is  $P^-$  and  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_2} \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$ , then there exists an almost disjoint family  $\mathcal{A}$  such that  $|\mathcal{A}| = \mathfrak{c}$  and  $\Phi(\mathcal{A}) \in \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho_1) \setminus \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho_2)$ . In particular, there is a Hausdorff compact and separable space of cardinality  $\mathfrak{c}$  in  $\operatorname{FinBW}(\rho_1) \setminus \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho_2)$ .

*Proof.* Using Proposition 11.4 we can assume that  $\Lambda_1 = \Lambda_2 = \Lambda$ .

Let  $\{f_{\alpha} : \alpha < \mathfrak{c}\}$  be an enumeration of all functions  $f : \Lambda \to \Lambda$  and  $\mathcal{F}_2 = \{F_{\alpha} : \alpha < \mathfrak{c}\}$ . By Lemma 14.2, there exist families  $\mathcal{A} = \{A_{\alpha} : \alpha < \mathfrak{c}\}$  and  $\mathcal{C} = \{C_{\alpha} : \alpha < \mathfrak{c}\}$  such that for every  $\alpha < \mathfrak{c}$  all conditions of Lemma 14.2 are satisfied. We claim that  $\mathcal{A}$  is the required family.

First, we see that  $\mathcal{A}$  is an almost disjoint family on  $\Lambda$  by item (4) of Lemma 14.2,  $|\mathcal{A}| = \mathfrak{c}$  and  $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{I}_{\rho_2}$ . Second, CH together with item (5) of Lemma 14.2 ensures that

$$|\{\beta < \mathfrak{c} : \forall K \in [\Omega]^{<\omega} (|A_{\beta} \cap f_{\alpha}[\rho_1(C_{\alpha} \setminus K)]| = \omega)\}| \le |\alpha + 1| \le \omega$$

for each  $\alpha < \mathfrak{c}$ , so knowing that  $\rho_1$  is  $P^-$  we can use Lemma 14.1 to see that  $\Phi(\mathcal{A}) \in \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho_1)$ . Third, we use item (6) of Lemma 14.2 and Lemma 13.1(1) to see that  $\Phi(\mathcal{A}) \notin \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho_2)$ .

Now we want to show various applications of Theorem 14.3. Those applications can be divided into three parts. The first part concerns existence of a Hausdorff compact and separable space in FinBW( $\rho$ ). Before applying Theorem 14.3, we need to prove one more result.

**Proposition 14.4.** For every ideal  $\mathcal{I}$  there is an ideal  $\mathcal{J}$  such that  $\mathcal{J} \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}$ .

Proof. Suppose for the sake of contradiction that there is an ideal  $\mathcal{I}$  on  $\Lambda$  such that  $\mathcal{J} \leq_K \mathcal{I}$  for every ideal  $\mathcal{J}$ . Then for every maximal (with respect to inclusion) ideal  $\mathcal{J}$  on  $\omega$  there exists a function  $f_{\mathcal{J}} : \Lambda \to \omega$  such that  $f_{\mathcal{J}}^{-1}[A] \in \mathcal{I}$  for every  $A \in \mathcal{J}$ . Let  $\mathcal{K}(f_{\mathcal{J}}) = \{A \subseteq \omega : f_{\mathcal{J}}^{-1}[A] \in \mathcal{I}\}$ . Then  $\mathcal{K}(f_{\mathcal{J}})$  is an ideal and  $\mathcal{J} \subseteq \mathcal{K}(f_{\mathcal{J}})$ . Since  $\mathcal{J}$  is maximal,  $\mathcal{K}(f_{\mathcal{J}}) = \mathcal{J}$ . There are 2<sup>c</sup> pairwise distinct ultrafilters on  $\omega$  (see e.g. [49, Theorem 7.6]), so there are 2<sup>c</sup> pairwise distinct maximal ideals on  $\omega$  (given an ultrafilter  $\mathcal{U}$  on  $\omega$ , the family  $\{A \subseteq \omega : A \notin \mathcal{U}\}$  is a maximal ideal). However, there are only  $\mathfrak{c}$  many function from  $\omega$  into  $\omega$ , a contradiction.  $\Box$ 

**Theorem 14.5** (Assume CH). Let  $\rho : \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  be partition regular with  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq [\Omega]^{\omega}$ . If  $\rho$  is  $P^-$ , then there exists an almost disjoint family  $\mathcal{A}$  such that  $|\mathcal{A}| = \mathfrak{c}$  and  $\Phi(\mathcal{A}) \in \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho)$ . In particular, there is a Hausdorff compact and separable space of cardinality  $\mathfrak{c}$  in  $\operatorname{FinBW}(\rho)$ .

*Proof.* By Proposition 14.4 there is an ideal  $\mathcal{J}$  such that  $\mathcal{J} \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}_{\rho}$ , so Theorem 14.3 gives us an almost disjoint family  $\mathcal{A}$  such that  $|\mathcal{A}| = \mathfrak{c}$  and  $\Phi(\mathcal{A}) \in \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho) \setminus \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho_{\mathcal{J}})$ .

**Corollary 14.6** (Assume CH). There exists (for each item distinct) an almost disjoint family  $\mathcal{A}$  for which  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  is a Hausdorff compact and separable space of cardinality  $\mathfrak{c}$  such that:

- (1)  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  is a Hindman space,
- (2) [59, Theorem 4.7]  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  is a Ramsey space,
- (3)  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  is a differentially compact space,
- (4) [61, Theorem 5.3]  $\Phi(\mathcal{A}) \in \text{FinBW}(\mathcal{I})$ , where  $\mathcal{I}$  is a  $P^-$  ideal (in particular, if  $\mathcal{I}$  is a  $G_{\delta\sigma\delta}$  ideal).

*Proof.* Items (1), (2) and (3) follow from Theorem 14.5 and Proposition 6.7(3). Item (4) follows from Theorem 14.5 and Propositions 6.5(2) and 10.2(4), and the "in particular" part follows from Proposition 6.2(1).

The second part of applications of Theorem 14.3 concerns a special case when  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$  is  $P^-(\Lambda_1)$  while  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_2}$  is not  $P^-(\Lambda_2)$ .

**Theorem 14.7** (Assume CH). Let  $\rho_i : \mathcal{F}_i \to [\Lambda_i]^{\omega}$  be partition regular functions for each i = 1, 2. If  $\rho_1$  is  $P^-$ ,  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$  is  $P^-(\Lambda_1)$  (equivalently,  $\operatorname{Fin}^2 \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$ ) and  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_2}$  is not  $P^-(\Lambda_2)$  (equivalently,  $\operatorname{Fin}^2 \leq_K \mathcal{I}_{\rho_2}$ ), then there exists an infinite almost disjoint family  $\mathcal{A}$  of cardinality  $\mathfrak{c}$  such that  $\Phi(\mathcal{A}) \in \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho_1) \setminus \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho_2)$ . In particular, there is a Hausdorff compact and separable space of cardinality  $\mathfrak{c}$  in  $\operatorname{FinBW}(\rho_1) \setminus \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho_2)$ .

*Proof.* The equivalence of  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$  being  $P^-(\Lambda_1)$  and  $\operatorname{Fin}^2 \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$  follows from Proposition 7.1(1).

Since  $\operatorname{Fin}^2 \leq_K \mathcal{I}_{\rho_2}$  and  $\operatorname{Fin}^2 \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$ , we know that  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_2} \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$ , so Theorem 14.3 finishes the proof.

**Corollary 14.8** (Assume CH). There exists (for each item distinct) an almost disjoint family  $\mathcal{A}$  for which  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  is a Hausdorff compact and separable space of cardinality  $\mathfrak{c}$  and the following holds.

- (1)  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  is in FinBW( $\mathcal{I}$ ), where  $\mathcal{I}$  is a  $P^-$  ideal (in particular, if  $\mathcal{I}$  is a  $G_{\delta\sigma\delta}$  ideal), but  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  is not a:
  - (a) [61, Corollary 11.5] Hindman space,
  - (b) Ramsey space,
  - (c) differentially compact space.
- (2) (a) [57, Theorem 3] Φ(A) is a van der Waerden space that is not a Hindman space.

- (b) [29, Theorem 4.4]  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  is an  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$ -space that is not a Hindman space.
- (3) (a) [71, Theorem 4.2.2]  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  is a van der Waerden space that is not a differentially compace space.
  - (b) [58, Theorem 3.5]  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  is in FinBW( $\mathcal{I}$ ) but it is not a differentially compact space for any  $P^+$  ideal  $\mathcal{I}$  (in particular, for any  $F_{\sigma}$  ideal). For instance,  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  is an  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$ -space that is not a differentially compact space.

*Proof.* Item (1) follows from Theorem 14.7 and Propositions 7.2(2), 10.2(4) and 6.5(2), 6.1(1). Other items follow from item (1), Theorem 6.2(2) and Propositions 6.7(1), 6.1(1).

Now we deal with the third part of applications of Theorems 14.3, in which we need to use its full strength.

**Corollary 14.9** (Assume CH). There exists (for each item distinct) an almost disjoint family  $\mathcal{A}$  for which  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  is a Hausdorff compact and separable space of cardinality  $\mathfrak{c}$  such that

(1)  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  is a Ramsey space that is not a Hindman space;

(2)  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  is a Hindman space that is not a Ramsey space;

(3)  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  is a differentially compact space that is not a Hindman space;

(4)  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  is a differentially compact space that is not a Ramsey space.

*Proof.* It follows from Theorems 14.3 and 7.7 and Proposition 6.7(3).

*Remark.* The space from Corollary 14.9(3) yields the negative answer to [71, Question 4.2.2] (see also [20, Problem 1] and [58, Question 3]).

 $\Box$ 

# Corollary 14.10 (Assume CH).

- (1) If  $\mathcal{I}$  is an ideal such that  $\mathcal{I} \not\leq_K \mathcal{H}$  ( $\mathcal{I} \not\leq_K \mathcal{R}$ ,  $\mathcal{I} \not\leq_K \mathcal{D}$ , resp.), then there exists an almost disjoint family  $\mathcal{A}$  such that the Hausdorff compact and separable space  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  of cardinality  $\mathfrak{c}$  is a Hindman (Ramsey, differentially compact, resp.) space that is not in FinBW( $\mathcal{I}$ ).
- (2) There exists an almost disjoint family A such that the Hausdorff compact and separable space Φ(A) of cardinality c is a Hindman (Ramsey, differentially compact, resp.) space that is not an I<sub>1/n</sub>-space.
- Proof. (1) It follows from Theorem 14.3 and Propositions 6.7(3) and 10.2(4).(2) It follows from item (1) and Theorem 7.7.

Remark. In [22, Theorem 2.5], the authors constructed, assuming CH and  $\mathcal{I} \not\leq_K \mathcal{H}$ , a non-Hausdorff Hindman space that is not in FinBW( $\mathcal{I}$ ). Corollary 14.10(1) strengthens this result to the case of Hausdorff spaces. Taking  $\mathcal{I} = \mathcal{I}_{1/n}$ , they obtained a positive answer to the question posed in [27], namely they constructed a (non-Hausdorff) Hindman space which is not  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$ -space. In Corollary 14.10(2), we obtained a *Hausdorff* answer to the above mentioned question.

Corollary 14.11 (Assume CH).

- (1) [61, Theorem 9.3] If  $\mathcal{I}_1$  and  $\mathcal{I}_2$  are ideals such that  $\mathcal{I}_1$  is  $P^-$  (in particular, if  $\mathcal{I}_1$  is a  $G_{\delta\sigma\delta}$  ideal) and  $\mathcal{I}_2 \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}_1$ , then there exists an almost disjoint family  $\mathcal{A}$  such that the Hausdorff compact and separable space  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  of cardinality  $\mathfrak{c}$  belongs to FinBW( $\mathcal{I}_1$ ) \ FinBW( $\mathcal{I}_2$ ).
- (2) [29, Theorem 3.3] There exists an almost disjoint family A such that the Hausdorff compact and separable space Φ(A) of cardinality c is a van der Waerden space that is not an I<sub>1/n</sub>-space.

*Proof.* (1) It follows from Theorem 14.3 and Propositions 6.5(2), 10.2(4).

(2) It follows from item (1), Theorem 7.7(10) and Proposition 6.7(1).

34

#### 15. DISTINGUISHING BETWEEN FinBW CLASSES VIA KATĚTOV ORDER ON PARTITION REGULAR FUNCTIONS

In this section we prove the second of the main results of Part 3. Then we compare it with Theorem 14.3 and show that none of them can be derived from the other one. We start with a technical lemma.

**Lemma 15.1** (Assume CH). Let  $\rho_i : \mathcal{F}_i \to [\Lambda_i]^{\omega}$  be partition regular with  $\mathcal{F}_i \subseteq$  $[\Omega_i]^{\omega}$  for each i = 1, 2. Let  $\{f_{\alpha} : \alpha < \mathfrak{c}\}$  be an enumeration of all functions  $f: \Lambda_1 \to \Lambda_2$  and  $\{F_\alpha : \alpha < \mathfrak{c}\}$  be an enumeration of all sets  $F \in \mathcal{F}_2$  having small accretions.

If  $\rho_2$  is  $P^-$  and  $\rho_2 \not\leq_K \rho_1$ , then there exist families  $\mathcal{A} = \{A_\alpha : \alpha < \mathfrak{c}\}$  and  $\mathcal{C} = \{C_{\alpha} : \alpha < \mathfrak{c}\}$  such that for every  $\alpha < \mathfrak{c}$ :

(1)  $A_{\alpha} = \emptyset \lor A_{\alpha} \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho_2} \cap [\Lambda_2]^{\omega}$ ,

(2)  $\forall \beta < \alpha (|A_{\alpha} \cap A_{\beta}| < \omega),$ 

- (3)  $C_{\alpha} \in \mathcal{F}_1$ ,
- $(4) \quad \forall \overline{F} \in \mathcal{F}_2 \exists K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega} \, \forall L \in [\Omega_2]^{<\omega} \, (\rho_2(F \setminus L) \not\subseteq f_\alpha[\rho_1(C_\alpha \setminus K)]), \\ (5) \quad \forall \gamma > \alpha \, \exists K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega} \, (|A_\gamma \cap f_\alpha[\rho_1(C_\alpha \setminus K)]| < \omega),$
- (6)  $\exists \beta \leq \alpha \, \forall L \in [\Omega_2]^{<\omega} (A_\beta \cap \rho_2(F_\alpha \setminus L) \neq \emptyset).$

*Proof.* Suppose that  $A_{\beta}$  and  $C_{\beta}$  have been constructed for  $\beta < \alpha$  and satisfy all the required conditions.

First, we construct a set  $C_{\alpha}$ . Since  $\rho_2 \not\leq_K \rho_1$ , there is a set  $C_{\alpha} \in \mathcal{F}_1$  such that

$$\forall F \in \mathcal{F}_2 \,\exists K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega} \,\forall L \in [\Omega_2]^{<\omega} \,(\rho_2(F \setminus L) \not\subseteq f_\alpha[\rho_1(C_\alpha \setminus K)]).$$

Now, we turn to the construction of a set  $A_{\alpha}$ . We have two cases:

(1)  $\exists \beta < \alpha \,\forall L \in [\Omega_2]^{<\omega} (A_\beta \cap \rho_2(F_\alpha \setminus L) \neq \emptyset).$ 

(2)  $\forall \beta < \alpha \exists L_{\beta} \in [\Omega_2]^{<\omega} (A_{\beta} \cap \rho_2(F_{\alpha} \setminus L_{\beta}) = \emptyset).$ 

*Case (1).* We put  $A_{\alpha} = \emptyset$ . Then the sets  $A_{\alpha}$  and  $C_{\alpha}$  satisfy all the required conditions, so the proof of the lemma is finished in this case.

Case (2). Let  $\alpha = \{\beta_n : n \in \omega\}$ . Let  $\{L_n : n \in \omega\}$  be an increasing sequence of finite subsets of  $\Omega_2$  such that  $\bigcup \{L_{\beta_i} : i < n\} \subseteq L_n$  and  $\bigcup \{L_n : n \in \omega\} = \Omega_2$ . Notice that  $\rho_2(F_{\alpha} \setminus L_n) \cap \bigcup \{A_{\beta_i} : i < n\} = \emptyset$  for every  $n \in \omega$ .

We define inductively sequences  $\{E_n : n \in \omega\} \subseteq \mathcal{F}_2, \{K_n : n \in \omega\} \subseteq [\Omega_1]^{<\omega}$  and  $\{a_n : n \in \omega\} \subseteq \Lambda_2$  such that for every  $n \in \omega$  the following conditions hold:

- (i)  $\rho_2(E_{n+1}) \subseteq \rho_2(E_n) \subseteq \rho_2(F_\alpha)$ ,
- (ii)  $\rho_2(E_n) \subseteq \rho_2(F_\alpha \setminus L_n) \setminus f_{\beta_n}[\rho_1(C_{\beta_n} \setminus K_n)],$
- (iii)  $a_n \in \rho_2(E_n) \setminus \{a_i : i < n\}.$

Suppose that  $E_i$ ,  $K_i$  and  $a_i$  have been constructed for i < n and satisfy all the required conditions.

Since  $F_{\alpha}$  has small accretions, we obtain  $\rho_2(F_{\alpha} \setminus L_{n-1}) \setminus \rho_2(F_{\alpha} \setminus L_n) \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho_2}$ , and consequently  $\rho_2(E_{n-1}) \cap \rho_2(F_{\alpha} \setminus L_n) \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho_2}$  (in the case of n = 0 we put  $L_{-1} = \emptyset$ and  $E_{-1} = F_{\alpha}$ ). Let  $E \in \mathcal{F}_2$  be such that  $\rho_2(E) \subseteq \rho_2(E_{n-1}) \cap \rho_2(F_{\alpha} \setminus L_n)$ . We have 2 subcases:

(2a)  $\exists K_n \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega} (\rho_2(E) \setminus f_{\beta_n}[\rho_1(C_{\beta_n} \setminus K_n)] \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho_2}),$ (2b)  $\forall K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega} (\rho_2(E) \setminus f_{\beta_n}[\rho_1(C_{\beta_n} \setminus K)] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho_2}).$ 

Case (2a). We take  $E_n \in \mathcal{F}_2$  such that  $\rho_2(E_n) \subseteq \rho_2(E) \setminus f_{\beta_n}[\rho_1(C_{\beta_n} \setminus K_n)]$  and pick any  $a_n \in \rho_2(E_n) \setminus \{a_i : i < n\}$ . Then  $E_n$ ,  $K_n$  and  $a_n$  satisfy all the required conditions.

*Case (2b).* It will turn out, that this subcase is impossible. Let  $\{M_i : i \in \omega\}$  be an increasing sequence of finite subsets of  $\Omega_1$  such that  $\bigcup \{M_i : i \in \omega\} = \Omega_1$ .

We have 2 further subcases:

(2b-1)  $\bigcup \{ \rho_2(E) \setminus f_{\beta_n}[\rho_1(C_{\beta_n} \setminus M_i)] : i \in \omega \} \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho_2},$ 

(2b-2)  $\bigcup \{ \rho_2(E) \setminus f_{\beta_n}[\rho_1(C_{\beta_n} \setminus M_i)] : i \in \omega \} \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho_2}.$ 

Case (2b-1). Since  $\rho_2$  is  $P^-$ , there is  $G \in \mathcal{F}_2$  such that  $\rho_2(G) \subseteq \bigcup \{\rho_2(E) \setminus f_{\beta_n}[\rho_1(C_{\beta_n} \setminus M_i)] : i \in \omega\}$  and for every  $i \in \omega$  there is a finite set  $L \subseteq \Omega_2$  such that  $\rho_2(G \setminus L) \subseteq f_{\beta_n}[\rho_1(C_{\beta_n} \setminus M_i)]$ . On the other hand, from the inductive assumptions (more precisely: since  $C_{\beta_n}$  satisfies item 4), we know that there is a finite set K such that  $\rho_2(G \setminus L) \not\subseteq f_{\beta_n}[\rho_1(C_{\beta_n} \setminus K)]$  for any finite set L. Let  $i \in \omega$  be such that  $K \subseteq M_i$ . Then there is a finite set  $L \subseteq \Omega_2$  such that  $\rho_2(G \setminus L) \not\subseteq f_{\beta_n}[\rho_1(C_{\beta_n} \setminus K)]$  for any finite set  $L \subseteq L$  is  $\beta_{\beta_n}[\rho_1(C_{\beta_n} \setminus M_i)] \subseteq f_{\beta_n}[\rho_1(C_{\beta_n} \setminus K)]$ , a contradiction.

Case (2b-2). In this case, there is  $G \in \mathcal{F}_2$  such that  $\rho_2(G) \subseteq \rho_2(E) \setminus \bigcup \{\rho_2(E) \setminus f_{\beta_n}[\rho_1(C_{\beta_n} \setminus M_i)] : i \in \omega\} = \rho_2(E) \cap \bigcap \{f_{\beta_n}[\rho_1(C_{\beta_n} \setminus M_i)] : i \in \omega\}$ . From the inductive assumptions, we know that there is a finite set K such that  $\rho_2(G \setminus L) \not\subseteq f_{\beta_n}[\rho_1(C_{\beta_n} \setminus K)]$  for any finite set L. Let  $i \in \omega$  be such that  $K \subseteq M_i$ . Then  $\rho_2(G) \subseteq f_{\beta_n}[\rho_1(C_{\beta_n} \setminus M_i)] \subseteq f_{\beta_n}[\rho_1(C_{\beta_n} \setminus K)]$ , a contradiction.

The construction of  $E_n$ ,  $K_n$  and  $a_n$  is finished.

We define  $A = \{a_n : n \in \omega\}$ . Since  $\rho_2 \not\leq_K \rho_1$ , we obtain that  $\rho_2$  is tall. Thus  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_2}$  is a tall ideal (by Proposition 8.1). Since A is infinite, there is an infinite set  $A_{\alpha} \subseteq A$  such that  $A_{\alpha} \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho_2}$ .

It is not difficult to see, that the sets  $A_{\alpha}$  and  $C_{\alpha}$  satisfy all the required conditions, so the proof of the lemma is finished.

The main result of this section is as follows.

**Theorem 15.2** (Assume CH). Let  $\rho_i : \mathcal{F}_i \to [\Lambda_i]^{\omega}$  be partition regular for each i = 1, 2. If  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  are  $P^-$ ,  $\rho_2$  has small accretions and  $\rho_2 \not\leq_K \rho_1$ , then there exists an almost disjoint family  $\mathcal{A}$  such that  $|\mathcal{A}| = \mathfrak{c}$ ,  $\mathcal{A} \subseteq \mathcal{I}_{\rho_2}$  and  $\Phi(\mathcal{A}) \in \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho_1) \setminus \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho_2)$ . In particular, there is a Hausdorff compact and separable space of cardinality  $\mathfrak{c}$  in  $\operatorname{FinBW}(\rho_1) \setminus \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho_2)$ .

Proof. Using Proposition 11.4 we can assume that  $\Lambda_1 = \Lambda_2 = \Lambda$ . Let  $\{f_\alpha : \alpha < \mathfrak{c}\}$  be an enumeration of all functions  $f : \Lambda_1 \to \Lambda_2$  and  $\{F_\alpha : \alpha < \mathfrak{c}\}$  be an enumeration of all sets  $F \in \mathcal{F}_2$  having small accretions. By Lemma 15.1, there exist families  $\mathcal{A} = \{A_\alpha : \alpha < \mathfrak{c}\}$  and  $\mathcal{C} = \{C_\alpha : \alpha < \mathfrak{c}\}$  such that for every  $\alpha < \mathfrak{c}$  all the required conditions of Lemma 15.1 are satisfied. We claim that  $\mathcal{A} \setminus \{\emptyset\}$  is the required family.

First, we see that  $\mathcal{A} \setminus \{\emptyset\}$  is an almost disjoint family on  $\Lambda_2$  (by item (2) of Lemma 15.1) and  $\mathcal{A} \setminus \{\emptyset\} \subseteq \mathcal{I}_{\rho_2}$ .

Second, let CH together with item (5) of Lemma 15.1 ensures that

 $|\{\beta < \mathfrak{c} : \forall K \in [\Omega]^{<\omega} (|A_{\beta} \cap f_{\alpha}[\rho_1(C_{\alpha} \setminus K)]| = \omega)\}| \le |\alpha + 1| \le \omega$ 

for each  $\alpha < \mathfrak{c}$ , so knowing that  $\rho_1$  is  $P^-$  we can use Lemma 14.1 to see that  $\Phi(\mathcal{A}) \in \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho_1)$ .

Third, we use Lemma 13.1(1) along with item (6) of Lemma 15.1 and the fact that  $\rho_2$  has small accretions to see that  $\Phi(\mathcal{A}) \notin \text{FinBW}(\rho_2)$ .

Finally, using Proposition 12.2 we know that  $\mathcal{A}$  cannot be countable, so  $|\mathcal{A} \setminus \{\emptyset\}| = \mathfrak{c}$ .

Now we want to compare Theorem 15.2 with Theorem 14.3. Next two examples show that there are partition regular functions  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  satisfying the assumptions of Theorem 14.3 (so it gives us, under CH, a space in FinBW( $\rho_1$ ) \ FinBW( $\rho_2$ )), but not satisfying assumptions of Theorem 15.2 (i.e. we cannot apply it).

**Example 15.3.** There exist partition regular functions  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  such that  $\rho_1$  is  $P^-$ ,  $\rho_2$  is not  $P^-$  (so we cannot apply Theorem 15.2) and  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_2} \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\rho_1 = \rho_{\mathcal{I}_{1/n}}$  and  $\rho_2 = \rho_{\mathcal{H}}$ . By Theorem 6.7,  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$  is  $P^+$  (hence,  $P^-$ ) and  $\mathcal{H}$  is not  $P^-(\omega)$  (hence, not  $P^-$ ). Applying Proposition 6.5(2), we see that  $\rho_1$  is  $P^-$  and  $\rho_2$  is not  $P^-$ . By Theorem 7.7(12),  $\mathcal{H} \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}_{1/n}$ .

36

The above example may not be satisfactory as all Hausdorff spaces from the class FinBW( $\rho_2$ ) are finite (by Theorem 10.5(3) and Proposition 10.2(4)), so one could just use Theorem 10.5(3) instead of Theorem 14.3. The next example is more sophisticated.

**Example 15.4.** There exist partition regular functions  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  such that  $\rho_1$  is  $P^-$ ,  $\rho_2$  is not  $P^-$  (so we cannot apply Theorem 15.2),  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_2} \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$  and under CH there is a Hausdorff compact separable space of cardinality  $\mathfrak{c}$  in FinBW( $\rho_2$ ).

Proof. Let  $\rho_1 = \rho_{\mathcal{I}_{1/n}}$  and  $\rho_2 = \rho_{\text{conv}}$ , where conv is an ideal on  $\mathbb{Q} \cap [0, 1]$  consisting of those subsets of  $\mathbb{Q} \cap [0, 1]$  that have only finitely many cluster points in [0, 1]. Then, FinBW( $\rho_2$ ) = FinBW(conv) (Proposition 10.2(4)). Applying [61, Definition 4.3, Proposition 4.6 and Theorem 6.6], assuming CH, there is a Hausdorff compact separable space of cardinality  $\mathfrak{c}$  in FinBW( $\rho_2$ ). Moreover,  $\rho_1$  is  $P^-$  and  $\rho_2$  is not  $P^-$  (by Proposition 6.5(2), Theorem 6.7 and [61, proof of Proposition 4.10(b)]). Finally,  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_2} \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$  ([46, Section 2]).

Next example shows that there are partition regular functions  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  satisfying the assumptions of Theorem 15.2 (so it gives us, under CH, a space in FinBW( $\rho_1$ ) \FinBW( $\rho_2$ )), but not satisfying assumptions of Theorem 14.3 (i.e. we cannot apply it).

**Example 15.5.** There exist partition regular functions  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  with small accretions which are  $P^-$  and such that  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_2} \subseteq \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$  (in particular,  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_2} \leq_K \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$ , so we cannot apply Theorem 14.3), but  $\rho_2 \not\leq_K \rho_1$ .

*Proof.* Consider the ideal nwd =  $\{A \subseteq \mathbb{Q} \cap [0,1] : \overline{A} \text{ is meager}\}$ . Let  $\rho_2 = \rho_{nwd}$ .

Fix an almost disjoint family  $\mathcal{A}$  of cardinality  $\mathfrak{c}$ , enumerate it as  $\mathcal{A} = \{A_{\alpha} : \alpha < \mathfrak{c}\}$  and denote  $\mathcal{A}' = \{A \setminus K : A \in \mathcal{A}, K \in [\omega]^{<\omega}\}$ . Let  $I_n = [\frac{1}{n+2}, \frac{1}{n+1})$  for all  $n \in \omega$ . Enumerate also the set  $\mathcal{B} = \{B \subseteq \mathbb{Q} \cap [0, 1] : B \cap I_n \notin \text{nwd for infinitely many } n \in \omega\}$  as  $\{B_{\alpha} : \alpha < \mathfrak{c}\}$ . Let  $\rho_1 : \mathcal{A}' \to [\mathbb{Q} \cap [0, 1]]^{\omega}$  be given by  $\rho_1(A_{\alpha} \setminus K) = B_{\alpha} \setminus \bigcup_{n \in K} I_n$ .

Observe that  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_1} = \{A \subseteq \mathbb{Q} \cap [0,1] : \exists_{K \in \text{Fin}} \overline{A} \setminus \bigcup_{n \in K} I_n \text{ is meager}\}$ . Thus, nwd  $\subseteq \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$  and  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_2} \leq_K \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$ . Moreover, it is easy to see that  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  both have small accretions (in the case of  $\rho_2$  just apply Proposition 4.3). Since nwd is  $F_{\sigma\delta}$ (see [16, Theorem 3]), it is  $P^-$  (by Proposition 6.2(1)) and consequently  $\rho_2$  is  $P^-$ (by Proposition 6.5(2)).

Now we show that  $\rho_1$  is  $P^-$ . Suppose that  $\{C_n : n \in \omega\} \subseteq \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}^+$  is decreasing and such that  $C_n \setminus C_{n+1} \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$  for all  $n \in \omega$ . For each  $n \in \omega$  let  $T_n = \{i \in \omega : C_n \cap I_i \notin nwd\}$ .

Assume first that  $T = \bigcap_{n \in \omega} T_n$  is infinite. Since nwd is  $P^-$ , for each  $i \in T$  we can find  $D_i \notin \text{nwd}, D_i \subseteq I_i$  with  $D_i \subseteq^* C_n$  for all  $n \in \omega$ . Then for  $E = \bigcup_{i \in T} D_i \cap C_i$  we have  $E \in \mathcal{B}$  (as  $D_i \notin \text{nwd}$  and  $D_i \setminus C_i$  is finite for all  $i \in T$ ). Hence,  $E = B_\alpha$  for some  $\alpha < \mathfrak{c}$ . Moreover, for each  $n \in \omega$  we have  $\rho_1(A_\alpha \setminus n) = E \setminus \bigcup_{i < n} I_i = \bigcup_{i \in T, i > n} D_i \cap C_i \subseteq C_n$ .

Assume now that T is finite. Inductively pick  $i_n \in \omega$  and  $D_n \notin$  nwd such that  $i_{n+1} > i_n$  and  $D_n \subseteq I_{i_n} \cap C_n$  for all  $n \in \omega$ . Define  $E = \bigcup_{n \in \omega} D_n$  and note that  $E \in \mathcal{B}$ . Hence,  $E = B_\alpha$  for some  $\alpha < \mathfrak{c}$ . Moreover, for each  $n \in \omega$  we have  $\rho_1(A_\alpha \setminus i_n) = E \setminus \bigcup_{i < i_n} I_i = \bigcup_{i \ge n} D_i \subseteq C_n$ .

Finally, we will show that  $\rho_2 \not\leq_K \rho_1$ . Fix any  $f: \mathbb{Q} \cap [0,1] \to \mathbb{Q} \cap [0,1]$ . For each  $n \in \omega$  find  $r_n \in \mathbb{Q} \cap [0,1]$  such that  $f^{-1}[(r_n - \frac{1}{2^n}, r_n + \frac{1}{2^n})] \cap I_n \notin$  mwd. This is possible as [0,1] can be covered by finitely many intervals of the form  $(r - \frac{1}{2^n}, r + \frac{1}{2^n})$  and  $I_n \cap (\mathbb{Q} \cap [0,1]) \notin$  mwd. Since [0,1] is sequentially compact, there is an infinite  $S \subseteq \omega$  such that  $(r_n)_{n \in S}$  converges to some  $x \in [0,1]$ . Put  $F = \bigcup_{n \in S} f^{-1}[(r_n - \frac{1}{2^n}, r_n + \frac{1}{2^n})] \cap I_n$ . Then  $F \in \mathcal{B}$  (in particular,  $F \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}^+$ ), so  $F = B_\alpha$  for some  $\alpha < \mathfrak{c}$ .

Fix any  $E \in \text{nwd}^+$  and enumerate  $S = \{s_i : i \in \omega\}$  in such a way that  $s_i < s_j$ whenever i < j. Observe that  $E \cap ((r_{s_i} - \frac{1}{2^{s_i}}, r_{s_i} + \frac{1}{2^{s_i}}) \setminus \bigcup_{j > i} (r_{s_j} - \frac{1}{2^{s_j}}, r_{s_j} + \frac{1}{2^{s_j}}))$ is infinite for some  $i \in \omega$  as otherwise E would converge to x, so  $E \in \text{nwd}$ . We also that for every finite set  $L \in \mathbb{Q} \cap [0, 1]$  we have:

We claim that for every finite set  $L \subseteq \mathbb{Q} \cap [0, 1]$  we have:

$$E \setminus L = \rho_1(E \setminus L) \not\subseteq f[\rho_2(A_\alpha \setminus (s_i + 1))]$$
$$= f\left[F \setminus \bigcup_{j \le i} (f^{-1}[(r_{s_j} - \frac{1}{2^{s_j}}, r_{s_j} + \frac{1}{2^{s_j}})] \cap I_{s_j})\right].$$

Let  $L \subseteq \mathbb{Q} \cap [0,1]$  be a finite set. We will show that  $E \setminus L \not\subseteq f[F \setminus \bigcup_{j \leq i} (f^{-1}[(r_{s_j} - \frac{1}{2^{s_j}}, r_{s_j} + \frac{1}{2^{s_j}})]$ . Suppose that  $E \setminus L \subseteq f[F \setminus \bigcup_{j \leq i} (f^{-1}[(r_{s_j} - \frac{1}{2^{s_j}}, r_{s_j} + \frac{1}{2^{s_j}})]$ . Let

$$x \in E \cap \left( \left( r_{s_i} - \frac{1}{2^{s_i}}, r_{s_i} + \frac{1}{2^{s_i}} \right) \setminus \bigcup_{j > i} \left( r_{s_j} - \frac{1}{2^{s_j}}, r_{s_j} + \frac{1}{2^{s_j}} \right) \right) \setminus L \subseteq E \setminus L.$$

Then

$$\begin{aligned} x &\in f\left[F \setminus \bigcup_{j \leq i} \left(f^{-1}\left[\left(r_{s_j} - \frac{1}{2^{s_j}}, r_{s_j} + \frac{1}{2^{s_j}}\right)\right] \cap I_{s_j}\right)\right] \\ &= f\left[\bigcup_{j > i} \left(f^{-1}\left[\left(r_{s_j} - \frac{1}{2^{s_j}}, r_{s_j} + \frac{1}{2^{s_j}}\right)\right] \cap I_{s_j}\right)\right] \\ &\subseteq f\left[\bigcup_{j > i} \left(f^{-1}\left[\left(r_{s_j} - \frac{1}{2^{s_j}}, r_{s_j} + \frac{1}{2^{s_j}}\right)\right]\right)\right] \\ &= f\left[f^{-1}\left[\bigcup_{j > i} \left(r_{s_j} - \frac{1}{2^{s_j}}, r_{s_j} + \frac{1}{2^{s_j}}\right)\right]\right] \\ &\subseteq \bigcup_{j > i} \left(r_{s_j} - \frac{1}{2^{s_j}}, r_{s_j} + \frac{1}{2^{s_j}}\right).\end{aligned}$$

A contradiction.

н		
н		
ь		

#### Part 4. Characterizations

In the final part we want to characterize when  $\operatorname{FinBW}(\rho_1) \setminus \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho_2) \neq \emptyset$  in the cases of  $\rho_1 \in \{FS, r, \Delta\} \cup \{\rho_{\mathcal{I}} : \mathcal{I} \text{ is an idea}\}$ . In the realm of partition regular functions that are  $P^-$  and have small accretions we were able to obtain a full characterization (Theorem 16.1(1)) using Theorem 15.2. If  $\rho_1 = \rho_{\mathcal{I}}$  for some  $P^-$  ideal  $\mathcal{I}$ , then Theorem 14.3 gives us a complete characterization (Theorem 16.1(2b)) and this problem for  $\rho_1 = \rho_{\mathcal{I}}$  in the case of non- $P^-$  ideals  $\mathcal{I}$  is rather complicated (see [61] and Example 16.3). However, for instance in the case of  $\rho_1 = FS$  and  $\rho_2$  not being  $P^-$ , we needed another construction – we were able to obtain a characterization (Theorem 17.2), but only in the realm of spaces with unique limits of sequences (which are not necessarily Hausdorff).

# 16. Characterizations of distinguishness between FinBW classes via Katětov order

**Theorem 16.1** (Assume CH). Let  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  be partition regular functions. Let  $\mathcal{I}_1$  be an ideal.

(1) If  $\rho_1$  is  $P^-$  and  $\rho_2$  is  $P^-$  with small accretions, then

$$\rho_2 \not\leq_K \rho_1 \iff \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho_1) \setminus \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho_2) \neq \emptyset.$$

(2) (a) If  $\rho_1$  is  $P^-$  and  $\rho_2$  is  $P^+$ , then

$$\mathcal{I}_{\rho_2} \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1} \iff \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho_1) \setminus \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho_2) \neq \emptyset$$

(b) If  $\mathcal{I}_1$  is  $P^-$ , then

 $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_2} \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}_1 \iff \operatorname{FinBW}(\mathcal{I}_1) \setminus \operatorname{FinBW}(\rho_2) \neq \emptyset.$ 

Moreover, in every item an example showing that the above difference between FinBW classes is nonempty is of the form  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  with  $\mathcal{A}$  being almost disjoint and of cardinality  $\mathfrak{c}$  (in particular, these examples are Hausdorff, compact, separable and of cardinality  $\mathfrak{c}$ ).

*Proof.* (1) The implication " $\implies$ " follows from Theorem 15.2, whereas the implication " $\Leftarrow$ " follows from Theorem 11.1(1).

(2a) The implication " $\implies$ " follows from Theorem 14.3, whereas the implication " $\Leftarrow$ " follows from Theorem 11.1(2a).

(2b) It follows from Theorems 14.3, 11.1(2b), 10.2(4) and Proposition 6.5(2).  $\Box$ 

Next two examples show that in Theorem 16.1 we cannot drop the assumption that  $\rho_1$  is  $P^-$  and obtain a characterization in the realm of Hausdorff spaces.

**Example 16.2.** There exist partition regular functions  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  with small accretions such that:

- (1)  $\rho_1$  is not  $P^-$  and  $\rho_2$  is  $P^+$ ,
- (2)  $\rho_2 \not\leq_K \rho_1$ ,
- (3) there is no Hausdorff space in FinBW( $\rho_1$ ) \ FinBW( $\rho_2$ ).

Proof. Let  $\rho_1 = \rho_{\mathcal{H}}$  and  $\rho_2 = \rho_{\mathcal{I}_{1/n}}$ . Then  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  have small accretions (by Proposition 4.3). By Theorem 6.7,  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$  is  $P^+$  and  $\mathcal{H}$  is not  $P^-(\omega)$  (hence, not  $P^-$ ). Applying Proposition 6.5(2), we see that  $\rho_1$  is not  $P^-$  and  $\rho_2$  is  $P^+$ . By Theorem 7.7(8),  $\mathcal{I}_2 \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}_1$ , so  $\rho_2 \not\leq_K \rho_1$  (by Proposition 7.5(2b)).

By Theorem 10.5(3), FinBW( $\mathcal{H}$ ) contains only finite Hausdorff spaces. On the other hand, FinBW( $\mathcal{I}_2$ ) contains all finite spaces (Theorem 10.5(1)), so there is no Hausdorff space FinBW( $\mathcal{H}$ ) \ FinBW( $\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$ ). Applying Proposition 10.2(4), we obtain that there is no Hausdorff space in FinBW( $\rho_1$ ) \ FinBW( $\rho_2$ ).

The above example may not be satisfactory as all Hausdorff spaces from  $FinBW(\rho_1)$  are finite. The next example is more sophisticated.

**Example 16.3.** There exist partition regular functions  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  with small accretions such that:

- (1)  $\rho_1$  is not  $P^-$  and  $\rho_2$  is  $P^-$ ,
- (2) assuming CH, there is a Hausdorff, compact, separable space of cardinality c in FinBW(ρ<sub>1</sub>),
- (3)  $\rho_2 \not\leq_K \rho_1$ ,
- (4) there is no *Hausdorff* space in FinBW( $\rho_1$ ) \ FinBW( $\rho_2$ ).

Proof. Let  $\mathcal{I}$  and  $\mathcal{J}$  be the ideals from [61, Example 8.9] and define  $\rho_1 = \rho_{\mathcal{I}}$ and  $\rho_2 = \rho_{\mathcal{J}}$ . Then  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  have small accretions (by Proposition 4.3) and  $\mathcal{J} \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}$ , so  $\rho_2 \not\leq_K \rho_1$  (by Proposition 7.5(2b)). By [61, Example 10.6] and Proposition 10.2(4), there is no Hausdorff space in FinBW( $\rho_1$ ) \ FinBW( $\rho_2$ ). Applying [61, Theorem 6.6] and Proposition 10.2(4) we see that, assuming CH, there is a Hausdorff, compact, separable space of cardinality  $\mathfrak{c}$  in FinBW( $\rho_1$ ). Since  $\mathcal{J}$  is  $P^-$ ,  $\rho_2$  is  $P^-$  (by Proposition 6.5(2)) and  $\rho_1$  cannot be  $P^-$  as it would contradict Theorem 16.1(1). **Question 16.4.** Can we drop the assumption that  $\rho_2$  is  $P^-$  in Theorem 16.1 and obtain the characterization in the realm of Hausdorff spaces?

In Theorem 17.2, we show that we can drop the assumption that  $\rho_2$  is  $P^-$  in Theorem 16.1(1) and obtain a characterization in the realm of *non*-Hausdorff spaces with *unique limits* of sequences, but at the cost of requiring that  $\rho_1$  is weak  $P^+$  instead of  $P^-$ .

Now we present some applications of Theorem 16.1.

**Corollary 16.5** ([61, Theorem 10.4]). Assume CH. Let  $\mathcal{I}_1$  and  $\mathcal{I}_2$  be ideals. If  $\mathcal{I}_1$  is  $P^-$ , then the following are equivalent:

(1)  $\mathcal{I}_2 \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}_1$ ,

(2) FinBW( $\mathcal{I}_1$ ) \ FinBW( $\mathcal{I}_2$ )  $\neq \emptyset$ .

Moreover, an example showing that the above difference between FinBW classes is nonempty is of the form  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  with  $\mathcal{A}$  being almost disjoint and of cardinality  $\mathfrak{c}$  (in particular, these examples are Hausdorff, compact, separable and of cardinality  $\mathfrak{c}$ ).

*Proof.* It follows from Theorems 16.1(2b) and 10.2(4).

**Question 16.6.** Is every  $\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$ -space (Hindman space, Ramsey space) a van der Waerden space?

Note that under CH Theorem 16.1 reduces the above question to Question 7.8.

Corollary 16.7 (Assume CH). Let  $\mathcal{I}$  be an ideal.

- (1) If  $\mathcal{I}$  is  $P^-$ , then the following conditions are equivalent:
  - (a)  $\rho_{\mathcal{I}} \not\leq_K \text{FS} \ (\rho_{\mathcal{I}} \not\leq_K r, \ \rho_{\mathcal{I}} \not\leq_K \Delta, \ resp.).$
  - (b) There exists a Hindman (Ramsey, differentially compact, resp.) space that is not in FinBW(I).

Moreover, if  $\mathcal{I}$  is  $P^+$  then the above are equivalent to  $\mathcal{I} \not\leq_K \mathcal{H}$ .

- (2) If  $\mathcal{I}$  is  $P^-$ , then the following conditions are equivalent:
  - (a)  $\mathcal{H} \not\leq_K \mathcal{I} \ (\mathcal{R} \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}, \mathcal{D} \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}, resp.).$
  - (b) FS  $\not\leq_K \rho_{\mathcal{I}}$  ( $r \not\leq_K \rho_{\mathcal{I}}, \Delta \not\leq_K \rho_{\mathcal{I}}, resp.$ ).
  - (c) There exists a space in FinBW(I) that is not a Hindman (Ramsey, differentially compact, resp.) space.

Moreover, in every item an example showing that the above difference between FinBW classes is nonempty is of the form  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  with  $\mathcal{A}$  being almost disjoint and of cardinality  $\mathfrak{c}$  (in particular, these examples are Hausdorff, compact, separable and of cardinality  $\mathfrak{c}$ ).

*Proof.* It follows from Theorem 16.1(1) and Propositions 4.3, 6.5(2), 6.7(3), 7.5(2a)(2b) and 10.2(4).

*Remark.* In [22, Corollary 2.8], the authors obtained Corollary 16.7(1) in the case of Hindman spaces and  $P^+$  ideals but in the realm of *non*-Hausdorff spaces.

Corollary 16.8 (Assume CH). Let  $\mathcal{I}$  be an ideal.

- (1) The following conditions are equivalent:
  - (a)  $\mathcal{I} \not\leq_K \mathcal{W} (\mathcal{I} \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}_{1/n}, resp.).$
  - (b)  $\rho_{\mathcal{I}} \not\leq_K \rho_{\mathcal{W}} \ (\rho_{\mathcal{I}} \not\leq_K \rho_{\mathcal{I}_{1/n}}, \ resp.).$
  - (c) There exists a van der Waerden space  $(\mathcal{I}_{1/n}\text{-space})$  that is not in  $\operatorname{FinBW}(\mathcal{I})$ .
- (2) If  $\mathcal{I}$  is a  $P^-$  ideal, then the following conditions are equivalent:
  - (a)  $\mathcal{W} \not\leq_K \mathcal{I} (\mathcal{I}_{1/n} \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}, resp.).$
  - (b)  $\rho_{\mathcal{W}} \not\leq_K \rho_{\mathcal{I}} (\rho_{\mathcal{I}_{1/n}} \not\leq_K \rho_{\mathcal{I}}, resp.).$
  - (c) There exists a space in FinBW( $\mathcal{I}$ ) that is not a van der Waerden space  $(\mathcal{I}_{1/n}$ -space).

Moreover, in every item an example showing that the above difference between FinBW classes is nonempty is of the form  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  with  $\mathcal{A}$  being almost disjoint and of cardinality  $\mathfrak{c}$  (in particular, these examples are Hausdorff, compact, separable and of cardinality  $\mathfrak{c}$ ).

*Proof.* It follows from Theorem 16.1(1) and Propositions 4.3, 6.5(2), 6.7(1), 7.5(2b) and 10.2(4).

#### 17. Non-Hausdorff world

**Proposition 17.1.** The following conditions are equivalent for every topological space X.

- (1) X has unique limits of sequences.
- (2)  $\rho$ -limits of sequences in X are unique for every  $\rho$ .

*Proof.* Since  $\rho_{\text{Fin}}$ -convergence is convergence,  $(2) \Longrightarrow (1)$  is obvious.

(1)  $\Longrightarrow$  (2): We will show that the negation of (2) implies the negation of (1). Suppose that there are partition regular  $\rho : \mathcal{F} \to [\Lambda]^{\omega}$  with  $\mathcal{F} \subseteq [\Omega]^{\omega}$ ,  $F \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $\{x_n : n \in \rho(F)\} \subseteq X$  which  $\rho$ -converges to x and to y, for some  $x, y \in X, x \neq y$ . Let  $\{K_n : n \in \omega\} \subseteq [\Omega]^{<\omega}$  be nondecreasing and such that  $\bigcup_{n \in \omega} K_n = \Omega$ . For each  $n \in \omega$  inductively find any  $m_n \in \rho(F \setminus K_n) \setminus \{m_i : i < n\}$  (this is possible as  $\rho(F \setminus K_n)$  is infinite). Observe that the sequence  $(x_{m_n})_{n \in \omega}$  is convergent to x and to y.

The main result of this section is as follows.

**Theorem 17.2** (Assume CH). Let  $\rho_i : \mathcal{F}_i \to [\Lambda_i]^{\omega}$  be partition regular for each i = 1, 2. If  $\rho_1$  is weak  $P^+$  and has small accretions, then the following conditions are equivalent.

- (1)  $\rho_2 \not\leq_K \rho_1$ .
- (2) There exists a separable space X with unique limits of sequences such that  $X \in \text{FinBW}(\rho_1) \setminus \text{FinBW}(\rho_2).$

*Proof.* (2)  $\implies$  (1). It follows from Theorem 11.1(1).

(1)  $\implies$  (2). Fix a list  $\{f_{\alpha} : \alpha < \mathfrak{c}\}$  of all  $\mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$ -to-one functions  $f : \Lambda_1 \to \Lambda_2$ .

We will construct a sequence  $\{D_{\alpha} : \alpha < \mathfrak{c}\} \subseteq \mathcal{F}_1$  such that for every  $\alpha < \mathfrak{c}$  we have

$$\forall E \in \mathcal{F}_2 \exists K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega} \, \forall L \in [\Omega_2]^{<\omega} \, \left(\rho_2(E \setminus L) \not\subseteq f_\alpha[\rho_1(D_\alpha \setminus K)]\right)$$

and one of the following conditions holds:

$$\forall \beta < \alpha \, \forall M \in [\Lambda_2]^{<\omega} \, \exists K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega} \, (f_\alpha[\rho_1(D_\alpha \setminus K)] \cap (M \cup f_\beta[\rho_1(D_\beta \setminus K)]) = \emptyset)$$
  
or

(W2) 
$$\exists \beta < \alpha \, \forall K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega} \, \forall M \in [\Lambda_2]^{<\omega} \, \exists L \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega} \\ (f_\alpha[\rho_1(D_\alpha \setminus L)] \subseteq f_\beta[\rho_1(D_\beta \setminus K)] \setminus M).$$

Suppose that  $\alpha < \mathfrak{c}$  and that  $D_{\beta}$  have been chosen for all  $\beta < \alpha$ . Since  $\rho_2 \not\leq_K \rho_1$ , there is  $D^0 \in \mathcal{F}_1$  such that:

(A1) 
$$\forall E \in \mathcal{F}_2 \exists K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega} \forall L \in [\Omega_2]^{<\omega} \left( \rho_2(E \setminus L) \not\subseteq f_\alpha[\rho_1(D^0 \setminus K)] \right).$$

Since  $\rho_1$  has small accretions, there is  $D^1 \in \mathcal{F}_1$ ,  $D^1 \subseteq D^0$ , such that for every  $K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega}$  we have  $\rho_1(D^1) \setminus \rho_1(D^1 \setminus K) \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$ . Observe that  $D^1$  also has the property (A1) as  $f_{\alpha}[\rho_1(D^0 \setminus K)] \supseteq f_{\alpha}[\rho_1(D^1 \setminus K)]$  for every  $K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega}$ .

Since  $\rho_1$  is weak  $P^+$ , there is  $D \in \mathcal{F}_1$  such that  $\rho_1(D) \subseteq \rho_1(D^1)$  and satisfying property:

(A2) 
$$\forall \{F_n : n \in \omega\} \subseteq \mathcal{F}_1 \ (\forall n \in \omega \ (\rho_1(F_{n+1}) \subseteq \rho_1(F_n) \subseteq \rho_1(D)) \\ \implies \exists E' \in \mathcal{F}_1 \ \forall n \in \omega \ \exists K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega} \ (\rho_1(E' \setminus K) \subseteq \rho_1(F_n)).$$

Now we have 2 cases:

(P1) 
$$\forall D' \in \mathcal{F}_1 \,\forall \beta < \alpha \,(\rho_1(D') \subseteq \rho_1(D) \\ \implies \exists K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega} \,(\rho_1(D') \setminus f_\alpha^{-1}[f_\beta[\rho_1(D_\beta \setminus K)]] \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1})$$

 $\operatorname{or}$ 

(P2) 
$$\exists D' \in \mathcal{F}_1 \exists \beta < \alpha \ (\rho_1(D') \subseteq \rho_1(D) \\ \wedge \forall K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega} \ (\rho_1(D') \setminus f_\alpha^{-1}[f_\beta[\rho_1(D_\beta \setminus K)]] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1})$$

In the first case, let  $\{K_n : n \in \omega\} \subseteq [\Omega_1]^{<\omega}$  be such that  $\bigcup_{n \in \omega} K_n = \Omega_1$  and let  $\alpha \times [\Lambda_2]^{<\omega} = \{(\beta_n, M_n) : n \in \omega\}$ , taking into account that  $\alpha$  is countable (as we assumed CH). Using condition (P1) repeatedly and the facts that  $f_{\alpha}^{-1}[\{\lambda\}] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$ , for every  $\lambda \in \Lambda_2$ , and  $\rho_1(D^1 \setminus \Lambda) \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$ , for all  $K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega}$ , one can easily construct a sequence  $\{E_n : n \in \omega\} \subseteq \mathcal{F}_1$  such that

- (1)  $\rho_1(E_0) \subseteq \rho_1(D),$
- (2)  $\forall n \in \omega \left(\rho_1(E_{n+1}) \subseteq \rho_1(E_n)\right),$
- (3)  $\forall n \in \omega \exists K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega} \left(\rho_1(E_n) \cap f_\alpha^{-1}[M_n \cup f_{\beta_n}[\rho_1(D_{\beta_n} \setminus K)]] = \emptyset\right),$
- (4)  $\forall n \in \omega \, \rho_1(E_n) \cap \rho_1(D^1) \setminus \rho_1(D^1 \setminus K_n) = \emptyset.$

Now using property (A2) we find  $E' \in \mathcal{F}_1$  such that  $\rho_1(E') \subseteq \rho_1(D) \subseteq \rho_1(D^1)$  and for every  $n \in \omega$  there is  $K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega}$  with  $\rho_1(E' \setminus K) \subseteq \rho_1(E_n)$ . It is not difficult to see that  $D_{\alpha} = E'$  satisfies (A1) and (W1), i.e., it is as needed.

It is not difficult to see that  $D_{\alpha} = E'$  satisfies (A1) and (W1), i.e., it is as needed. Consider the second case. Let  $D' \in \mathcal{F}_1$  and  $\beta < \alpha$  be such that  $\rho_1(D') \subseteq \rho_1(D)$ and  $\rho_1(D') \setminus f_{\alpha}^{-1}[f_{\beta}[\rho_1(D_{\beta} \setminus K)]] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$  for each  $K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega}$ . Since  $f_{\alpha}^{-1}[\{\lambda\}] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$ for every  $\lambda \in \Lambda_2$ , we also have  $\rho_1(D') \setminus f_{\alpha}^{-1}[f_{\beta}[\rho_1(D_{\beta} \setminus K)] \setminus M] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$  for each  $K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega}$  and  $M \in [\Lambda_2]^{<\omega}$ . Recall also that  $\rho_1(D^1) \setminus \rho_1(D^1 \setminus K) \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$ , for all  $K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega}$ . Since  $\rho_1$  is  $P^-$  (by Proposition 6.5(1), as  $\rho_1$  is weak  $P^+$ ), we find an infinite set  $D'' \in \mathcal{F}_1$  such that

- $\rho_1(D'') \subseteq \rho_1(D'),$
- for every  $K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega}$  there is  $L \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega}$  with  $\rho_1(D'' \setminus L) \subseteq \rho_1(D^1 \setminus K)$ ,
- for every  $K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega}$  and  $M \in [\Lambda_2]^{<\omega}$  there is  $L \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega}$  with  $\rho_1(D'' \setminus L) \cap (\rho_1(D') \setminus f_\alpha^{-1}[f_\beta[\rho_1(D_\beta \setminus K)] \setminus M]) = \emptyset.$

It is not difficult to see that  $D_{\alpha} = D''$  satisfies (A1) and (W2).

The construction of sets  $D_{\alpha}$  is finished.

We are ready to define the required space. Let  $T=\{\alpha<\mathfrak{c}:D_\alpha \text{ satisfies (W1)}\}$  and

$$X = \Lambda_2 \cup \{\rho_1(D_\alpha) : \alpha \in T\} \cup \{\infty\}.$$

For every  $x \in X$  we define the family  $\mathcal{B}(x) \subseteq \mathcal{P}(X)$  as follows:

- $\mathcal{B}(\lambda) = \{\{\lambda\}\}$  for  $\lambda \in \Lambda_2$ ,
- $\mathcal{B}(\rho_1(D_\alpha)) = \{\{\rho_1(D_\alpha)\} \cup f_\alpha[\rho_1(D_\alpha \setminus K)] \setminus M : K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega}, M \in [\Lambda_2]^{<\omega}\}$ for  $\alpha \in T$ ,
- $\mathcal{B}(\infty) = \{\{\infty\} \cup \bigcup_{\alpha \in T \setminus F} U_{\alpha} : F \in [T]^{<\omega} \land U_{\alpha} \in \mathcal{B}(\rho_1(D_{\alpha})) \text{ for } \alpha \in T \setminus F\}.$

It is not difficult to check that the family  $\mathcal{N} = \{\mathcal{B}(x) : x \in X\}$  is a neighborhood system (see e.g. [15, Proposition 1.2.3]). We claim that X with the topology generated by  $\mathcal{N}$  is a topological space that we are looking for.

First we will show that X has unique limits of sequences. It is not difficult to see that  $X \setminus \{\infty\}$  is Hausdorff. Thus, it suffices to check that if  $\{x_n : n \in \omega\} \subseteq X$  converges to  $\infty$  then it cannot converge to any other point in X. Indeed, if  $\{x_n : n \in \omega\}$ 

 $n \in \omega$ } would converge to some  $\lambda \in \Lambda_2$  then it would have to be constant from some point on, so  $\{\infty\} \cup \bigcup_{\alpha \in T} (\{\rho_1(D_\alpha)\} \cup f_\alpha[\rho_1(D_\alpha)] \setminus \{\lambda\})$  would be an open neighborhood of  $\infty$  omitting almost all  $x_n$ 's. On the other hand, if  $(x_n)_{n \in \omega}$  would converge to some  $\rho_1(D_\alpha)$  for  $\alpha \in T$  then using (W1) for each  $\beta \in T \setminus \{\alpha\}$  we could find  $K_\beta \in [\Omega]^{<\omega}$  with  $f_\alpha[\rho_1(D_\alpha \setminus K_\beta)] \cap f_\beta[\rho_1(D_\beta \setminus K_\beta)] = \emptyset$ . Then, denoting  $M_\beta =$  $\{x_n : n \in \omega\} \setminus f_\alpha[\rho_1(D_\alpha \setminus K_\beta)]$  (which is a finite set, as  $\{\rho_1(D_\alpha)\} \cup f_\alpha[\rho_1(D_\alpha \setminus K_\beta)]$ is an open neighborhood of  $\rho_1(D_\alpha)$  and  $(x_n)_{n \in \omega}$  converges to  $\rho_1(D_\alpha)$ ), the set  $\{\infty\} \cup \bigcup_{\beta \in T \setminus \{\alpha\}} (\{\rho_1(D_\beta)\} \cup f_\beta[\rho_1(D_\beta \setminus K_\beta)] \setminus M_\beta)$  would be an open neighborhood of  $\infty$  omitting all  $x_n$ 's. Hence, X has unique limits of sequences.

Now we show that  $X \in \text{FinBW}(\rho_1)$ . Fix any  $f : \Lambda_1 \to X$ . If there is  $x \in X$ with  $f^{-1}[\{x\}] \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$  then find  $F \in \mathcal{F}_1$  with  $\rho_1(F) \subseteq f^{-1}[\{x\}]$  and observe that  $(f(n))_{n \in \rho_1(F)}$  is  $\rho_1$ -convergent to x. Thus, we can assume that  $f^{-1}[\{x\}] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$  for all  $x \in X$ . There are two possible cases:  $f^{-1}[X \setminus \Lambda_2] \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$  or  $f^{-1}[X \setminus \Lambda_2] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$ . If  $f^{-1}[X \setminus \Lambda_2] \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$  then we find  $F \in \mathcal{I}_1$  with  $\rho_1(F) \subseteq f^{-1}[X \setminus \Lambda_2]$ . As

If  $f^{-1}[X \setminus \Lambda_2] \notin \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$  then we find  $F \in \mathcal{F}_1$  with  $\rho_1(F) \subseteq f^{-1}[X \setminus \Lambda_2]$ . As  $f^{-1}[\{x\}] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$  for all  $x \in X$  and  $f^{-1}[\{x\}] \neq \emptyset$  only for countably many  $x \in X$ , using the fact that  $\rho_1$  is  $P^-$  (by Proposition 6.5(1)) we can find  $E \in \mathcal{F}_1$  with  $\rho_1(E) \subseteq \rho_1(F)$  and such that for each  $x \in X \setminus \Lambda_2$  there is  $K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega}$  with  $\rho_1(E \setminus K) \cap f^{-1}[\{x\}] = \emptyset$ . Since for each  $U \in \mathcal{B}(\infty)$  there are only finitely many  $\alpha \in T$  with  $\rho_1(D_\alpha) \notin U$ ,  $(f(n))_{n \in \rho_1(E)} \rho_1$ -converges to  $\infty$ .

If  $f^{-1}[X \setminus \Lambda_2] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$  then define  $g : \Lambda_1 \to \Lambda_2$  by  $g(\lambda) = f(\lambda)$  for all  $\lambda \in \Lambda_1 \setminus f^{-1}[X \setminus \Lambda_2]$  and  $g(\lambda) = x$  for all  $\lambda \in f^{-1}[X \setminus \Lambda_2]$ , where  $x \in \Lambda_2$  is a fixed point. Then there is  $\alpha < \mathfrak{c}$  with  $f_{\alpha} = g$ . We have two subcases:  $\alpha \in T$  and  $\alpha \notin T$ .

Assume  $\alpha \in T$ . Since  $\rho_1$  has small accretions, there is  $E \subseteq D_\alpha$ ,  $E \in \mathcal{F}_1$  such that  $\rho_1(E) \setminus \rho_1(E \setminus K) \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$  for all  $K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega}$ . Using that  $\rho_1$  is  $P^-$  (by Proposition 6.5(1)), we find  $D \in \mathcal{F}_1$  such that

- $\rho_1(D) \subseteq \rho_1(E) \setminus f^{-1}[X \setminus \Lambda_2],$
- for each  $K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega}$  there is  $L \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega}$  with  $\rho_1(D \setminus L) \subseteq \rho_1(E \setminus K) \subseteq \rho_1(D_\alpha \setminus K)$ ,
- for each  $M \in [\Lambda_2]^{<\omega}$  there is  $L \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega}$  with  $\rho_1(D \setminus L) \cap f^{-1}[M] = \emptyset$ .

Since each  $U \in \mathcal{B}(\rho_1(D_\alpha))$  is of the form  $\{\rho_1(D_\alpha)\} \cup f_\alpha[\rho_1(D_\alpha \setminus K)] \setminus M$  for some  $K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega}$  and  $M \in [\Lambda_2]^{<\omega}$ , the subsequence  $(f(n))_{n \in \rho_1(D)} \rho_1$ -converges to  $\rho_1(D_\alpha)$ .

Assume  $\alpha \notin T$ . Then there is  $\beta < \alpha, \beta \in T$  such that

$$\forall K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega} \,\forall M \in [\Lambda_2]^{<\omega} \,\exists L \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega} \,(f_\alpha[\rho_1(D_\alpha \setminus L)] \subseteq f_\beta[\rho_1(D_\beta \setminus K)] \setminus M)$$

(we take the minimal  $\beta < \alpha$  satisfying property (W2)). Since each open neighborhood of  $\rho_1(D_\beta)$  is of the form  $\{\rho_1(D_\beta)\} \cup f_\beta[\rho_1(D_\beta \setminus K)] \setminus M$  for some  $K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega}$  and  $M \in [\Lambda_2]^{<\omega}$ ,  $(f_\alpha(n))_{n \in \rho_1(D_\alpha)} \rho_1$ -converges to  $\rho_1(D_\beta) \in X$ . Since  $\rho_1$  has small accretions, there is  $E \subseteq D_\alpha$ ,  $E \in \mathcal{F}_1$  such that  $\rho_1(E) \setminus \rho_1(E \setminus K) \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$  for all  $K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega}$ . Then also  $(f_\alpha(n))_{n \in \rho_1(E)} \rho_1$ -converges to  $\rho_1(D_\beta) \in X$ . Finally, since  $f^{-1}[X \setminus \Lambda_2] \in \mathcal{I}_{\rho_1}$ , using that  $\rho_1$  is  $P^-$  (by Proposition 6.5(1)), we get  $E' \in \mathcal{F}_1$  such that  $\rho_1(E') \subseteq \rho_1(E) \setminus f^{-1}[X \setminus \Lambda_2]$  and for each  $K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega}$  there is  $L \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega}$  with  $\rho_1(E' \setminus L) \subseteq \rho_1(E \setminus K)$ . It is easy to see that  $f_\alpha \upharpoonright \rho_1(E') = f \upharpoonright \rho_1(E')$  and  $(f_\alpha(n))_{n \in \rho_1(E')} \rho_1$ -converges to  $\rho_1(D_\beta) \in X$ .

Finally, we check that  $X \notin \text{FinBW}(\rho_2)$ . Define  $f : \Lambda_2 \to X$  by  $f(\lambda) = \lambda$  for all  $\lambda \in \Lambda_2$  and fix any  $E \in \mathcal{F}_2$ . We claim that  $(f(n))_{n \in \rho_2(E)}$  does not  $\rho_2$ -converge. Clearly, it cannot converge to any  $x \in \Lambda_2$ . Moreover, it cannot converge to any  $\rho_1(D_\alpha)$  for  $\alpha \in T$  as property (A1) guarantees that for some  $K \in [\Omega_1]^{<\omega}$  we have  $\rho_2(E \setminus L) \not\subseteq f_\alpha[\rho_1(D_\alpha \setminus K)]$  for all  $L \in [\Omega_2]^{<\omega}$ , so  $U = \{\rho_1(D_\alpha)\} \cup f_\alpha[\rho_1(D_\alpha \setminus K)]$  would be an open neighborhood of  $\rho_1(D_\alpha)$  such that  $\rho_2(E \setminus L) \subseteq U$  for no  $L \in [\Omega_2]^{<\omega}$ .

We will show that  $(f(n))_{n \in \rho_2(E)}$  cannot  $\rho_2$ -converge to  $\infty$ . Suppose otherwise, let  $\{L_n : n \in \omega\} \subseteq [\Omega_2]^{<\omega}$  be such that  $\bigcup_{n \in \omega} L_n = \Omega_2$  and inductively pick  $m_n \in \rho_2(E \setminus L_n) \setminus \{m_i : i < n\}$ . Then  $(f(m_n))_{n \in \omega}$  is convergent to  $\infty$ . However, if  $g : \Lambda_1 \to \{f(m_n) : n \in \omega\}$  is any bijection (the set  $\{f(m_n) : n \in \omega\}$  is infinite since f is one-to-one) then  $g = f_\alpha$  for some  $\alpha$ . If  $\alpha \in T$  then in  $(f(m_n))_{n \in \omega}$  we could find a subsequence converging to  $\rho_1(D_\alpha)$  (in the same way as above when showing that  $X \in \text{FinBW}(\rho_1)$  in the case of  $\alpha \in T$ ) which contradicts that X has unique limits of sequences. If  $\alpha \notin T$  then in  $(f(m_n))_{n \in \omega}$  we could find a subsequence converging to  $\rho_1(D_\beta)$  for some  $\beta < \alpha, \beta \in T$  (in the same way as above when showing that  $X \in \text{FinBW}(\rho_1)$  in the case of  $\alpha \notin T$ ) which also contradicts that X has unique limits of sequences.  $\Box$ 

# 18. HINDMAN (RAMSEY, DIFFERENTIALLY COMPACT) SPACES THAT ARE NOT IN $FinBW(\mathcal{I})$ and vice versa

Now we turn our attention to the question when there is a space in  $FinBW(\mathcal{I})$  that is not Hindman (Ramsey, differentially compact, resp.) and vice versa in the case when  $\mathcal{I}$  is an arbitrary ideal.

**Corollary 18.1** (Assume CH). For each ideal  $\mathcal{I}$  and  $\rho \in \{FS, r, \Delta\}$  the following conditions are equivalent.

- (1)  $\rho_{\mathcal{I}} \not\leq_K \rho$ .
- (2) There exists a Hindman (Ramsey, differentially compact, resp.) space that is not in FinBW(I).

Moreover, an example showing that the above difference between FinBW classes is nonempty is separable and has unique limits of sequences. If  $\mathcal{I}$  is  $P^-$ , then this example is of the form  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  with  $\mathcal{A}$  being almost disjoint of cardinality  $\mathfrak{c}$  (in particular, it is Hausdorff, compact, separable and of cardinality  $\mathfrak{c}$ ).

*Proof.* It follows from Theorem 17.2 and Proposition 10.2(4) as each  $\rho \in \{FS, r, \Delta\}$  is weak  $P^+$  (by Theorem 6.7(3)) and has small accretions (by Proposition 4.3). The case of  $P^-$  ideals  $\mathcal{I}$  follows from Corollary 16.7(1).

In [61, Definition 4.1], the author introduced the following ideal

 $\mathcal{BI} = \left\{ A \subseteq \omega^3 : \exists k \left[ \forall i < k \left( A_{(i)} \in \operatorname{Fin}^2 \right) \land \forall i \ge k \left( A_{(i)} \in \operatorname{Fin}(\omega^2) \right) \right] \right\}$ 

where  $A_{(i)} = \{(x, y) \in \omega^2 : (i, x, y) \in A\}$ . The ideal  $\mathcal{BI}$  proved to be useful in research of FinBW( $\mathcal{I}$ ) spaces (see [61] for more details).

**Corollary 18.2** (Assume CH). For each ideal  $\mathcal{I}$ , the following conditions are equivalent.

- (1)  $\mathcal{BI} \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}$ .
- (2) There exists a space in FinBW(I) that is not a Hindman (Ramsey, differentially compact, resp.) space.

Moreover, an example showing that the above difference between FinBW classes is nonempty is of the form  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  with  $\mathcal{A}$  being infinite maximal almost disjoint (in particular, it is Hausdorff, compact, separable and of cadinality  $\mathfrak{c}$ ).

*Proof.* (1)  $\implies$  (2) In [61, Theorem 5.3], the author proved that if  $\mathcal{BI} \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}$  then there exists an infinite maximal almost disjoint family  $\mathcal{A}$  such that  $\Phi(\mathcal{A}) \in \operatorname{FinBW}(\mathcal{I})$ . Then Corollary 13.3 shows that  $\Phi(\mathcal{A})$  is not Hindman (Ramsey nor differentially compact).

(2)  $\implies$  (1) Using [61, Proposition 6.3 and Lemma 3.2(ii)], it is not difficult to see that if  $\mathcal{BI} \leq_K \mathcal{I}$  then each space in FinBW( $\mathcal{I}$ ) satisfies property (\*). On the

44

other hand, we know that spaces with (\*) property are Hindman, Ramsey and differentially compact (see [55, Theorem 11], [59, Corollary 3.2] and [20, Corollary 4.8], resp.).

**Corollary 18.3** (Assume CH). If  $\rho \in \{FS, r, \Delta\}$  then  $\operatorname{FinBW}(\rho) \neq \operatorname{FinBW}(\mathcal{I})$  for every ideal  $\mathcal{I}$ .

Proof. Let  $\rho \in \{FS, r, \Delta\}$  and  $\mathcal{I}$  be an ideal. If  $\mathcal{BI} \not\leq_K \mathcal{I}$  then FinBW( $\mathcal{I}$ )  $\mathsf{FinBW}(\rho) \neq \emptyset$  by Corollary 18.2. On the other hand, if  $\mathcal{BI} \leq_K \mathcal{I}$  then the interval [0, 1] is in FinBW( $\rho$ ) (by Theorem 10.5(6) and Propositions 10.2(2) and 6.7(3)) and it is not in FinBW( $\mathcal{I}$ ) (by [61, Proposition 4.6], [2, Example 4.1] and [65, Section 2.7]).

#### References

- 1. P. Alexandroff and P. Urysohn, *Mémoire sur les espaces topologiques compacts dédié à Mon*sieur D. Egoroff., Amst. Akad. Verh. Sect. I, vol. 14, Amsterdam, 1929 (French).
- Paweł Barbarski, Rafał Filipów, Nikodem Mrożek, and Piotr Szuca, When does the Katětov order imply that one ideal extends the other?, Colloq. Math. 130 (2013), no. 1, 91–102. MR 3034318
- 3. James E. Baumgartner, Ultrafilters on  $\omega,$  J. Symbolic Logic  ${\bf 60}$  (1995), no. 2, 624–639. MR 1335140
- Vitaly Bergelson, Ultrafilters, IP sets, dynamics, and combinatorial number theory, Ultrafilters across mathematics, Contemp. Math., vol. 530, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2010, pp. 23–47. MR 2757532
- 5. Vitaly Bergelson and Rigoberto Zelada, Strongly mixing systems are almost strongly mixing of all orders, https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.2010.06146 (2021), 1-39.
- Mikołaj Bojańczyk, Eryk Kopczyński, and Szymon Toruńczyk, Ramsey's theorem for colors from a metric space, Semigroup Forum 85 (2012), no. 1, 182–184. MR 2948679
- Jörg Brendle, Barnabás Farkas, and Jonathan Verner, Towers in filters, cardinal invariants, and Luzin type families, J. Symb. Log. 83 (2018), no. 3, 1013–1062. MR 3868039
- Jörg Brendle and Jana Flašková, Generic existence of ultrafilters on the natural numbers, Fund. Math. 236 (2017), no. 3, 201–245. MR 3600759
- R. Creighton Buck, Generalized asymptotic density, Amer. J. Math. 75 (1953), 335–346. MR 54000
- 10. J. Cancino-Manríquez, Every maximal ideal may be Katětov above of all  $F_{\sigma}$  ideals, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **375** (2022), no. 3, 1861–1881. MR 4378082
- César Corral, Osvaldo Guzmán, and Carlos López-Callejas, High dimensional sequential compactness, https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.2302.05388 (2023), 1–29.
- Pratulananda Das, Rafał Filipów, Szymon Głąb, and Jacek Tryba, On the structure of Borel ideals in-between the ideals *ED* and Fin ⊗ Fin in the Katětov order, Ann. Pure Appl. Logic 172 (2021), no. 8, Paper No. 102976, 17. MR 4247792
- Gabriel Debs and Jean Saint Raymond, Filter descriptive classes of Borel functions, Fund. Math. 204 (2009), no. 3, 189–213. MR 2520152
- Alan Dow and Jerry E. Vaughan, Mrówka maximal almost disjoint families for uncountable cardinals, Topology Appl. 157 (2010), no. 8, 1379–1394. MR 2610447
- Ryszard Engelking, *General topology*, second ed., Sigma Series in Pure Mathematics, vol. 6, Heldermann Verlag, Berlin, 1989, Translated from the Polish by the author. MR 1039321
- 16. Ilijas Farah and Sławomir Solecki, Two  $F_{\sigma\delta}$  ideals, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. **131** (2003), no. 6, 1971–1975. MR 1955288
- Vassiliki Farmaki, Dimitris Karageorgos, Andreas Koutsogiannis, and Andreas Mitropoulos, Abstract topological Ramsey theory for nets, Topology Appl. 201 (2016), 314–329. MR 3461173
- 18. \_\_\_\_\_, Topological dynamics on nets, Topology Appl. 201 (2016), 414–431. MR 3461181
- Vassiliki Farmaki and Andreas Koutsogiannis, *Topological dynamics indexed by words*, Topology Appl. 159 (2012), no. 7, 1678–1690. MR 2904054
- Rafał Filipów, On Hindman spaces and the Bolzano-Weierstrass property, Topology Appl. 160 (2013), no. 15, 2003–2011. MR 3097000
- Rafał Filipów, Krzysztof Kowitz, and Adam Kwela, Katětov order between Hindman, Ramsey, van der Waerden and summable ideals, https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.2307.06881 (2023), 1-16.

- Rafał Filipów, Krzysztof Kowitz, Adam Kwela, and Jacek Tryba, New Hindman spaces, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 150 (2022), no. 2, 891–902. MR 4356195
- Rafał Filipów, Adam Kwela, and Jacek Tryba, The ideal test for the divergence of a series, Rev. R. Acad. Cienc. Exactas Fís. Nat. Ser. A Mat. RACSAM 117 (2023), no. 3, Paper No. 98, 25. MR 4572258
- Rafał Filipów, Nikodem Mrożek, Ireneusz Recław, and Piotr Szuca, Ideal convergence of bounded sequences, J. Symbolic Logic 72 (2007), no. 2, 501–512. MR 2320288
- \_\_\_\_\_, I-selection principles for sequences of functions, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 396 (2012), no. 2, 680–688. MR 2961261
- Rafał Filipów and Jacek Tryba, Convergence in van der Waerden and Hindman spaces, Topology Appl. 178 (2014), 438–452. MR 3276758
- 27. Jana Flašková, *Hindman spaces and summable ultrafilters*, Presented at the 22nd Summer Conference on Topology and its Applications (http://home.zcu.cz/~blobner/research/CastellonFlask.pdf), 2007.
- 28. \_\_\_\_\_, Van der Waerden spaces and some other subclasses of sequentially compact spaces, Presented at the 36th Winter School on Abstract Analysis – Section Topology, Hejnice, Czech Republic (http://home.zcu.cz/~blobner/research/Hejnice2008.pdf), 2008.
- 29. \_\_\_\_\_, Ideals and sequentially compact spaces, Topology Proc. **33** (2009), 107–121. MR 2471564
- \_\_\_\_\_, Van der Waerden spaces and their relatives, Presented at Novi Sad Conference in Set Theory and General Topology, 2014 (http://home.zcu.cz/~blobner/research/NoviSad2014. pdf), 2014.
- 31. S. P. Franklin, Spaces in which sequences suffice II, Fund. Math. 61 (1967), 51–56. MR 222832
- David Fremlin, Filters of countable type, note of 25.9.07 (version of 25.9.07) available at https://www1.essex.ac.uk/maths/people/fremlin/preprints.htm, last accessed December 9th 2022 (2007), 1-16.
- H. Furstenberg, Recurrence in ergodic theory and combinatorial number theory, Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1981, M. B. Porter Lectures. MR 603625
- 34. H. Furstenberg and B. Weiss, Topological dynamics and combinatorial number theory, J. Analyse Math. 34 (1978), 61–85 (1979). MR 531271
- S. Garcia-Ferreira and O. Guzmán, More on MAD families and P-points, Topology Appl. 305 (2022), Paper No. 107871, 10. MR 4330212
- S. García-Ferreira and P. J. Szeptycki, MAD families and P-points, Comment. Math. Univ. Carolin. 48 (2007), no. 4, 699–705. MR 2375170
- Leonard Gillman and Meyer Jerison, *Rings of continuous functions*, The University Series in Higher Mathematics, D. Van Nostrand Co., Inc., Princeton, N.J.-Toronto-London-New York, 1960. MR 0116199
- Ronald L. Graham, Bruce L. Rothschild, and Joel H. Spencer, *Ramsey theory*, second ed., Wiley-Interscience Series in Discrete Mathematics and Optimization, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1990, A Wiley-Interscience Publication. MR 1044995
- Jan Grebík and Michael Hrušák, No minimal tall Borel ideal in the Katětov order, Fund. Math. 248 (2020), no. 2, 135–145. MR 4036731
- Osvaldo Guzmán-González and David Meza-Alcántara, Some structural aspects of the Katětov order on Borel ideals, Order 33 (2016), no. 2, 189–194. MR 3513296
- F. Hernández-Hernández and M. Hrušák, *Topology of Mrówka-Isbell spaces*, Pseudocompact topological spaces, Dev. Math., vol. 55, Springer, Cham, 2018, pp. 253–289. MR 3822423
- Neil Hindman, Finite sums from sequences within cells of a partition of N, J. Combinatorial Theory Ser. A 17 (1974), 1–11. MR 349574
- M. Hrušák, D. Meza-Alcántara, E. Thümmel, and C. Uzcátegui, Ramsey type properties of ideals, Ann. Pure Appl. Logic 168 (2017), no. 11, 2022–2049. MR 3692233
- Michael Hrušák, Combinatorics of filters and ideals, Set theory and its applications, Contemp. Math., vol. 533, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2011, pp. 29–69. MR 2777744
- 45. \_\_\_\_\_, Almost disjoint families and topology, Recent progress in general topology. III, Atlantis Press, Paris, 2014, pp. 601–638. MR 3205494
- 46. \_\_\_\_\_, Katětov order on Borel ideals, Arch. Math. Logic **56** (2017), no. 7-8, 831–847. MR 3696069
- Michael Hrušák and Salvador García Ferreira, Ordering MAD families a la Katétov, J. Symbolic Logic 68 (2003), no. 4, 1337–1353. MR 2017358
- Michael Hrušák and David Meza-Alcántara, Katětov order, Fubini property and Hausdorff ultrafilters, Rend. Istit. Mat. Univ. Trieste 44 (2012), 503–511. MR 3019575
- Thomas Jech, Set theory, Springer Monographs in Mathematics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2003, The third millennium edition, revised and expanded. MR 1940513

46

- Albin L. Jones, A brief remark on van der Waerden spaces, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 132 (2004), no. 8, 2457–2460. MR 2052425
- Winfried Just and Adam Krawczyk, On certain Boolean algebras P(ω)/I, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 285 (1984), no. 1, 411–429. MR 748847
- 52. M. Katětov, Measures in fully normal spaces, Fund. Math. 38 (1951), 73–84. MR 48531
- 53. Miroslav Katětov, Products of filters, Comment. Math. Univ. Carolinae **9** (1968), 173–189. MR 250257
- Alexander S. Kechris, *Classical descriptive set theory*, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 156, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1995. MR 1321597
- Menachem Kojman, *Hindman spaces*, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. **130** (2002), no. 6, 1597–1602. MR 1887003
- 56. \_\_\_\_\_, van der Waerden spaces, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. **130** (2002), no. 3, 631–635. MR 1866012
- 57. Menachem Kojman and Saharon Shelah, van der Waerden spaces and Hindman spaces are not the same, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 131 (2003), no. 5, 1619–1622. MR 1950294
- Krzysztof Kowitz, Differentially compact spaces, Topology Appl. 307 (2022), Paper No. 107948, 9. MR 4358658
- Wiesław Kubiś and Paul Szeptycki, On a topological Ramsey theorem, Canad. Math. Bull. 66 (2023), no. 1, 156–165. MR 4552506
- A. Kwela and J. Tryba, Homogeneous ideals on countable sets, Acta Math. Hungar. 151 (2017), no. 1, 139–161. MR 3594409
- 61. Adam Kwela, Unboring ideals, Fund. Math. 261 (2023), no. 3, 235-272. MR 4584767
- A. R. D. Mathias, Solution of problems of Choquet and Puritz, Conference in Mathematical Logic—London '70 (Proc. Conf., Bedford Coll., London, 1970), Lecture Notes in Math., Vol. 255, Springer, Berlin, 1972, pp. 204–210. MR 0363911
- 63. \_\_\_\_\_, Happy families, Ann. Math. Logic 12 (1977), no. 1, 59–111. MR 491197
- Krzysztof Mazur, F<sub>σ</sub>-ideals and ω<sub>1</sub>ω<sub>1</sub><sup>\*</sup>-gaps in the Boolean algebras P(ω)/I, Fund. Math. 138 (1991), no. 2, 103–111. MR 1124539
- 65. D. Meza-Alcántara, *Ideals and filters on countable set*, Ph.D. thesis, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, 2009, (https://ru.dgb.unam.mx/handle/DGB\_UNAM/TES01000645364).
- 66. Hiroaki Minami and Hiroshi Sakai, Katětov and Katětov-Blass orders on F<sub>σ</sub>-ideals, Arch. Math. Logic 55 (2016), no. 7-8, 883–898. MR 3555332
- 67. S. Mrówka, On completely regular spaces, Fund. Math. 41 (1954), 105–106. MR 63650
- Nikodem Mrożek, Some applications of the Katětov order on Borel ideals, Bull. Pol. Acad. Sci. Math. 64 (2016), no. 1, 21–28. MR 3550610
- F. P. Ramsey, On a Problem of Formal Logic, Proc. London Math. Soc. (2) 30 (1929), no. 4, 264–286. MR 1576401
- Hiroshi Sakai, On Katětov and Katětov-Blass orders on analytic P-ideals and Borel ideals, Arch. Math. Logic 57 (2018), no. 3-4, 317–327. MR 3778962
- Lingsheng Shi, Numbers and Topologies: Two Aspects of Ramsey Theory, Ph.D. thesis, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, 2003, (http://dx.doi.org/10.18452/14871).
- Lynn Arthur Steen and J. Arthur Seebach, Jr., Counterexamples in topology, Dover Publications, Inc., Mineola, NY, 1995, Reprint of the second (1978) edition. MR 1382863
- B. L. van der Waerden, Beweis einer Baudetschen Vermutung, Nieuw Arch. Wisk. 15 (1927), 212–216.
- Eric K. van Douwen, *The integers and topology*, Handbook of set-theoretic topology, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1984, pp. 111–167. MR 776622
- Eric K. van Douwen, J. Donald Monk, and Matatyahu Rubin, Some questions about Boolean algebras, Algebra Universalis 11 (1980), no. 2, 220–243. MR 588216
- Hang Zhang and Shuguo Zhang, Some applications of the theory of Katetov order to ideal convergence, Topology Appl. 301 (2021), Paper No. 107545, 9. MR 4312995

(Rafał Filipów) INSTITUTE OF MATHEMATICS, FACULTY OF MATHEMATICS, PHYSICS AND INFOR-MATICS, UNIVERSITY OF GDAŃSK, UL. WITA STWOSZA 57, 80-308 GDAŃSK, POLAND *Email address*: Rafal.Filipow@ug.edu.pl *URL*: http://mat.ug.edu.pl/~rfilipow

(Krzysztof Kowitz) Institute of Mathematics, Faculty of Mathematics, Physics and Informatics, University of Gdańsk, ul. Wita Stwosza 57, 80-308 Gdańsk, Poland *Email address*: Krzysztof.Kowitz@phdstud.ug.edu.pl

(Adam Kwela) INSTITUTE OF MATHEMATICS, FACULTY OF MATHEMATICS, PHYSICS AND INFORMATICS, UNIVERSITY OF GDAŃSK, UL. WITA STWOSZA 57, 80-308 GDAŃSK, POLAND

Email address: Adam.KwelaCug.edu.pl URL: https://mat.ug.edu.pl/~akwela